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Chief Executive Officer’s Statement
1T AR 5 B

Getting through the tumultuous 2020 that brought with it a
pandemic, a slowing economy and unprecedented global changes, |
am delighted to report that the financial performance of Tai United
Holdings Limited (“Company”, together with its subsidiaries
referred to as “Group”) has delivered another year of improved
financial performance, where the loss attributable to owners of the
Company has reduced significantly from approximately HK$246.4
million last year to approximately HK$26.8 million this year, exceed
expectations under the deteriorating economic environment.
Thanks to the strengthened corporate resilience brought by
conservative approach in business development and cost reduction
program that help the Group getting through the economic
headwinds.

Market sentiments of various asset markets and business
environment across the globe has started to improve in the fourth
quarter of 2020 due to uncertainties eased on US presidential
election result, announcement of vaccine efficacy rate and fiscal
stimulus packages from various central bank. The Company
therefore adjusted its business development strategy in accordance
with the changing business climate, from a conservative stance
that has been adopted since the beginning of US-China trade
tension in 2018, to a proactive approach in business development -
committing our time and corporate resources for inorganic growth
prospects. After the completion of certain necessary merger and
acquisition processes, the Company successfully entered into
agreements for the very substantial acquisition of shopping mall
businesses in Jinzhou and Guangzhou in the People’s Republic
of China (“PRC” or “China”) and the deal was scheduled to
be completed in the first half of 2021. As a result, the property
investment business of the Group will be expanded into new area
of commercial shopping mall. Also, a new director with extensive
professional experience and significant executive leadership was
appointed in order to bring balance of skills, experience and
greater diversity of perspectives to the board of directors (“Board”
or “Directors”) of the Company.

On behalf of the Board, | extend a warm welcome to Mr. Wang
Hongfang for joining the Company and look forward to a
productive and positive next chapter of the Company. | would like
to express gratitude to staff and management team of the Group
and the fellow Directors for their dedication and effort made to
the Group throughout the year, and also thank the shareholders,
customers, suppliers and business partners of the Group for their
continuous support.

Kwong Kai Sing Benny
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 30 March 2021
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B E W AT

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the revenue and
the net investment losses of the Group were approximately
HK$20.6 million and HK$1.8 million, down by 22.3% and up by
200% when compared to approximately HK$26.5 million and
approximately HK$0.6 million for the last year respectively, because
various businesses of the Group have been negatively affected
by COVID-19 pandemic to different degrees. Such decline in
revenue of approximately HK$5.9 million was mainly attributable
to the decrease in rental income of approximately HK$6.5 million
due to lockdown in London, the United Kingdom (“UK") and
partly offset by the increase in revenue from medical equipment
trading business of approximately HK$0.5 million as demand of
the medical equipment and products resumed. Furthermore, the
increase in the net investment losses on securities investment of
approximately HK$1.2 million reflected the value decrease of the
Group’s investment portfolio of Hong Kong listed securities under
impacts of pandemic.

Despite of the decline in revenue, the Group recorded a substantial
decrease in loss before tax for the year of approximately HK$162.7
million, by 81.6% as compared with last year, with the combined
effect of:

(i) an increase in other income from approximately HK$51.4
million last year to approximately HK$85.9 million this year
mainly due to the increase in interest income from disposal
receivable of a subsidiary, which held an investment property
in Hangzhou, the PRC;

(i) a reversal of impairment losses under expected credit loss
model of approximately HK$27.1 million was recorded
this year due to an improvement in the receipt of other
receivables, whereas the recognised impairment loss of last
year was approximately HK$39.6 million;

(i) a decrease in other gains from approximately HK$151.0
million last year to approximately HK$49.1 million this year
that was mainly attributable to the absence of gains on
disposal of subsidiaries and a net gain of foreign exchange
was recorded this year;

(iv) a significant decrease of 35.8% in employee benefits
expenses from approximately HK$43.9 million last year to
approximately HK$28.2 million this year due to the decrease
in headcounts and reductions in salary and bonus;
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B kDT

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE (Continued)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

a significant decrease of 39.8% in other operating
expenses from approximately HK$55.5 million last year to
approximately HK$33.4 million this year as cost reduction
measures have been implementing over the past two years
amid the streamlining of various business segments and the
ceasing of operation of commodity trading business in mid-
year 2020;

a decrease of 44.3% in the changes of fair value of
investment properties from approximately HK$72.5 million
last year to approximately HK$40.4 million this year since the
UK real estate prices dropped moderately amid COVID-19
pandemic under the stamp duty holiday stimulus and
agreement on the Brexit deal;

an absence of the changes in fair value of assets classified as
held-for-sale in 2020 as compared to a loss of approximately
HK$17.4 million last year;

a decrease of 46.0% in impairment losses on mining
rights from approximately HK$170.8 million last year to
approximately HK$92.2 million this year due to the impact of
adverse factors of the COVID-19 pandemic; and

a decrease of 41.8% in finance costs from approximately
HK$15.3 million last year to approximately HK$8.9 million
this year as a result of reduction in borrowings amount.

Accordingly, the Group recorded a significant decrease in loss
attributable to owners of the Company from approximately
HK$246.4 million for the previous year to approximately HK$26.8
million this year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B kDT

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the businesses of property
investment, medical equipment trading, mining and exploitation of
natural resources, and financial services and asset management.

Property Investment

Real estate in UK

The Group holds luxury real estate in premium location in central
London within close proximity to the Buckingham Palace. As at 31
December 2020, the investment properties of the Group carried at
fair value was approximately HK$792.2 million.

The revenue generated from this segment for the year ended 31
December 2020 was approximately HK$0.1 million, representing
a substantial decrease of 98.5% as compared to approximately
HK$6.6 million of previous year. Such decrease in rental income
was mainly attributable to the decline in tourism and short-
term individual and business tenants as London was subject to
several lockdown restrictions throughout the year during the
outbreak of COVID-19. The segment result was therefore a loss
of approximately HK$55.9 million, but represented a significant
decrease of 47.8% as compared to approximately HK$107.1
million of last year, due to the reduction of operating expenses and
finance costs under the implementation of cost reduction program
and the decrease of changes in fair value of investment properties.

The renovation project of the UK properties, which was expected
to be commenced before the end of 2020 as disclosed in the
2020 interim report of the Company (“2020 Interim Report”),
was temporarily put on hold due to a number of factors including
uncertainties of Brexit arrangement, COVID-19 impacts on UK
real estate market and practical difficulties encountered by
contractors in adhering to social distancing rules on building sites.
The management of the Group will closely monitor the impacts
of the above factors on the real estate sector and re-assess the
practical needs and benefits of the project in this rapidly changing
environment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B kDT

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Property Investment (Continued)

Acquisitions of shopping mall businesses in the PRC

On 24 December 2020, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
entered into the conditional share purchase agreements for the
acquisitions (“Acquisitions”) of shopping mall businesses in
Jinzhou and Guangzhou in the PRC. Details of which were set out
in the Company’s announcement dated 24 December 2020 and
the section headed “Very Substantial Acquisitions” of this annual
report.

Against the backdrop of the on-going global pandemic which is
expected to hinder organic growth of our existing businesses in the
near future, the Company considers to diversify within the property
investment business segment through acquisitions. The shopping
mall businesses to be acquired primarily involve the leasing of
shop spaces, which share similarities in business, operating and
income model with the existing property investment business of
the Group, and therefore are considered to be a natural extension
of the property investment business into commercial shopping
mall properties. The Company’s professional team will leverage
on existing knowledge and expertise acquired from managing
different property types in various geographical locations over the
years in supervising the new businesses. After the completion of
the Acquisitions, the new shopping mall businesses are expected
to provide the enlarged Group with secured and stable source of
rental income and other management fee income.

Medical Equipment Trading

The Group carries out medical equipment trading business in
China for which the majority customers are hospitals. As the
selling products are mostly general medical equipment consumable
goods and optical medical devices and the related parts (“Medical
Products”), the Group operates in a highly competitive market.

The revenue for the year increased slightly by 2.5% to
approximately HK$20.5 million, as compared to approximately
HK$20.0 million of last year. Although the sales of many of the
Medical Products were suspended during the lockdown in the first
half of 2020 amid COVID-19 pandemic, backlog orders have been
delivered in the second half of the year after cities reopening and
subsequent demand of which has steadily increased along with
ageing population. Due to the increased administrative costs and
expected credit losses on accounts receivable caused by lockdown
restrictions in the first half of the year, the segment loss was
approximately HK$1.8 million for the year, represented an increase
of 12.5% as compared with approximately HK$1.6 million of last
year.

¥EEEE @
MERE (#)
W o B B o B T

RZEZTFF+_AZ+EA  ARAzZ—HE
EMB AR LB GERNDBER®E - LUKES
ERMEEMNEDTROER ((WBEE]) - 54
FEENRAARASHA-ZZ-_TSF+-_A=+H
BZAERAFRIFEERNRBEE] —50 -

ERERRERHELESNOHANMRBREMERES
EB2ARER ARAZEEBRBRYER
BEBOBERZTL - BTRBENBYDTLE
B2 LEERE BASERGNEREE
BHER SERRARNABL 8RR TIY
%%ﬁﬁ%%ﬁ?ﬁ%%%ﬁpb%%mQ%Lﬁﬂ N

REANBEXEGBERZERRNELEEETR
MERLAESHRENBE R EERE BB
X MKRBERTKE BT LOEBER
REASERAEZEZRENHSWARIRRE M
BIEBWA -

BEREES

AEERTHRLEERRBEIEL HPARZ
%1%3)57% St - MNIHEERAMY B —RER
REBEFEREARERESRALEAETMH (8
BRER]  ARBEREMEMSHF A -

AREBHWREEFHN2000EBB T 25%F
#205B BB T - BREHAR2019BRAEESHERE
MR T _ZTF ¥ FHEEM T2 EBER
WHEEHE RNEMEFRKE  AFE T+
FERNMERRFE HigBEkBAOZLETER -
FRR R G & | 3 4F £ 55 BRI 38 31T BR Ak 75 38 0 A
FERERZEHEESE  2HBEERAFE
NAEISEEBIL {EFHNHNI1.6E BB LM
12.5% o

AFZERARDT — T -TFFH

9



Management Discussion and Analysis

B kDT

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Mining and Exploitation of Natural Resources

The Group has four mining rights licences (“Mining Rights”) of
three tungsten projects. The segment of mining and exploitation of
natural resources business recorded no revenue in the year under
review as the Group is in the progress to approach numerous
investors during the first half of 2020 for mining co-operation,
but the meetings and communications was suspended by the
COVID-19 pandemic and its subsequent lockdown measures.

Considering various factors including possible negative impact
of COVID-19 on demand of tungsten and hence volatility in
tungsten price, logistical bottlenecks and the significant increase
in exploration, transportation and logistical costs of mining caused
by lockdown and restrictive measures, a conservative approach
has been adopted for the valuation of Mining Rights. As a result,
the carrying values of the Mining Rights was further impaired
from approximately HK$174.0 million as at 31 December 2019 to
approximately HK$81.8 million as at 31 December 2020. As such,
a total amount of approximately HK$92.2 million of impairment
loss on mining rights was recognized this year. Accordingly, the
segment result was a loss of approximately HK$93.9 million.

Details of the valuation of Mining Rights
Valuation Method

There is no change in the valuation method adopted for the
valuations as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, as
both were conducted by discounted cash flow method under
income approach.

Key Inputs
Average grades of the Mining Rights

The average grades used for the valuation of Mining Rights for
both years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020 were based on
information in the second phase of updated resource estimation
technical report under the Australasian Code for Reporting of
Exploration Results, Mineral Resources that was made available to
the Company in February 2020.
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As at As at

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

Mining License R-BZEF RZZE-NF
B R R +=-A=+-—H +ZA=+—-H
MV-5518 & MV-11027 1.1% 1.1%
MV-11863 1.6% 1.6%
MV-3506 0.6% 0.6%
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B DT

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Mining and Exploitation of Natural Resources
(Continued)

Details of the valuation of Mining Rights (Continued)
Other key assumptions in the valuation

The other key inputs in the valuation include commodity price,
price growth, discount rate and cash flow projection. There is
no significant change in the basis of determining these inputs
and the valuer merely updated these inputs based on the market
changes. The following is a comparison table in respect of the
aforementioned inputs applied in the valuation of the Mining
Rights:
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Adopted price on 65% US$13,329  With reference to the US$12,494  With reference to the

tungsten concentrate per ton market price in 2020 per ton market price in 2019
F65% BB MK B BHE13,329 SR-S_SENTHER  BIE124% Z2B-_T-AFOMSER
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Price growth (%) 0.2% Compound annual growth 0.3%  Compound annual growth
rate of the market price rate of the market price
from 2006 from 2007
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BRE BEE

Post-tax discount rate (%) 21.1% Based on weighted average 20.6%  Based on weighted average
cost of capital cost of capital

BURHTRE (%) 211% REERNMETHRAHE  206% REEKGNETHRAHE

Cash flow projection (year) Fiveto  With reference to the Fourto  With reference to the feasibility

twenty feasibility study report nineteen study report prepared in

prepared in 2020 2019
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Provided that the vaccine distribution continues to evolve
through 2021, the demand of tungsten is anticipated to rise at a
considerable rate in the future as economies grow and industrial
output rebound back to pre-pandemic level. However, the reality
is that the U.S. and much of the world remains mired in a health
crisis at the moment, and there is a general understanding that the
vaccine rollout is a long-term proposition. The price of tungsten in
the future will be affected by the progress of vaccine rollout and
the status of COVID-19 mutants, but those factors remain highly
uncertain. The immediate impact of COVID-19 on the tungsten
market will be a higher mining and transportation costs due to
the traffic restrictions in different regions and countries, additional
precaution measures for workers, strict physical distancing controls
at the mining site and disruptions to the supply chain. As a
result, the estimated profit of mining tungsten has been seriously
squeezed. Based on the uncertain demand and price of tungsten
and the raising mining costs, the Directors are of the view that the
exploration and mining of tungsten should be postponed until the
price of tungsten and costs of mining can be reliably estimated
while the economic recovery amid vaccine rollout becomes more
certain.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B kDT

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Financial Services and Asset Management

No segment revenue was recorded as the prospect and market
condition were yet to be certain especially in light of the economic
downturn, the elevated China-US tension and the COVID-19
pandemic, the Group has adopted a prudent approach in
investments during the year ended 31 December 2020. As a result,
a segment loss of approximately HK$5.5 million was recorded this
year as compared to a segment profit of approximately HK$9.4
million last year. The status of each of businesses in this segment is
further discussed as below.

Financial services

The Group has obtained a money lenders licence under the
Money Lenders Ordinance, Chapters 163 of the Laws of Hong
Kong through a wholly-owned subsidiary in August 2020, and
the relevant procedures and other preparation works have been
completed. The original plan to commence money lending business
in the second half of 2020, as disclosed in the 2020 Interim Report,
will be temporarily postponed as the corporate internal resources
has been reserved for the Acquisitions.

Given that the acquisitions of new businesses will be successfully
completed in a short time frame, the commencement of money
lending business will be postponed until the newly acquired
businesses have showed signs of stabilisation and corporate
resources continue to grow and accumulate. The Directors will
closely monitor the development of our various business segments
and strategically allocate corporate resources with an aim to
maximize the Company’s shareholders (“Shareholders”) returns.

Distressed debt assets management

The Group recorded no net investment gain or loss in its distressed
debt assets management business for both years ended 31
December 2019 and 2020 due to no transaction of acquisition
or disposal of distressed debt asset has been conducted under
increasing risk of economic downturn amid COVID-19 pandemic.
The price of distressed debt assets including non-performing loans
("NPLs") fell to a relatively low level in 2020, and is expected to
remain low in the foreseeable future, due to abundant supply in
the market. During the first nine months of 2020, 1.73 trillion
yuan of NPLs were written off in Chinese banks’ balance sheet,
mostly through selling to third-party distressed debt managers,
according to China Banking and Insurance Regulatory Commission.
After careful assessment of various risks in the distressed debt
assets market, the Directors were of the view that acquisitions of
these assets may not be considered as appropriate for the time
being, due to the increased associated risks yet lowered returns for
uncertain recovering period. As a result, the business incurred a loss
of approximately HK$3.7 million for this year, mainly representing
the overhead costs of the business operation, whereas the loss of
last year was approximately HK$5.3 million.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Financial Services and Asset Management
(Continued)

Securities investment

Leveraging on the strategic geographical location of Hong Kong
and the development of the PRC investment market, the Group
carried out securities investment business in secondary market
with its internal funds. With listed shares of large-scale and quality
companies as primary investment targets, the Group aims to
pursue capital appreciation and stable dividend income.

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying value of the investment
portfolio (recorded as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss in the consolidated statement of financial position) was
approximately HK$7.9 million, versus of approximately HK$10.1
million as at 31 December 2019. The holding of such listed
securities investments has remained unchanged and they were all
listed equity securities in Hong Kong, which none of them was
with a carrying value of 5% or more of the total assets of the
Group. The Directors believe that the holding of such investment
portfolio is in line with the Directors’ prudent investment strategy
in view of the prevailing investment environment in the region.

A net investment loss on the fair value amounting to approximately
HK$1.8 million was recorded for this year due to market volatility
and the drop in share prices of the listed securities investments in
our investment portfolio amid COVID-19 pandemic, as compared
to approximately HK$0.6 million of last year. The Directors
currently do not anticipate any disposal or addition in the Group’s
investment portfolio in the foreseeable future as the securities’
market is still yet to be certain.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Cessation of Commodity Trading Business

On 5 May 2020, the Board has resolved to apply for striking off of
Sino United Energy Pte. Ltd. (“Sino United”), an indirectly wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company which has been principally
engaged in commodity trading business and security trading
business, under the law of Singapore (“Striking Off”). Since Sino
United is the only subsidiary of the Company engaging in the
commodity trading business, the Group has also ceased to carry on
the commodity trading business.

As disclosed in the section of management discussion and analysis
of 2019 annual report of the Company, the extreme volatility of
oil price since 2019 has adversely affected the terms of supply
of oil and/or other petroleum products granted to the Group by
its suppliers, rendering the commodity trading business in this
segment hardly commercially attractive, the management of the
Company hence was not active in engaging in any such trading
activities since 2019. As a result, the Group recorded no revenue
generated from commodity trading business both for the years
ended 31 December 2019 and 2020. A loss of approximately
HK$0.3 million incurred on commodity trading business in the
reporting year therefore absorbed by the head office of the Group,
comparing to a loss of approximately HK$7.2 million for the same
period last year.

As disclosed in the section of management discussion and analysis
of the 2020 Interim Report, the price of the United States (“US")
crude May futures contract in April 2020 fell as low as minus US
dollars (“USD") 37.63 a barrel for the first time in history as room
to store the unneeded barrels of oil piling up during COVID-19
was literally running out. The market was further stunned by the
filing for bankruptcy protection by one of Singapore’s giant oil
traders which, according to reported news articles, has suffered
about hundreds of million USD in losses from oil futures trading.
In light of the heightened unpredictability of oil price coupled with
unprecedented decrease in demand for oil and petroleum products,
the Board considers that it is no longer commercially attractive to
engage in the trading of oil and other commodities as it is risky yet
with a low rate of return. The Board believes that it is in the best
interests of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole to cease
its commodity trading business at this stage so that the Group
will be able to allocate more resources and management efforts
to other business activities of the Company and/or to explore new
lines of businesses with an aim to provide better returns for the
Shareholders.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Cessation of Commodity Trading Business
(Continued)

The Board is of the view that, since the Group recorded no
revenue from commodity trading business for the years ended 31
December 2019 and 2020, the Striking Off and the cessation of
commodity trading business shall have no material adverse impact
to the financial performance and operation of the Group.

Details of the Striking Off were set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 5 May 2020.

Very Substantial Acquisitions

On 24 December 2020, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company entered into two conditional share purchase agreements
with Stone Wealth Limited (“Seller”) for the Acquisitions of, (i) the
entire issued share capital of Sky Build Limited (“Sky Build”) which
is indirectly holding 100% equity interest in Jinzhou Jiachi Public
Facilities Management Co., Ltd* (S8 /M 5t A LR EEE AR
A |]) (together with Sky Build and its wholly owned subsidiaries,
"Jinzhou Target Group”), which holds a single-storey
underground mall (“Jinzhou Shopping Mall”) and engages in
shopping mall business in Jinzhou in the Liaoning Province of the
PRC (“Jinzhou Shopping Mall Business”) at a cash consideration
of RMB554 million, and (i) the entire issued share capital of Superb
Power Enterprises Limited (“Superb Power"”) which is indirectly
holding 100% equity interest in Guangzhou Rongzhi Public
Facilities Investment Co. Ltd*. (BEM @S A X ZHEEEFR A
A]) ("Guangzhou Rongzhi”) (together with Superb Power and its
wholly owned subsidiaries, “Guangzhou Target Group”, which
holds a two-storey underground mall (“Guangzhou Shopping
Mall”) and engages in shopping mall business in Guangzhou in
the Guangzhou Province of the PRC (“Guangzhou Shopping
Mall Business”) to be settled by the novation to the Company
of the repayment obligations of the current account balances
of Guangzhou Rongzhi due from a group of companies/parties
controlled by the ultimate beneficial owner of the Seller in the
amount of approximately RMB1,437 million as at 30 September
2020.

The Company considers the Acquisitions to be a natural
extension of its property investment business into commercial
retail properties, given the common characteristics exhibit by the
business, operating and income models of the Jinzhou Shopping
Mall Business and the Guangzhou Shopping Mall Business. The
Acquisitions are therefore considered aligned with the Company’s
existing business strategies related to its property investment
business (to expand its property portfolio) and also consistent with
the Group’s resources as the consideration will be settled using the
Group's internal resources.

* The English name are for identification purpose only
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Very Substantial Acquisitions (Continued)

A circular containing, among other information, (i) details on
the Acquisitions; (i) financial information of the lJinzhou Target
Group and the Guangzhou Target Group; (iii) pro-forma financial
information of the Group as enlarged by the Acquisitions
("Enlarged Group”); (iv) property valuation reports on the Jinzhou
Shopping Mall and the Guangzhou Shopping Mall; and (v) a notice
of the special general meeting (“SGM"), which will be convened
for the Shareholders to consider and if thought fit, to approve,
among others, the share purchase agreements of the Acquisitions,
and transactions contemplated thereunder, has been despatched
to the Shareholders. The SGM is scheduled to be held on 21 April
2021.

After the completion of the Acquisitions, the Jinzhou Shopping
Mall and the Guangzhou Shopping Mall will be held as investment
properties by the Enlarged Group and the results of the Jinzhou
Target Group and the Guangzhou Target Group would be
consolidated into the accounts and under the property investment
segment of the Enlarged Group.

Details of the Acquisitions were set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 24 December 2020 and the Company’s
circular dated 26 March 2021.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Capital structure

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s consolidated net asset
was approximately HK$2,106.7 million, representing an increase
of approximately HK$37.8 million as compared to that of
approximately HK$2,068.9 million as at 31 December 2019.
There is no shares movement since the last year ended. As at
31 December 2020, the Company has 5,250,019,852 shares of
HK$0.05 each in issue and the total equity attributable to owners
of the Company was approximately HK$2,104.1 million (as at 31
December 2019: approximately HK$2,066.2 million).
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 December 2020, the Group's bank balances and cash
was approximately HK$496.9 million (as at 31 December 2019:
approximately HK$560.2 million), current assets of approximately
HK$1,475.5 million (as at 31 December 2019: approximately
HK$1,638.1 million), current liabilities of approximately HK$383.0
million (as at 31 December 2019: approximately HK$549.1 million).
The current ratio was 3.85 times ™ 7 (as at 31 December 2019:
2.98 times). As at the end of this year, the net current assets of the
Group were approximately HK$1,092.5 million (as at 31 December
2019: approximately HK$1,089.0 million).

As at 31 December 2020, the total debt financing of the Group
was approximately HK$235.6 million (as at 31 December 2019:
approximately HK$281.5 million), and no non-current debt
financing for the reporting year (as at 31 December 2019: nil).

The negative net debt ™2 of the Group was approximately
HK$261.2 million (as at 31 December 2019: negative net debt
of approximately HK$157.8 million) and the total equity was
approximately HK$2,106.7 million (as at 31 December 2019:
approximately HK$2,068.9 million). Therefore, the gearing ratio
ete 3) 35 at the end of the period was 0.11 (as at 31 December
2019: 0.14).

Note 1: Current ratio = Current assets/Current liabilities
Note 2: Net debt = Borrowings + Other loan — Bank balances and cash

Note 3: Gearing ratio = Total interest-bearing borrowing/Total equity

The objective of the Group’s funding and treasury management
activities is to ensure a sufficient liquidity to meet operation needs
and various investment plans.

Details of the policy to mitigate the liquidity risk arising from the
Acquisition are set out in note 38(b) to the consolidated financial
statement of this annual report.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had no material capital
commitments and was not engaged in any future plans concerning
major investment or acquisition of capital assets (as at 31
December 2019: nil).
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Charges on group assets

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s bank borrowings of
approximately HK$232.0 million were secured by investment
properties (as at 31 December 2019: approximately HK$281.5
million), with the carrying value of approximately HK$792.2 million
(as at 31 December 2019: approximately HK$807.0 million).

Details of which are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities (as at 31 December 2019: nil).

Foreign exchange exposure

The Group’s financial statements are denominated in Hong Kong
dollars (“HKD"), while the Group is conducting business mainly in
HKD, USD, Great British Pound (“GBP"”) and Renminbi (“RMB").
Since exchange rates of HKD is pegged to USD, there is no material
exchange risk in respect of USD assets and transactions. However,
the assets, liabilities and transactions of the UK and the PRC
subsidiaries of the Group are mainly denominated in GBP and RMB
respectively, there were exchange risks during financial settlement
at the end of reporting period in this regard.

The Group has implemented policies and guidelines in relation to
foreign exchange risk management. Meanwhile, the subsidiaries
in the PRC are able to generate sufficient income to deal with
their local currency expenses; therefore, the management of the
Company considered that the Group’s exposure to the potential
foreign currency risk was relatively limited.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had 36 (as at 31 December
2019: 41) employees, of whom approximately 66.7% (as at 31
December 2019: 68.3%) were located in Hong Kong and the rest
were located in the PRC and overseas.

The Group recognises the employees as the key element that
contributes to the Group’s success. The Group’s remuneration
policies are formulated based on the individual performance and
the salaries trends in various regions, which will be reviewed
annually.

Apart from mandatory provident fund and medical insurance, the
Company has adopted a share option scheme under which share
options may also award to the Directors and eligible employees
as an incentive with reference to the assessment of individual
performance. The Board believes that the Group maintains an
admirable relationship with the employees.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: nil).

PROSPECTS

Global economy is estimated to grow at record speed by research
institutes, international organizations, and market participants,
conditional on a successful deployment of effective COVID-19
vaccines and continued accommodative fiscal, financial and
monetary conditions. According to January 2021 World Economic
Outlook Update issued by International Monetary Fund, the global
economy is projected to grow 5.5 percent in 2021, reflecting
additional policy support in a few large economies and expectations
of a vaccine-powered strengthening of activity later in the year,
which outweigh the drag on near-term momentum due to rising
infection. To seize the business opportunities of economy recovery
in 2021, management has adopted a proactive approach in merger
and acquisition since the fourth quarter of 2020, switching from a
conservative stance for increasing corporate resilience in the past
few years.
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PROSPECTS (Continued)

China has been, and continues to be, a fundamental driving force
of merger and acquisition activity as it was become the only major
economy that quickly recovered from the pandemic. Chinese
economy rose 2.3 percent last year with growth of 6.5 percent in
the fourth quarter according to National Bureau of Statistics, while
most nations around the world struggle with new lockdowns and
layoffs in the face of the surging pandemic. Benefit from the dual
circulation strategy under China’s 14th five-year plan for 2021-
2025 through boosting internal consumption and developing a
strong domestic market, Chinese economy is projected to expand
9% in 2021 by Morgan Stanley, before moderating toward 5.4%
in 2022.

Also, the Group has experienced diminishing revenue and
operations across various of its business segments and against
the pandemic and its impact on economies, the management of
the Group considers that a diversified business strategy instead
of organic growth is key in remedying the low level of operations
of the Group and turning around its financial performance. The
Board has therefore looked to acquiring businesses with a material
level of operations and which would provide sustainable sources
of revenue to the Group in the short term. It is believed that the
acquisitions of Jinzhou Shopping Mall Business and Guangzhou
Shopping Mall Business will therefore provide steady profits and
cash flow with an imminent remedy for the enhancement of the
operations of the Group. The Directors will continue to divert their
efforts in exploring more merger and acquisition opportunities
in business that benefited most from the economic rebound in
China. In particular, the future acquisitions will allow the Group to
potentially expand into other property-related business areas that
would complement the operations of the shopping mall businesses
such as building and decorative materials supply. Such businesses,
if expanded into, are expected to provide ready supply of flooring,
celling or others building and decorative materials to and generate
potential synergies with the Jinzhou Shopping Mall and the
Guangzhou Shopping Mall.

On 18 September 2020, the Company received a letter from
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”)
notifying the Company of its decision that the Company has failed
to maintain a sufficient level of operations as required under Rule
13.24 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (“Listing Rules”) to warrant the continued listing of its
shares. Upon completion of the Acquisitions, the Company would
be able to maintain a sufficient level of operations and in turn,
satisfy the requirements under Rules 13.24 of the Listing Rules
for the continued listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock
Exchange. Details of the above mentioned matters were set out
in the Company’s announcements dated 21 September 2020, 23
September 2020, 24 December 2020 and 8 February 2021, and
the Company’s circular dated 26 March 2021.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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PROSPECTS (Continued)

Riding on this wave of economic rebound, along with ageing
population and rising health concerns among citizens, the
medical business in China is anticipated to grow, but with a
much moderate and steady pace as our products are low-end
homogeneous products with keen market competition and
market share of the suppliers in this field remain stable. There is
no significant investment plan for other medical devices/products
at the moment as entry barriers could be high under medical
compliance requirements.

UK economy, on the other side of the world, is expected to take
more than two years to recover to its pre-COVID-19 level amid
the recent escalating lockdowns triggered by coronavirus variants
and mutations, according to a Reuters poll of 70 economists.
However, residential property has been a surprisingly outperformer
in UK during the pandemic, thanks to the fiscal support such as
stamp duty holiday, legal reforms on leasehold property and the
agreement of Brexit deal, as well as the great vote of confidence
cast by commercial sectors where Nissan committed to keep
manufacturing cars in Sunderland. Taking advantage of the
premium location of looking over the side of Buckingham Palace,
our properties situated on the southern side of Buckingham Gate
provide great long-term value appreciation as luxury residential
market remain thin and the weight of negotiating power sits with
the seller. However, reductions in rents will mostly reflect short-
term income loss as issues arising from the pandemic will continue
to weigh on real estate market. Subject to the funding needs and
financial position of the Group, the Company may consider suitable
real estate projects for acquisition if and when the opportunities
arise.

2021 will be the year of transition marked as the beginning of
post-COVID-19 era with brand new challenges and opportunities.
To prepare for and adapt to the new business and operating
environment shaping by the unprecedented pandemic, we will
continue to focus on our operational efficiency, cost control, cash
conservation and remain on mission to deliver a sustainable return
to the Shareholders.

Bl & (%)
1¥5§E¢t7)§%&&!§%¥ MEAOEZLERARERES
HANES TEREEEEEREE \Ei‘

BRHE ﬂﬁ%&,ﬁlﬁﬁmﬁmﬂﬁmﬂﬁim’
MIHHEF R HERNZ AN TS5 BRE
BE AR EBEARRTETAEAPIE TGRS -
WMARNFRBEREAMBERE  EMNERR
Batal o

BETHIONEEERNASER A TERA
z"**i‘%&/““‘%I%éfﬁﬁﬁﬂfék*ﬂi& TEET R
55— vty Y 2 B 4 7 % miuiﬁ“ﬂﬁimm
TEAREERAIKF o CRBEEEMENEE
%%%%ﬁﬁA%ﬂ*ﬁé%%ﬁiﬁv@ﬂﬁ
FERE AEMETANE R ERFEBER I
INEEAMEENERETEE  HRAEAEK
HEBENZEBERNERE REMNBOSEZES —
AIMESWE  BRPUAASENEAMYER
EHABAE BESEEEMSEKAHR  #
HREREF A A TREFERBEH
W=BKR  THREBSIENESMEABEER

%%m%ﬁ%°ﬁ¥$ﬁlZ§A$ﬁ&M%#ﬁ'
AABAENEELREEEEEREFSBER
E%W%%u

TEC—FEAE—EBEFH  BFEER2019E
RS HEEROREE  FREFAERKE - A
EENERERLENONEESEENTELR
ERHRE RMBEEZ INHEMNEERE -
ARG REeFBIIRKRBEEARERMHAE
BREIREOED o

AFZERARDT — T -TFFH

21



22

Biographical Details of Directors
EEEEEE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. KWONG Kai Sing Benny (“Mr. Kwong"), aged 62, was
appointed as the executive Director and authorised representative
of the Company on 19 April 2018 and 7 September 2018
respectively. He was further appointed as the chief executive officer
("CEO") of the Company on 30 October 2019. He also serves as
the director of certain subsidiaries of the Group currently.

Mr. Kwong holds a Bachelor Degree in Arts from Simon Fraser
University in British Columbia, Canada and was awarded the Honor
Degree of Doctor of Commerce by The University of West Alabama
in 2007. Mr. Kwong held senior positions with major international
banks in Hong Kong in respective lending departments and China
department for many years. For the past years, he has served
as executive director of over ten publicly listed companies both
in Hong Kong, Canada and the UK. Mr. Kwong has extensive
knowledge in corporate finance and banking.

Mr. Kwong was a director of the Tung Wah Group of Hospitals
from 2008 to 2010 and was a member of the Campaign
Committee of The Community Chest from 2006 to 2010. Mr.
Kwong was an appointed member of the China People’s Political
Consultative Conference of the Hubei Province and Zhaoging
City of the Guangdong Province. He is the Hospital Governing
Committee member of Tai Po Hospital since 2012 and the audit
committee member of Tung Wah College since 2013. Mr. Kwong
has been appointed as non-executive director of PYI Corporation
Limited (Stock Code: 498) since 9 February 2021. He was
appointed as an independent non-executive director on 30 April
2019 of Planetree International Development Limited (“Planetree
International”) (Stock Code: 613), and re-designated to non-
executive director on 1 April 2020, and then resigned on 17
February 2021. He was also acting as the chairman of Planetree
International from 1 April 2020 to 1 June 2020. Mr. Kwong was an
independent non-executive director of Imagi International Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 585) from January 2016 to May 2017 and an
executive director of GT Group Holdings Limited (Stock code: 263)
from September 2017 to April 2018, all of which are listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange.
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Biographical Details of Directors
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. CHEN Weisong (“Mr. Chen"), aged 41, is executive Director
since 27 October 2017. He also serves as senior vice president of
the Company and the director of certain subsidiaries of the Group.
He was the executive Director from 22 June 2016 to 25 April 2017,
the chief financial officer of the Company from 15 February 2016
to 25 April 2017 and CEO from 27 October 2017 to 29 October
2019.

Mr. Chen has over ten years of experience in asset management
industry. He worked for CCB International Asset Management
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of China Construction Bank
Corporation, from April 2008 to February 2016. He was a non-
executive director of Universal Medical Financial & Technical
Advisory Services Company Limited (stock code: 2666, a company
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange) from 6 March
2015 to 13 April 2016.

Mr. Chen received a Master of Philosophy degree from the
University of Hong Kong in December 2005. Mr. Chen holds
the qualification as a Chartered Financial Analyst from the CFA
Institute. He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, and was licensed as a responsible officer for
Type 9 (asset management), Type 1 (dealing in securities) and Type
4 (advising on securities) regulated activities of the Securities and
Futures Commission.
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Biographical Details of Directors
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. CHOW Chi Wah Vincent (“Mr. Chow"), aged 52, was
appointed as the executive Director on 30 October 2019.

Mr. Chow is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and an associate member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He obtained a
Master's degree in Professional Accounting from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. Mr. Chow has over twenty years’ experience
in the finance and accounting fields in Hong Kong. Mr. Chow
was appointed as an executive director and the managing director
of Farnova Group Holdings Limited (formerly known as Code
Agriculture (Holdings) Limited) (Stock Code: 8153, a company
listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange) from 25 June 2019
to 23 November 2020. Mr. Chow was as an independent non-
executive director of Celebrate International Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 8212, a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange
prior to its delisting on 8 July 2020) from 31 August 2018 to
28 July 2020. Mr. Chow was appointed as an executive director
of Oshidori International Holdings Limited (“Oshidori”) (Stock
Code: 622) on 1 June 2016 and became the company secretary
on 12 July 2016. He was then appointed as the managing director
of Oshidori on 5 April 2017. He resigned all the positions from
Oshidori on 29 October 2019. Mr. Chow was an independent non-
executive director of Imagi International Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 585) from 28 January 2016 to 10 April 2017. Mr. Chow was
an executive director of Mascotte Holdings Limited, now renamed
HengTen Networks Group Limited (Stock Code: 136) from 3
November 2014 to 26 October 2015, which the above three
companies are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. WANG Hongfang (“Mr. Wang"), aged 61, was appointed as
the executive Director on 7 January 2021.

Mr. Wang has over twenty six years of management experience.
Since 2018, he has been the chairman of Baby First Education
Group Limited and the chairman of Shenzhen Qizhi Education
Technology Limited, both being his privately owned companies.

From 2003 to 2018, Mr. Wang served in China Dili Group (formerly
known as Renhe Commercial Holdings Company Limited (A A7
¥R A R A R *), Stock Code: 1387, a company listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange). In 2003, he was appointed as
the vice president of China Dili Group and became the executive
president in 2006. He was then appointed as an executive director
on 14 December 2007, the executive president (Investments
and Financing) on 26 February 2008 and the chief executive
officer on 30 June 2014, and resigned from all the positions on 4
September 2018. Prior to joining China Dili Group, Mr. Wang held
management positions in a number of companies in China during
the period from 1994 to 2000. From 2001 to 2003, Mr. Wang was
the president of Harbin Jurong New Power Co., Ltd. in which he
was responsible for the overall planning and management of its
business.

Mr. Wang obtained a bachelor’s degree in automatic control
mechanics (8112 H 5 %) in 1982 and graduated with a Master’s
degree in politics and economics in 1991 from the Harbin Institute
of Technology (M FBVE T 3 K2,

* For identification purpose only
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Biographical Details of Directors
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. GAO Bin (“Dr. Gao"), age 58, is the independent non-
executive Director. Dr. Gao has extensive knowledge and rich
experience in foreign exchange, fixed income, equity and
commodity investment. He holds a Bachelor Degree in Space
Physics from University of Science and Technology of China, an
MA from Princeton University in Astrophysics and a PhD Degree in
Finance from New York University.

Dr. Gao currently serves as chief executive officer of Kaifeng
Investment Management (Hong Kong) Limited. He has been
serving as a special term professor at School of Economics and
Management and PBC School of Finance of Tsinghua University
since 2002. He served as a senior vice president of Lehman
Brothers from 2004 to 2005. He served as a managing director of
Merrill Lynch from 2005 to 2014, in charge of interest strategies
in Asia Pacific. He was a tenured associate professor of the finance
department at University of North Carolina-Business School, USA
before joining this industry.

Ms. LIU Yan (“Ms. Liu”), aged 50, is the independent non-
executive Director. Ms. Liu has over twenty years of solid
experience in auditing, financial management, taxation and fund
management. She holds a Bachelor Degree in Economics from the
Central University of Finance & Economics and a Master Degree
in Business Administration from University of Rochester. She is a
member of Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants (CICPA)
and passed all tests for Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) program.

Ms. Liu has worked for PricewaterhouseCoopers (Guangzhou,
China), Barclays Capital (New York City), Angelo Gordon Asia
Limited (Hong Kong and New York), China Everbright Limited
(Hong Kong) and Brilliance Group Holdings Limited (Shanghai).
Ms. Liu was appointed as an independent non-executive director
of Haitong International Securities Group Limited (Stock Code:
665), Great Wall Pan Asia Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 583)
and Planetree International on 19 June 2018, 26 November 2018
and 1 November 2020 respectively, she was an independent non-
executive director of U Banquet Group Holding Ltd (Stock Code:
1483) from 1 November 2016 to 27 September 2018, all of which
are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. TANG King Shing, GBS, PDSM (“Mr. Tang”), aged 66, is the
independent non-executive Director. Mr. Tang holds a Master’s
Degree in International and Public Affairs from The University of
Hong Kong. In March 2013, Mr. Tang was appointed as a member
of the National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference of China. In June 2013, he was appointed
as a director of the Hong Kong News-Expo. From September
2017 to August 2019, he was appointed as the Chairman of the
Country and Marine Parks Board of the Agriculture, Fisheries and
Conservation Department and he is an honorary advisor of Hong
Kong Strategy.

Mr. Tang took office (until retirement) as Commissioner of Hong
Kong Police from January 2007 to January 2011. He served as vice
chairman and executive director of the board of Hong Kong Airlines
from 28 September 2016 to 17 December 2018. He also served
as an independent non-executive director of Kingboard Chemical
Holdings Limited (stock code: 148) and as a non-executive director
of Hong Kong International Construction Investment Management
Group Co., Limited, now renamed as Tysan Holdings Limited (stock
code: 687), from 1 August 2013 to 1 November 2016 and from 15
July 2017 to 3 May 2019 respectively, all of which are listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIE - g REARE

Tai United Holdings Limited (collectively referred to as (“Group” or
“We")) adheres to the concept of sustainable development for its
corporate planning and operation and strives to create long-term
value for the Group’s stakeholders. We prepare the Environmental,
Social and Governance (“ESG") Report ("ESG Report”) in
accordance with the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide ("ESG Guide"), set out in Appendix 27 to the
Listing Rules, to inform all stakeholders about our ESG policies,
measures and performance.

This ESG Report mainly covers the Group’s business segments from
1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020 (“Reporting Period” or
“FY2020"), which are comprised of (i) property investment; (ii)
medical equipment trading; (iii) mining and exploitation of natural
resources; and (iv) financial services and asset management. All
management and staff with primary responsibilities participated
in the preparation of this Report to assist the Group’s operation in
reviewing and identifying relevant ESG matters, as well as assessing
the related matters that are material to our business and every
stakeholder. A summary of the ESG matters material to the Group
contained in this Report is set out in the following table:

ESG Guide Summary
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Significant ESG Matters

ESGHES|IRE EARESGEH

A. Environmental
BRIR

A1. Emissions Waste Treatment and Carbon Emission
PR B 32 W) B 3 e ik HR AR

A2. Use of Resources Energy and Water Consumption
R A BEIR KK B #E

A3. The Environment and Natural Resources Environmental Implication Management
BREMRAEIR RRTEER

B. Social
HE

B1. Employment Employee Benefits and Equal Opportunities Policies
= BEFBRTEREIR

B2. Health and Safety Occupational Health and Safety
fERREZ S B REE

B3. Development and Training Employee Trammg Plan
Bl il 8 T3t &

B4. Labour Standards Prevention of Child Labour or Forced Labour
BT AR by 1EZE Teksam 45 T

B5. Supply Chain Management Sustainable Supply Chain
e ANERRMERE

B6. Product Responsibility Customer Service, Marketing and Customer Privacy Security
EmET BERERY  mSEEREPILERE

B7. Anti-corruption Prevention of Corruption and Fraud
RES DRI DEPNE 3 S

B8. Community Investment Contributions to Society
HEREKE o l/N
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE g REBRE

A. ENVIRONMENTAL A. RiE
A1 BER

A1 Emissions

The Group is always holding sustainable development
and enterprise social responsibility as its mission. The
Group commits to carrying out monitoring and emission
reduction measures in every process management,
energy and resource management in its day-to-day
operation to prevent any unnecessary contamination
and reduce the adverse impact on the environment. The
segment developed by the Group during the Year did
not generate any exhaust gas and sewage discharge in
the daily commercial operation.

In addition, in terms of mining and exploitation of
natural resources business, the Group holds four mining
right licences (“Mining Rights”) of its three tungsten
projects in Mongolia. These tungsten projects are still
at the exploration stage, thus the emissions of waste
gas, sewage and wastes during the mining process
are not applicable during the Reporting Period. The
management has approached a number of international
investors during the Year, but the relevant meetings and
communications were suspended due to the COVID-19
outbreak and subsequent lockdown measures.
Since then, market demand in various industries was
negatively affected by further spread of the epidemic,
resulting in fluctuations in tungsten prices. Other
potential investors may also lose confidence due to
weaker economic forecasts, which may reduce the
demand for tungsten. However, the directors remain
optimistic about the global economic recovery and the
long-term demand for tungsten. At the same time,
the Group is still looking for potential investors and/or
establishing strategic mining partnerships with reputable
explorers around the world to minimize any possible
exploration risks.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A1 Emissions (Continued)

Waste Treatment

During FY2020 under review, the total amount of
waste generated from the day-to-day operation of the
Group was only 0.253 tonne, of which it included non-
hazardous waste (paper and disposable office supplies)
of 0.245 tonne, and hazardous waste (waste tube,
detergent and other chemical materials) of 0.008 tonne.

The Group is committed to creating a working
environment that emphasizes “green office” and
“low-carbon” policies, so as to increase the utilization
of resources and achieve long-term sustainable
development. As regard to daily operation, the Group
implements the environmental protection policy
(including reducing the use of disposables) to promote
the paperless practice and electronic documentation.
Staff is encouraged to apply both side printing and
copying to reduce wasting papers. At the same time,
the Group purchases and choose environmentally
friendly and certified papers to reduce damage to
natural forest and help mitigate global warming. A total
of approximately 0.11 tonne of papers was saved in
FY2020.

The Group recognises the equal importance of waste
recycling on environmental protection in addition to
waste source reduction, therefore, the Group also
proactively promoted various environmental recycling
policies during the last financial year. As regard to waste
treatment, the Group categorizes all wastes in the office
into three types (paper/plastic/non-recyclable) according
to requirements and uniformly collects and disposes of
all types of waste. The Group also donates idle furniture
and computer equipment to other friendly companies.
During the Reporting Period, 0.02 tonne of papers was
recycled due to our successful implementation of the
above environmental protection policies.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A1 Emissions (Continued)

Carbon Emission

In FY2020, the total carbon emission of the Group was
40.08 tonne, the carbon emission density per square
meter of office space was 0.05 tonne of carbon dioxide
Mote 1) The above carbon emission was mainly generated
from the usage of various energy sources by the
Group, including electric power, gasoline and natural
gas. Please refer to A2 Use of Resources — Energy
consumption ™°® 2 in this ESG Report regarding the
usage and consumption of relevant energy.

To promote staff's awareness of emphasizing
environmental protection, the Group purchased
additional video conferencing equipment simultaneously
in our offices in Hong Kong and subsidiaries to reduce
greenhouse gas emissions generated from attending the
meeting by airplane. The Group has also reduced paper
consumption through the application of computer
technology (e.g. written communication by email,
use DingTalk office software as an instant messaging
platform and approval process management) and
increased work efficiency.

Note 1: The above calculation of carbon emission is referenced
to the 2020 Government GHG Conversion Factors For
Company Reporting” issued by BEIS (B &% - fER
K = 3 5 BE E6), Emission Factor of Mongolia” issued
by Joint Credit Mechanism of Japan, “Environmental
Key Performance Index Reporting Guide” issued by the
Stock Exchange and “the China Regional Grid Baseline
Emission Factor” issued by National Development and
Reform Commission of China.

Note 2: The above calculation of carbon emission covers the
emission activities under range one and two in the
“Environmental Key Performance Index Reporting
Guide"” issued by the Stock Exchange.

All the departments of the Group have strictly complied
with the internal management system related to
environmental protection of the Group. There was no
occurrence of any non-compliance issues with relevant
laws and regulations in relation to the emission of waste
gas and greenhouse gases, discharges into water and
land, generation of hazardous and harmless waste.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A2 Use of Resources

The Group emphasizes saving resources and
environmental protection, committed to minimize
possible risks of impact on the environment arising from
business development by utilizing resources effectively
and advocating commercial acts accountability to the
environment. During the Reporting Period, the Group
achieved various energy-saving targets and successfully
implemented green energy policies, and actively
participated in office energy-saving and environmental
protection activities promoted by property management
company of the building where it locates, for instance,
resources recycling activity, with a view to improve
staff's awareness in energy conservation and emission
reduction.

Energy Consumption

To implement energy saving policy, the Group
proactively carried out various energy saving policies and
measurements which helped us save a total of 6.66%
energy consumption during the Reporting Period. The
Group's office has fully installed the energy efficient
fluorescent tube and other electronic equipment with
high energy efficiency, set and conduct modulated
temperature and timing control on air-conditioners.
The Group will also be checked the office’s electricity
consumption regularly. And the employees are
required to turn off lighting, air conditioning and office
equipment when no one is in use to reduce electricity
consumption. Moreover, the Group also added the
slogan “Electrical Energy Saving” at light switches
and interacted with employees by providing regular
training on the best practices and techniques for saving
electricity in order to enhance employees’ environmental
awareness.

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020

A. BiE @)
A2 EiR{ER

AEBIERRBHLIRERE BB
HERNARERREEBHREARE
MAEETR REXRBERATEHRER
TRHNBEZE - AKERNEEHNEB
BEZIRMER R RAABRRRER W&
BLERIAEYEELLEAHETHE
EMREMERIRRITE - HINERD
WOES) - #EULIRS 8 THVERAE R BE R -

BEIRIE 7

REMEBNRIRNTT & - AEEESGHE
TRBMBEBR AR YRREHHE
—HE B FIE1496.66% FE8E - AN & E
W AZECE2EERASRERELEE
MEEGRRMENETFRE  THZE
R EEMERTRIES - e TE MR
ERAENAEE - ERETINEAE
AR EHRE  ZFRBARE AR
DRE-WH AERBEZHAZTER
FEEARHOREIRE  BBRHA
RO ENRERR LRI E HE
HRESEE  UIRSEENRRE®



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE g REBRE

A. ENVIRONMENTAL (continued) A. BE @)
A2 Use of Resources (Continued) A2 ERFER #)

Energy Consumption (Continued)

Set out below is the Group’s total energy consumption
and total energy intensity in FY2020:

Consumption

BEIFEFE (&)

PATR 27 5 B 74 2020 B1 B4R FE 9 RE R
BEENBREREE

Total Energy Intensity

Energy category (daily office work) (office space per unit)
#E BERBE

RRESE (BEPR) (BEURAEE)

Electricity 28,330 kWh 35.61 kWh/sg.m.

E 28,330 T BB 35.61 FREE, T H*K

Gasoline 8,143 liter 10.23 liter/sq.m.

Ve 8,143 AFF 10.23 2 F/F K

Natural gas 120 cubic meter 0.15082 cubic meter/sq.m.

AAR 1203775 2K 0.15082 32 75 K /75 K

Note: The above consumption only comprised the
consumption that directly controlled and utilized by
the Group, of which it included the Group’s offices in
Mainland China, Hong Kong, Mongolia and the UK,
but not including consumption arising from other third-

party.

Water Consumption

The Group’s water consumption during the Reporting
Period was generated from daily office water utilisation.
Although the Group’s business activities do not consume
a large volume of water, however, to encourage all
employees to develop a habit of conserving water
resources, the Group has adopted rules and regulations
and implemented the following emission reduction
measures to conserve water resources. The measures
include putting up reminder slogans such as “conserve
water resources” on public occasions to promote the
concept; using sensor water switches and restricting
flow measures and regularly inspecting and maintaining
water facilities to prevent waste of water. During the
Reporting Period, the Group’s water consumption in its
offices was 17 cubic meters in total. The average water
consumption per square meter of office space is 0.0214
cubic meter when calculated by office space. Total
water consumption in FY2020 decreased by 15% as
compared with that of the previous year. The decrease
was mainly due to the decrease in business and the
number of employees during the epidemic.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A3 The Environment and Natural

Resources

Environmental Implication Management

The Group is deeply aware of the importance of
environmental protection, social responsibility and
governance, the green office environment will continue
to be promoted through the four basic principles of
reduction, reuse, recycling and replacement. Although
the core businesses of the Group have an insignificant
impact on environment and natural resources, the
Group still always strictly abides by laws, regulations
and national standards relating to environmental
protection, and incorporates the impact of its operation
on environment as one of its significant considerations
and endeavours to minimise the impact of Company’s
operation on environment.

Besides, the Group constantly conducted assessment
and supervision on environmental risks during daily
operation, developed immediate mitigation measures
when potential environmental risk was identified to
ensure such risk is under control.
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B1 EfE

B. SOCIAL B.

B1 Employment

Employee Benefits and Equal Opportunities
Policies

The Group believes that talent is a key factor for
enterprise competitiveness and human resources play
a vital role in the Group’s long-term development and
success. Therefore, the Group strives to introduce
talents through multi-channel and cultivate talents
through the adoption of an incentive mechanism.

To attract and retain talents, ensure smooth business
operation of the Group and in line with continuous
expansion needs, the Group has its human resources
management policy in place to regulate matters
relating to staff recruitment, promotion, dismissal,
working hours, holidays, remuneration packages and
benefits. The remuneration of the Group’s employees is
determined with reference to market standard, industry
practice and staff's qualifications and experience.
Meanwhile, the Group distributes bonuses to employees
to the extent possible according to profitability as
incentives for the contributions they made to the
Group and provides staff with on-the-job training and
development opportunities to assist them to show their
talents in the positions. The benefit plan of the Group’s
staff comprises MPF, medical insurance, accidental
insurance, employees’ benefits, paid holidays (annual
leave, sick leave, maternity leave, paternity leave, marital
leave and examination leave). Both staff's working
hours and holiday schedules have rigorously complied
with national and local laws and regulations to make
sure staff can demonstrate their abilities in a favourable
working environment.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)

B1 Employment (Continued)

Employee Benefits and Equal Opportunities
Policies (Continued)

The Group takes a fair and open principle on
recruitment policy, adheres to the basic principle of
merit and capabilities, open position recruitment, equal
competition, two-way selection and engagement of
the excellent in recruitment. All candidates are required
to undergo an objective orientation examination and
interview to assess whether their abilities can meet
our development requirements. At the same time, the
Group is also required to ensure the fairness of the
overall recruitment process through stringent approval
procedures. In addition, the Group provides staff with
good promotion prospects and opportunities. The
Group established an annual performance appraisal
system to review staff performance and remuneration
policy regularly, intending to reward and motivate the
contribution and performance of employees and assist
them in their career development and promotion within
the Group.

In the meantime, the Group is committed to providing
staff with a fair and equitable working environment with
no discrimination. The Group prohibits the occurrence of
any form of discrimination in its working environment,
avoid any form of discriminating recruitment,
redesignation, remuneration and promotion. The Group
establishes the reporting and complaint mechanism
system to report or submit complaints to the head of
the human resources department immediately in case
of any biased treatment, and the task force will conduct
an investigation and take appropriate follow up actions.
If our employees have any problems or opinions, they
could give feedback through the communication
channels established by the Group.

As teamwork is one of the core values of the Group, we
understand the importance of maintaining a suitable
work-life balance for our employees, hence the Group
arranged a series of corporate and social activities for
employees to enhance the corporate culture and their
sense of belongings. By doing these, the Group aims
to strengthen the connection between employees and
promote the balance between work and life.

During the Reporting Period, there was no significant
breach of any relevant laws and regulations such as
Labour Law relating to human resources.
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B. SOCIAL (Continued) B. &+& @
B2 Health and Safety B2 BEHZZE
Occupational Health and Safety BEREHEZE

The Group regards staff's occupational health and
safety as our foremost responsibility, and endeavours
to provide staff with a satisfactory and safe working
environment. As regard to fire control safety, the
Group provides all staff with detailed guidelines on fire
escape routes and escape procedures and requires staff
to participate in fire escape drill of office buildings. In
addition, the Group also encourages staff to report
various accidents that occurred during work and other
unsafe factors. Staff may seek assistance from the
human resources and administration department in case
of an accident during work or within the working arena.
The Group gives priority to staff's safety under adverse
weather conditions (such as a rainstorm, typhoon).
Staffs are required to comply with the guidelines for
the staff’s working arrangement under adverse weather
conditions to safeguard staff safety to the greatest
extent.

Besides, the Group also pays high attention to the
staff's physical and psychological health. The Group
organises various sports and recreation activities from
time to time. In addition to building up a healthy body,
staff may develop team spirit to promote a harmonious
working environment.

For tungsten mines exploitation in Mongolia, as
no active mining operation of the Group has taken
place yet, the guidelines on providing a safe working
environment and protection of employees from
occupational hazards were not applicable during
the Reporting Period. Once the exploitation of the
mines commences officially, apart from making sure
meeting the business compliance with local laws and
regulations on production safety, the Group will also
formulate a code of practice and safety guidelines in
place to standardise business processes, and detail the
safety precautions for different mining procedures. At
the same time, the Group will also conduct regular
occupational safety training on mining staff, require
staff to get equipped with protective equipment and
conduct on-going monitoring regarding the mining
environment to ensure working environment safety.
Besides, the Group will also adopt advanced technology
to enable more efficient and more secure mining
operations.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)

B2

B3

Health and Safety (Continued)

Preventive Measures for COVID-19

In response to the COVID-19 outbreak, the Group has
taken actions to enhance health and safety precautions
in the office to ensure the health of its employees.
Apart from increasing the frequency of cleaning and
disinfection in the office area, the Group also requires
employees to wear surgical masks in the office, check
their body temperature every day before going to work
and regularly submit deep throat saliva samples for
testing purposes. The Group also issued guidelines to
employees to provide advice on the reporting measures
for the outbreak of COVID-19 among employees and
related family members.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have
any violations of laws and regulations related to
employee health and safety.

Development and Training

Employee Training Plan

The Group believes that talent development is an
enterprise’s development foundation. Hence, the
Group pays high attention to the staff's occupation
development and training. The Group has established
systematic training regimens and training system to
support staff’s continuous development, among which
it comprises induction training, on-the-job training and
external training. At the end of each year, the human
resources and administration department collects
the training and developing requirements from each
department and formulates training plans based on
the information and opinions collected. Apart from
induction training, newly employed staff will continue to
learn and improve themselves during the mentoring by
experienced staff. Besides, the Group will also arrange
on-the-job training and external training tailored to
staff's needs according to their operation post, personal
ability and aspiration to promote staff's continuous
growth and development at work. After completing
the training, the Group will also collect staff's feedback
to constantly improve our training quality. The Group
started to set up special education allowances in
FY2020 to encourage potential staff to commence
continuing study relating to current works or for long-
term career development purposes to meet the business
development goals of the Group.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)

B4

B5

Labour Standards

Prevention of Child Labour or Forced Labour

The Group is always committed to creating harmonious
labour relationships with staff and strictly complies
with the employment laws and regulations and labour
law of the region where it locates to ensure the staff's
interest was fully safeguarded. The Group establishes
a rigorous and comprehensive recruitment review
process and upholds the principle of fairness, openness
and voluntariness for staff employment. At the time of
the interview, candidates should provide identification
documents and valid employment visas for us to conduct
a due diligent investigation on their basic information,
sign a legal labour contract. The recruitment for all staff
is on an optional and legal basis. In addition, the Group
pays equal attention to the implementation of labour
standards in subsidiaries and outsourcing companies.
The Group will regularly conduct a random inspection
on subsidiaries and outsourcing companies to make
sure no violation of relevant laws and regulations.

During the Reporting Period, there was no breach of
relevant laws and regulations relating to the prevention
of child labour or forced labour.

Supply Chain Management

Sustainable Supply Chain

Given that supply chain management is the key factor
of sustainable development, such that the Group has
stringent requirements for supplier management. Each
department is required to purchase according to the
“Guidelines for Procurement Process Standard of Office
Supplies and Fixed Assets” prepared by the human
resource and administration department. In addition,
Group's purchasing department sets up a dedicated
department taskforce to formulate and complete the
procurement process standard, conducts an annual
review and update on the procurement process to make
sure the Group adheres to the principle of openness,
fairness and transparency for supplier selection, and
conducts procurement at reasonable price and quality. In
the coming years, the Group will continuously plan and
develop the supplier selection mechanism to reinforce
suppliers’ requirements will focus on environmental
protection, labour safety and staff protection.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)

B5

B6

Supply Chain Management (Continued)

Sustainable Supply Chain (Continued)

The Group will also supervise supplier performance. The
Group will suspend supplier service if its performance
is unsatisfactory. Meanwhile, the Group also intends
to carry out regular annual assessment regarding
supplier performance and requires all suppliers to
satisfy the Group’s requirements in the environmental
protection and social responsibilities aspects, such as
adopting green materials, prohibiting employment of
forced labour and child labour before continuing the
cooperation relationship.

Product Responsibility

Customer Service

The Group attaches great importance to our service
quality and customer experience. The Group built
customer satisfaction through constantly improving our
service standard for customers to make sure providing
customers with quality products and services and
set up an effective customer complaint mechanism
to constantly improve service experience through
customer’s feedback. The Group dedicates to provide
accurate information for customers to make a wise
investment decisions, provides customers with sufficient
advice and coaching to help them understand and
select products and services required through offering
products and services with clear descriptions and
provisions.

(i) Customer Satistaction

The Group regularly conducts annual customer
satisfaction investigation to continuously improve
our products and services and analyses in detail
the investigation results in accordance with
indicators of the established service, of which it
includes management service quality, service and
product safety, customer service and product
support. The Group will also improve its customer
service performance next year by establishing an
action programme.
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B. SOCIAL (Continued) B. &2 @&)
B6 Product Responsibility (Continued) B6 =mE{E &)
Customer Service (Continued) EFER% (&)

(i) Customer Complaint Follow-up

The Group attaches great importance to client
feedback for improving its service quality
continuously by humbly accept customers’
opinions. The Group has set up a professional
customer service team to address and follow up
on customer complaints. Every complaint will be
investigated and followed up by a special person
in charge and the whole process will be monitored
by management. After the reasons for the
complaints are identified and responding progress
is completed, the special person in charge will
contact the complainant to offer our resolutions
for the proper handling of the customer complaint.

Marketing

Integrity management is the essential merit of our
business operation. The Group endeavours a responsible
marketing strategy with no exaggerated marketing
tactics. All sales, promotion documents and data are
required to be approved by management before rolling
out to make sure complying with the requirements of
relevant advertisement laws and regulations.

Customer Privacy Guarantee

The protection of the privacy of customers or consumers
is crucial for the Group’s operation. Except for the public
documents as specified in laws and regulations, the
Group strictly follows the relevant privacy ordinance in
relation to the usage and confidentiality requirements
of customer’s or consumers’ private information and
never allow information disclosure without the approval
of data owners. Group has a “Staff Code of Practice”
in place to standardise the principle of management,
usage and abide by the confidentiality of business
data and prohibits casual management and storage
of customer information. In addition, the Group
emphasise the importance of protecting customer data,
and provide guidance on customer data processing in
staff training and devote all our efforts to prevent the
leakage of customer information.

During the Reporting Period, there was no breach
of relevant laws and regulations relating to privacy,
product, service quality and marketing.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)

B7 Anti-corruption

Prevention of Corruption and Fraud

The Group propagandises an enterprise culture of
honesty, integrity and righteousness and commits
to building an anti-fraud and anti-corruption
corporate culture environment. The Group requires
staff to stringently comply with the Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance and strives to maintain the clean
management and operation structure of the Company.
Meanwhile, the Group set up the “Staff Code of
Practice” and disseminated it to all staff. The Practice
standardises the staff's code of conduct and the
guidelines on conflict of interests and requires staff to
report regularly on any conflict of interests. Besides, the
Group also establishes a series of anti-fraud measures,
among which include propaganda and training of anti-
fraud policy, fraud risk assessment mechanism and
complaint reporting mechanism.

Under the guidance of anti-fraud policies and related
measures, the Group regularly organises and invites
professionals to conduct training on laws, regulations,
integrity and ethics. Employees are taught how to
identify and correctly handle conflict of interests at work
and resist the temptation of improper interests. Under
the fraudulent risk assessment mechanism established
by the Group, it is regularly conducted fraudulent
risk identification and assessment at the Group's
and department’s level to assess the importance and
possibility of fraudulent risk and formulate resolutions
to address fraudulent risk as required. The Group also
established a set of comprehensive complaint channels,
investigation mechanism and accountability mechanism.
Any staff, supplier and customer of the Group may
report any undue staff behaviour through the channel
provided for assisting the Group to supervise staff’s
ethical character and penalise staff for any misconduct.
Complaints matters include but are not limited to the
violation of laws, regulations and the Group’s policy
requirements, or undue behaviour relating to internal
monitoring, operation, accounting, auditing, finance
and undue conduct, illegal act or fraudulent matters.

The above policy regarding bribery, conflict of interests
and whistle-blowing forms part of the Group’s Code
of Conduct for employees and is clearly set out in the
Employee Handbook. All employees are required to
follow stringently.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)

B7

B8

Anti-corruption (Continued)

Prevention of Corruption and Fraud (Continued)

During the Reporting Period, there was no breach of
relevant laws and regulations relating to the prevention
of bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

Community Investment

Contributions to the Society

The Group always attaches importance to the corporate
social responsibilities, adheres to the concept of
repaying the society while its business is developing
and devotes ourselves to the social and public welfare
to make contributions in facilitating social harmonious
development. At the same time, the Group also actively
encourages its staff to participate in various social
and public services to cultivate their sense of social
responsibility, strive to build a harmonious community,
and make greater contributions to society.
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A
PERERWME

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintaining statutory and regulatory
standards and adhering to the principles of corporate governance
with emphasis on transparency, independence, accountability
and responsibility. The Board reviews its corporate governance
practices from time to time in order to meet the rising expectations
of Shareholders and comply with increasingly stringent regulatory
requirements, and to fulfill its commitment to excellence in
corporate governance.

The Company has complied with all the applicable code provisions
of the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) throughout
the year ended 31 December 2020 as set out in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules, except for certain deviations disclosed in this
corporate governance report (“CG Report”).

DIRECTORS’ AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES’
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”),
as amended from time to time, as set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by its Directors. Having made specific enquiry, all
Directors have confirmed that they have fully complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code during the year ended
31 December 2020.

The Company’s Model Code also applies to all employees who are
likely to be in possession of inside information of the Company. No
incident of non-compliance of the Model Code was noted by the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2020.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Responsibilities

The overall management of the Company’s business is vested in
the Board, which assumes responsibility for leadership and control
of the Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. All
Directors should make decisions objectively in the interests of the
Company.

The Board reserves for its decisions all major matters of the
Company, including the approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions, financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and
operational matters.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles
of chairman of the board and chief executive officer should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual.
The division of responsibilities between the chairman and the
chief executive officer should be clearly established and set out in
writing.

The roles of the Company’s chairman of the Board (“Chairman”)
are to provide leadership to the Board and formulate the Group’s
business strategies. His aimed at striking a balance of power and
authority job responsibilities are not concentrated on any one
individual. The Chairman is responsible for ensuring the Board
works effectively, in particular, ensuring all Directors receive
reliable, adequate and complete information in a timely manner.
The Chairman may communicate with the Directors directly or
through the assistance of the company secretary of the Company
("Company Secretary”) to discuss or clarify any issues concerning
the Group from time to time, and to provide any supporting
information and documents to them. The Chairman assumes the
primary responsibility for ensuring that good corporate governance
practices and procedures are established.

CEO is responsible for the conduct of day-to-day operation of
the Group and accountable to the Board for all aspects of the
corporate performance. He recommends policies to the Board
for consideration and approval, and keeps the Board informed of
any material developments of the Company’s business. The CEO
may delegate his duties to any other management members or
responsible officers of the Company but he assumes the principal
responsibility.

During the reporting year, Mr. Kwong Kai Sing Benny was the
CEOQ, while the Chairman remained vacant. The Company deviated
from code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code for the reporting year.

The Company is still in the process of identifying a suitable
candidate to fill the vacancy of the Chairman and will keep the
Shareholders informed of such appointment by announcement in
due course.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (cContinued)
Composition

The Board currently comprises four executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors. The Directors during the
reporting year and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Kwong Kai Sing Benny

Mr. Chen Weisong

Mr. Chow Chi Wah Vincent

Mr. Wang Hongfang (appointed on 7 January 2021)

Independent non-executive Directors (“INEDs"”)

Dr. Gao Bin
Ms. Liu Yan
Mr. Tang King Shing, GBS, PDSM

INEDs and their independence

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Board at all
times met the requirements under Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of at least three INEDs with at least
one of them possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that non-executive
directors should be appointed for a specific term subject to re-
election.

INEDs are not appointed for a specific term. However, all Directors
are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual
general meeting of the Company in accordance with the Bye-laws.

Each of the INEDs has made an annual confirmation of

independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers that all INEDs are independent.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Appointment and re-election of Directors

Biographical details of the Directors as at the date of this annual
report are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details
of Directors” on pages 22 to 27 of this annual report, which
demonstrates a diversity of skills, expertise, experience and
qualifications.

Pursuant to Bye-law 87 of the Bye-laws, one-third of the
Directors shall retire by rotation at each annual general meeting
of the Company provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at the annual general meeting of the Company at least
once every three years. All retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-
election.

The Board members have no financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships with each other. Such balanced
Board composition is formed to ensure strong independence exists
across the Board and has more than one-third in number of its
members comprising INEDs.

All Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the affairs
of the Group. Each executive Director is suitably qualified for his/
her position, and has sufficient experience to hold the position so
as to carry out his/her duties effectively and efficiently.

Board meetings

The Company Secretary shall assist the Chairman and the executive
Directors in establishing the meeting agenda, and each Director
is able to request inclusion of items in the agenda. The Board
schedules at least four regular meetings a year and also meets as
and when required. During the year ended 31 December 2020, the
Board held nineteen meetings. All such meetings were convened in
accordance with the Bye-laws.

Under code provision A.1.3 of the CG Code, notice of at least
fourteen days should be given of a regular board meeting to give
all directors an opportunity to attend. During the year ended 31
December 2020, certain Board meetings were convened with
less than fourteen days’ notice to enable the Board members to
react timely and make expeditious decisions in respect of urgent
corporate transaction and general business update which was
significant in nature. As a result, such Board meetings were held
with a shorter notice period than required with the consent of
the Directors. The Board will do its best endeavour to meet the
requirement of code provision A.1.3 of the CG Code in the future.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Board meetings (Continued)

Adequate and appropriate information are circulated to the
Directors normally three days in advance of Board meetings
or such period accepted by them. In addition to regular Board
meetings, the Chairman should at least annually hold a meeting
with the INEDs without the presence of other Directors pursuant
to code provision A.2.7 of the CG Code. However, the position of
Chairman remained vacant during the reporting year. As a result,
the Company deviated from code of provision A.2.7 of the CG
Code.

Minutes of all Board and committee meetings are kept by the
Company Secretary and are open for inspection by the Directors.
Draft minutes of all Board and committee meetings are circulated
to all Directors and committee members for comments within the
period accepted by them after each meeting.

Attendance of Directors at various meetings

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the attendance of each
individual Director at the Board meetings, committee meetings and
the annual general meeting held on 18 June 2020 (“2020 AGM"),
are as follow:
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Attended/Eligible to attend

LR/ RERLE
Audit Nomination  Remuneration
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings
ESReE FNZEES8E REZEEE8E FHzEedE REAE
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Kwong Kai Sing Benny (C£0) BRI (778 44) 19/19 NATEE NA T A NA T A 11
Mr. Chen Weisong RENREE 1919 NATEE NA T NA TE R 11
Mr. Chow Chi Wah Vincent AEELE 17/19 NA R NA TR NA T ER 11
Mr. Wang Hongfang TR Y NA T iE NA T E N/A 8 NA T @ NIA i@
Independent Non-executive Directors BUHHTEE
Dr. Gao Bin RERL 15/19 W) 1 N 01
Ms. Liu Yan At 15/19 212 1" 11 0N
Mr. Tang King Shing BEKEE 15/19 1 17 10 11
Note: M5 -

1. appointed on 7 January 2021
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Attendance of Directors at various meetings
(Continued)

According to code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code, all independent
non-executive directors and non-executive directors should attend
general meetings of listed issuers.

Dr. Gao Bin and Ms. Liu Yan, the INEDs, were unable to attend
2020 AGM due to their other business engagements.

Directors’ training and continuous professional
development

On 7 January 2021, Mr. Wang Hongfang, the newly appointed
Director, was given an induction after his appointment as the
executive Director so as to ensure that he has appropriate
understanding of the Group's business and of his duties and
responsibilities under the Listing Rules and the relevant statutory
and regulatory requirements. The Company provides regular
updates on the business performance of the Group to the
Directors. The Directors are continually updated on the latest
development regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
statutory requirements to ensure compliance and upkeeping of
good corporate governance practices.

The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh knowledge and
skills. The Company has received confirmation from all Directors of
their respective training records for the year ended 31 December
2020.

Corporate governance functions

Pursuant to code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code, the Board is also
responsible for performing the corporate governance duties as set
out below:

(@) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (cContinued)
Corporate governance functions (Continued)

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to Directors and
employees; and

(e) to review the Company’'s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the CG Report.

This CG Report has been reviewed by the Board in discharge of its
corporate governance functions.

Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance and
indemnity

To indemnify Directors and officers of the Company against all
costs, charges, losses, expenses and liabilities incurred by them in
the execution of and discharge of their duties or in relation thereto,
the Company has arranged insurance cover for this purpose.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee of the Company (“Nomination
Committee”) was established with a specific written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code. The terms of reference
of the Nomination Committee are available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (“Board Diversity
Policy”) stipulating the composition of the Board. The Company
seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of
a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional qualification,
skills, knowledge and length of service. The appointment of
the members of the Board will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

The Board has adopted a nomination policy (“Nomination
Policy”) with the aim of ensuring the Board has a balance of skills,
experience, knowledge and diversity of perspectives appropriate
to the requirements of the Group’s business. When considering
a candidate nominated for directorship or a retiring Director’s
proposed re-appointment, the Nomination Committee will
have regard to, among other things, (i) age, skills, knowledge,
experience, expertise, professional and educational qualifications,
background and other personal qualities of the candidate; (ii)
effect on the Board’s composition and diversity; (i) commitment
of the candidate to devote sufficient time to effectively carry out
his/her duties; (iv) potential and/or actual conflicts of interest that
may arise; (v) independence; (vi) in the case of a proposed re-
appointment of an INED, the number of years he/she has already
served; and (vii) other factors considered to be relevant by the
Nomination Committee. Having due regard to the Nomination
Policy and the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination Committee
will identify and consider each suitable candidate or retiring
Director and make recommendation to the Board. Subject to the
provisions of the Bye-laws, each the appointment of new Director
and re-appointment of Director will be stand for re-election at the
general meeting.

As at 31 December 2020, the Nomination Committee comprised
three Directors, all of them are INEDs. The members of the
Nomination Committee are:

Dr. Gao Bin (Chairman)
Ms. Liu Yan
Mr. Tang King Shing, GBS, PDSM

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Nomination
Committee held one meeting. The attendance of each member
during the reporting year is set out on page 48 of this annual
report.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

The work performed by the Nomination Committee during the
year ended 31 December 2020 included:

(@) reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board;

(b) identified individual suitably qualified to become Board
members and made recommendation to the Board on their
appointments;

(c) assessed the independence of the INEDs;

(d)  made recommendations to the Board on the retiring Directors
for re-election at the 2020 AGM; and

(e) reviewed the Nomination Policy.

Having reviewed the Board Diversity Policy and the composition
of the Board, the Nomination Committee is satisfied that the
requirements set out in the Board Diversity Policy had been met.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee of the Company (“Remuneration
Committee"”) was established with a specific written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code. The terms of reference
of the Remuneration Committee are available on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board, among other things, on
the Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration of
all Directors and senior management of the Company. No
individual Director is involved in decisions relating to his/her own
remuneration. The Remuneration Committee has adopted the
model under code provision B.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code to make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management.

As at 31 December 2020, the Remuneration Committee comprised
three Directors, all of them are INEDs. The members of the
Remuneration Committee were:

Dr. Gao Bin (Chairman)
Ms. Liu Yan
Mr. Tang King Shing, GBS, PDSM

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Remuneration
Committee held one meeting. The attendance of each member
during the reporting year is set out on page 48 of this annual
report.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

The work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the
year ended 31 December 2020 included:

(@) reviewed the performance of executive Director and specific
staff and recommended to the Board specific adjustments in
reward payments; and

(b) reviewed and recommended the remuneration packages of
the executive Directors and senior management for the year
ended 31 December 2019.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company (“Audit Committee”) was
established with a specific written terms of reference in compliance
with the CG Code. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee
are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing and supervising
the financial reporting process, assisting the Board to ensure
effective risk management and internal control systems of the
Group and providing advice and comments to the Board. The
Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge
its duties and may access to independent professional advice if
considered necessary.

As at 31 December 2020, the Audit Committee comprises three
Directors, all of them are INEDs. The members of the Audit
Committee are:

Ms. Liu Yan (Chairman)
Dr. Gao Bin
Mr. Tang King Shing, GBS, PDSM

Ms. Liu Yan, the Chairman of Audit Committee, possesses relevant
professional qualifications and financial management expertise and
meets the requirements of Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Audit Committee
held two meetings. The attendance of each member during the
reporting year is set out on page 48 of this annual report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the work performed by
the Audit Committee included:

(a

(9)

reviewed with the Company’s auditors the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 and
reviewed the unaudited interim financial statements for the
six months ended 30 June 2020, with recommendations to
the Board for approval;

reviewed the risk management report on monitoring of the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group;

reviewed the compliance issues with the regulatory and
statutory requirements;

reviewed with the management of the Company the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group;

reviewed the term and remuneration for the appointment of
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) as external auditor
to perform the agreed-upon of the final results for the year
ended 31 December 2019 and the accounting advisory
service on the interim results for the six-month ended 30 June
2020;

reviewed the independence of Deloitte as the external
auditor, especially for those non-audit services; and

nominated the re-appointment of Deloitte as the auditors of
the Company at the 2020 AGM.

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources to
discharge its duties and may access to independent professional
advice if considered necessary.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the remunerations paid
and payable to Deloitte for audit services and non-audit services
regarding the review of interim financial statements and other
assurance and non-assurance engagements rendered to the Group
are as follow:

Services rendered for the Group

RAEMEHRZRBE

BB B &

RBEE-_Z_TFT_A=+—BIFE M
AEBRER 2 EZRSE LT RMEHREFHRLE
iz R E TIENEEZRE N REMN T
EHzMEWT

Fees paid/
payable to
Deloitte
21BN
EHNER
HK$'000
FET

B2 R
FEEZIRT

Audit services
Non-audit services

Total At

The Audit Committee is satisfied with, inter alia, the audit fees,
effectiveness of the audit process, independence and objectivity of
Deloitte and has recommended to the Board the re-appointment
of Deloitte as the Company’s external auditor for the ensuing year
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements of the Group for the relevant accounting periods under
applicable statutory and regulatory requirements which give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs, the results of operations and
cash flows of the Group. In preparing the financial statements
for the six months ended 30 June 2020 and the year ended 31
December 2020, the Directors have adopted suitable accounting
policies and applied them consistently.

The responsibility of the auditors with respect to these financial
statements are set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on
pages 73 to 79 of this annual report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for establishing and maintaining a sound
risk management and internal control system within the Group
and reviewing their effectiveness. However, such system was
designed only to manage various risks of the Group within certain
acceptable risk level, rather than completely eliminate the risk
of failing to achieve the business objectives of the Group, and
can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or losses. The Audit Committee assists the
Board to oversee the management in the design, implementation
and monitoring of the risk management and internal control
systems.

The Group has a risk management and compliance department to
perform the internal audit functions. During the year under review,
the internal auditors of the Group carried out an analysis and
independent appraisal regarding the adequacy and effectiveness of
its risk management and internal control systems.

In addition, the Group has developed an internal control
model which follows the principle of Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO"). It consists
of five elements, namely control environment, risk assessment,
control, information and communication, and monitoring. Under
this control model, the Group’s management is responsible
for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal
control measures and its effectiveness, and the Board and Audit
Committee will supervise the appropriateness of internal control
measures as designed by the management and the effective
implementation of internal control measures. Meanwhile, the
internal control has adapted to the Group's scale of operation,
scope of business, competition and risks, and is subject to prompt
adjustments according to changes in circumstances. It will be
a long-lasting and continuous work to improve the internal
control system, implement the regulated system and intensify the
supervision and examination of internal control.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS (continued)

The risk management and compliance department also prepared
a risk management framework of the Group, including the
construction of the architecture for the aforementioned
organisation and definition of the responsibilities of all parties
concerned, and prepared risk management policies and processes
and clarified the risk assessment procedures, which, specifically
include risk identification, risk analysis, risk control and risk report.
Step 1:  Risk identification — identify risks currently exposed to
the Group and business and its existing management
and control measures.

Step 2:  Risk analysis — analyse the possibility of risk, extent of
influence and its existing management and control
measures, identify risk exposure, and propose further
countermeasures.

Step 3:  Risk control — implement and periodically detect the
identified risks to ensure effective operation of risk
countermeasures.

Step 4:  Risk report — summarise the results of risk management
analysis, prepare action plans and report to the
management, Audit Committee and the Board.

During the year under review, the risk management and
compliance department has updated and revised the Group’s
risk management system in light of its actual conditions with
the assistance of individual business units and departments to
review and provide their feedbacks. In 2020, through this risk
management system, the risk management and compliance
department selected the major business units and departments
of the Group to complete three major risk control activities,
including its assessment, scoring and ranking, and prepare risk
countermeasures to ensure that each significant risk has adequate
corresponding risk countermeasures.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Board considered the
Group’s current risk assessment system was effective and adequate.
Periodical reviews will be performed to improve and safeguard
the effective operation of the Group’s risk management system.
In addition, in view of the enhanced control on listed companies
in recent years by regulators such as the SFC and the Listing
Committee of the Stock Exchange, backed by the consolidated
corporate systems and procedures and internal control manual, the
risk management and compliance department conducted sampling
check on major compliance control activities and procedures of
the Group during the year under review and no material internal
control deficiencies was discovered.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Audit Committee
has reviewed the findings and impartial opinion of the risk
management and compliance department on the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems.
The Board is of the opinion that the available resources and staff
qualifications of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting
functions are adequate and sufficient. Based on the information
furnished and upon its own observations, the Board is satisfied
with the present internal controls of the Group.

The Group regularly reminds the Directors and employees on
compliance policy regarding inside information, and provides
them updates in relation to the appropriate guidelines or policies
to ensure complying with regulatory requirements. The Group
is aware of its obligations under the SFO, the Listing Rules and
overriding principles and that inside information should be
announced timely and conducts its affairs in strict compliance with
the prevailing applicable laws and regulations in Hong Kong.
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RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES
AND CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Board assumes responsibility for leadership and control of
the Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs.
All Directors should make decisions objectively in the interests
of the Company. The Board reserves for its decision on all major
matters relating to policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal
control and risk management, material transactions (in particular
those that may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant operational matters
of the Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions
of the Board, directing, and coordinating the daily operation of the
Company are delegated to the senior management.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Yam Wai Wah Jenny (“Ms. Yam") is a full-time employee
company secretary of the Group. She is responsible for facilitating
the Board process, as well as the communications among the
Board members, Shareholders and Management. She also prepared
detailed minutes of each meeting and such minutes would be sent
to the Board for comments as soon as practicable. Ms. Yam reports
directly to the Board. All Directors are able to access to the advice
and services of the Company Secretary to ensure that all applicable
laws, rules and regulations are followed. During the year ended 31
December 2020, Ms. Yam undertook no less than fifteen hours of
professional training to update her skills and knowledge pursuant
to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of good communication with
all Shareholders. The annual general meeting of the Company
is a valuable avenue for the Board to enter into direct dialogue
with Shareholders. The Chairman and the members of Board
committees will attend the annual general meeting to answer any
question raised from the Shareholders.

The interim and annual reports of the Company are despatched
to Shareholders in a timely manner before the time limits laid
by statutory and Listing Rules requirements to ensure effective
communication with Shareholders.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
(Continued)

All the Shareholders are given at least twenty clear business days'’
notice before the date of the annual general meetings and at
least ten clear business days’ notice for all other general meetings
pursuant to code provision E.1.3 of the CG Code.

All the annual and interim reports, circulars, announcements and
notices of Shareholders meetings as required under the Listing
Rules are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

The Company has also complied with the requirements concerning
voting by poll under the Listing Rules. Details of the poll voting
procedures and the rights of Shareholders to demand a poll are
included in circulars to Shareholders despatched by the Company
and explained by the chairman of general meeting at the meeting.
All resolutions proposed at general meeting are voted separately.

Procedures for convening a special general
meeting

Shareholders shall have the right to request the Board to convene
a special general meeting of the Company. Pursuant to Bye-law
58 of the Bye-laws, Shareholders holding in aggregate of not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company may send
a written request to the Board to request for a special general
meeting; and such meeting shall be held within two months after
the deposit of such requisition.

The written requisition, duly signed by the Shareholder(s)
concerned, must state the purposes of the meeting and must be
deposited at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong at Room 2902, 29th Floor, China United Centre, 28 Marble
Road, North Point, Hong Kong or at the Company’s branch share
registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, at
Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong.

The Company would take appropriate actions and make
necessary arrangements, and the Shareholders concerned would
be responsible for the expenses incurred in giving effect thereto
in accordance with the requirements under Section 74 of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (“Companies Act”) once a valid
requisition is received.

If within twenty one days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionists, or any of
them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of
all of them, may themselves convene a meeting, but any meeting
so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months
from the said date.
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Corporate Governance Report
rEERWE

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
(Continued)

Procedures for convening a special general
meeting (Continued)

A meeting convened by the requisitionists shall be convened in the
same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings are
to be convened by the Directors.

Any reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists by reason
of the failure of the Directors duly to convene a meeting shall
be repaid to the requisitionists by the Company, and any sum so
repaid shall be retained by the Company out of any sums due
or to become due from the Company by way of fees or other
remuneration in respect of their services to such Directors as were
in default.

Procedures for Shareholders to put forward
proposals at general meetings

The following Shareholder(s) is/are entitled to put forward
a proposal (which may properly be put to the meeting) for
consideration at a general meeting of the Company:

(@ any number of members representing not less than one-
twentieth of the total voting rights of the Company on the
date of the requisition; or

(b) not less than one hundred Shareholders holding shares in the
Company.

The requisition specifying the proposal, duly signed by the
Shareholder(s) concerned, together with a statement of not more
than a thousand words with respect to the matter referred to
in the proposal must be deposited at the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong at Room 2902, 29th Floor, China
United Centre, 28 Marble Road, North Point, Hong Kong or at the
Company's branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong,
Tricor Tengis Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Hong Kong. The Company would take appropriate
actions and make necessary arrangements, and the Shareholder(s)
concerned would be responsible for the expenses incurred in
giving effect thereto in accordance with the requirements under
Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act once valid documents
are received.
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rEERWE

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
(Continued)

Dividend policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy. The declaration and
payment of dividends shall be determined at the sole discretion
of the Board and subject to all applicable requirements (including
without limitation restrictions on dividend declaration and
payment) under the Companies Act and the Bye-laws. In proposing
any dividend payout, the Board shall take into account, inter alia,
the Group’s actual and expected financial results, the economic
conditions and other factors that may have impact on the Group;
the Group’s business strategies, current and future operations,
liquidity position and capital requirements and any other factors
that the Board deems appropriate. The dividend payout ratio will
vary from year to year. There is no assurance that dividends will be
paid in any particular amount for any given period.

Procedures for directing Shareholders’
enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to
the Board in writing via the following channel:

In respect of the corporate affairs:

The Board of Directors/Company Secretary
Tai United Holdings Limited

Room 2902, 29th Floor

China United Centre

28 Marble Road

North Point

Hong Kong

E-mail: ir@taiunited.com

Facsimile: (852) 2527-1144

In respect of the other shareholding/entitlement affairs:
Tricor Tengis Limited

Level 54, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the
general meetings of the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no significant change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 December 2020.
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Report of the Directors
EE WS

The Directors are pleased to submit herewith their annual report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. As
at 31 December 2020, the Group was principally engaged in (i)
property investment; (i) medical equipment trading; (iii) mining
and exploitation of natural resources; and (iv) financial services and
asset management .

The activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 44 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended
31 December 2020 by segments are set out in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 80 to 81.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: 2018 special dividend of
20 HK cents per share).

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECT

A fair review of the business of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2020 and a discussion on the Group’s further
business development are provided in the sections headed “Chief
Executive Officer's Statement” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” of this annual report.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties facing by the Group include
strategic, operational and financial risks. Each of them is discussed
briefly as below:

Strategic risks

The Directors maintain a strategic plan based on the knowledge
to the external environments. The Group will invest in projects
and investments based on the strategic plan in order to cope with
the market demand and expectation. Given the rapid change
of unforeseeable external environments in the financial and
equity markets, the Group is facing significant strategic risks on
its investments when changing the strategic plans to adopt the
unexpected changes of external environments.

Operational risks

Management regularly reviews the Group's operations to ensure
that the Group’s risk of losses, whether financial or otherwise,
resulting from fraud, errors, omissions and other operational and
compliance matters, are adequately managed.

Financial risks

The principal financial risks are set out in note 38(b) to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report headed
under “Financial risk management objectives and policies”.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial reporting periods is set out on page
215 of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2020, together with the reasons, are set out in note 34
to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2020, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution to equity holders of the parent, calculated in
accordance with the Companies Act, amounted to approximately
HK$1,093 million (2019: approximately HK$ 1,586 million).
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EQUITY-LINKED ARRANGEMENTS

Other than the share option scheme as disclosed in note 42 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report, no equity-
linked arrangements were entered into by the Company during the
year or subsisted at year ended 31 December 2020.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws
or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the Group’s property, plant and
equipment and investment properties during the year ended 31
December 2020 are set out in notes 18 to 19 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

BORROWINGS

Particulars of the Group’s borrowings are set out in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

CHARITABLE DONATION

No charitable donation was made by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2020 (2019: nil).

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTIONS OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES DIRECTORS

During the year ended 31 December 2020, neither the Company,
nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the
Company'’s listed securities.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2020 and up to
the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Kwong Kai Sing Benny (CEO)

Mr. Chen Weisong

Mr. Chow Chi Wah Vincent

Mr. Wang Hongfang (appointed on 7 January 2021)

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. Gao Bin
Ms. Liu Yan
Mr. Tang King Shing, GBS, PDSM

In accordance with Bye-law 87 of the Bye-laws, Mr. Kwong Kai
Sing Benny and Ms. Liu Yan shall retire by rotation from office
and, being eligible, offer himself/herself for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. Pursuant to Bye-law 86
of the Bye-laws, Mr. Wang Hongfang shall hold office until the
forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer
himself for re-election at the meeting.

Each of the INEDs had made an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers that all INEDs are independent.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

The Director's biographical information are set out on pages 22 to
27 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Bye-law 166(1) of the Bye-laws provides that, among others, every
Director and other officers of the Company shall be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company
from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they or any of them shall or may incur sustain by
or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about
the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective
offices and related matters provided that the indemnity shall not
extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which
may attach to any of them.

In this connection, the Company has arranged directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of
the Company during the year ended 31 December 2020.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report, no other transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to which the Company
or its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a
material interest subsisted during or at the end of the year ended
31 December 2020.

DIRECTORS' INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors or their respective associates was interested
in, apart from the Group's businesses, any business which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the businesses of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or were in existence during the year ended 31
December 2020.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND RELATED
PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the transactions are disclosed in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report. None
of these transactions constitutes a connected transaction under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and/or related party transaction
under Hong Kong Accounting Standard 24.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2020, none of the Directors or chief executive
of the Company had any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
were required (i) to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein; or (iii) required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transaction by Directors of Listed Companies as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2020, so far as it is known by Director or the
chief executive of the Company, the particulars of the corporations
or individuals who had any interests or short positions in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, as recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 336 of the SFO (“Register of Shareholders”)
were as follows:

Long position in the shares of the Company

Capacity and nature of interest

SO RESRNEE

RZEZEF+ZA=+—H0 RELXQRFTES
REZTHBABAE BEFHFRBEKRNE
XVEBZE 2 RE3INF 2 EX A AT HE - WEL
RIREE S R EROIE336KEEATFTEZE
st (TREZZM]) PRARFRMN RAEER N
P ARRIAR ZEAEREANFBOT

REQXFRGHER

Percentage of

Interests of Number of the Company’s

Controlled ordinary  issued share capital

Beneficial Owner Corporation Shares held (approximately)

Name (Note 1)

EARDT

ZEREEE FEgE ERITRAK

8 BRERA 2R RHEE B (H4)

wiz1)

Satinu Resources Group Ltd. - 3,937,234,889 3,937,234,889 74.99%
(”SBtinu”) (Note 2)

Satinu Resources Group Ltd.

([satinu]) 2

Songbird SG PTE. LTD. 3,937,234,889 - 3,937,234,889 74.99%

("Songbird SG”)
Songbird SG PTE. LTD.
(['Songbird SG |)

Notes:

1. The percentage represented the number of shares held over the total
number of issued shares of the Company of 5,250,019,852 shares as
at 31 December 2020.

2. Satinu indirectly wholly owns Yellowbird Capital Management
(GP) Limited, which is the general partner of Yellowbird Special
Opportunities Fund, L.P. (“Yellowbird Fund”). Yellowbird Fund
indirectly wholly owns Songbird SG, which in turn owns 74.99% of
the issues shares in the Company.

Save as disclosed above, there is no person (other than a Director
or the chief executive of the Company) as at 31 December 2020,
had 5% or more interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the Register of
Shareholders.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES

The Board recognises the employees are the most valuable asset
of the Group. The Group provides the staff with competitive
remuneration packages as well as a safe, harmonious and
discrimination-free working environment.

Details of which are set out in the section headed “Employees and
Remuneration Policies” in this annual report on page 19 and the
sections headed “B1. Employment” to “B4. Labour Standards”
under the ESG Report contained in this annual report on pages 35
to 39.

RELATIONSHIP WITH MAJOR CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the percentages of the
Group’s turnover attributable to its largest customer and five
largest customers were approximately 17% and 47% respectively.
The aggregate amount of purchases attributable to the Group’s
five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 94% of the
Group’s total purchases and the amount of purchase attributable
to the Group’s largest supplier was approximately 57% of the
Group’s total purchases.

To the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, or their
respective associates, or Shareholders owning more than 5% of
the Company’s issued share capital had any beneficial interests in
any of the five largest customers or suppliers during the year ended
31 December 2020.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Principal corporate governance practices as adopted by the
Company are set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” on
pages 44 to 62 of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company was
not aware of any non-compliance with any relevant laws and
regulations that had significant impact on it.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to reducing its carbon footprint and
consumption of natural resources in all possible aspects of
business operations. Our environmental strategy is to achieve a
balance between the quality and efficiency of our services and
the minimisation of greenhouse gas emissions and environmental
degradation. Accordingly, the Group has taken a proactive
approach to effect internal and external communications by means
of telephone, emails and conferences or such other communication
means which are efficient yet environmentally friendly. Also, the
Group are able to minimise physical travelling and printing.

More details regarding the Company’s environmental policies,
practices and performance are set out in the section headed “A.
Environmental” under the ESG Report on pages 29 to 34 of this
annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
annual report, there is sufficient public float of more than 25% of
the Company’s issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW ON THE
ANNUAL RESULTS

The Company has established the Audit Committee with a specific
written terms of reference in accordance with the requirements
under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the CG Code. The Audit
Committee is responsible for, among others, reviewing and
supervising the Group’s financial reporting process, assisting the
Board to ensure effective risk management and internal control
systems and providing advice and comments to the Board.

As at 31 December 2020 and up to the date of this annual report,
the Audit Committee comprised all three INEDs, namely, Dr. Gao
Bin, Ms. Liu Yan and Mr. Tang King Shing. Ms. Liu Yan is elected
as the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2020 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee together with the Management of the Company. The
Audit Committee is satisfied that such statements comply with the
applicable accounting standards and that adequate disclosures
have been made.
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Report of the Directors
EERWE

AUDITORS

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020
have been audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, who will retire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A
resolution for their re-appointment as the auditor of the Company
will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Kwong Kai Sing Benny
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong
30 March 2021
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BN B AR EE

Deloitte.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF TAI UNITED HOLDINGS LIMITED
AMERERAF

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tai
United Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 80 to
214, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2020, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2020, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZH AR EE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Key audit matter

MEETER

BRRENER

AREAFHERERMNERHE  RAHA
HGAWBREANEARSEENEH BLEF
HEERMEEE ?éﬁﬁ‘*#&%ﬁ&ﬁﬁi‘ﬁ%
ETREN R TEHELFRERERNER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEANESNAERRRENER

Valuation of investment properties

REWFEZ14E

We identified the valuation of investment properties as
a key audit matter due to the determination of the fair
value of these investment properties is dependent on
certain unobservable inputs and key assumptions that
require significant management judgments which are
assessed based on a method of valuation.
BRI EME 2 HERBREAFTEH REEE
EREREMERABICRNEIREAERRBEME
ERHE 2 ERAE & T AR BREABIE R E 2R -

All the Group's investment properties are measured
at fair value based on valuations performed by an
independent qualified professional valuer which makes
reference to market evidence of transaction prices for
similar properties in the similar location and conditions.
Details of the valuation technique and key inputs used
in the valuations are set out in Notes 4 and 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.

EEEMAREMEDRBBEYAEREELEME
ﬁZﬁ{E?ﬁ’A/L@ﬁi ° ﬁ%ﬁ KA Pt B Kt 2 2R
UM THR 5 ERBE o (LERFTA 2 BRI
&I%ﬁ@)\%ﬂﬁzpﬂ N A B mKRMET4 %19 -

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s investment
properties are carried at fair value of approximately
HK$792 million as disclosed in Note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.
MRZZTZZBEF_A=+—H  HWEGEEHEREN
FL19PTREE - Exlz&é%%mﬂﬁwzﬁé/ﬁn
ZARBEAR -
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Our procedures in relation to the valuation of investment
properties included:

BPEREMER[BEETZRRFEE

Obtaining an understanding of the key controls over the
processes that the management performed in relation to
the valuation assessment;

TZREFZEIEERE

TREEEMGEFGE

Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the independent qualified professional valuer and
obtaining an understanding of their scope of work and
terms of engagement;
TEBEIAEERBEMEMCEE - RORTEE
W T RE TESE R EERK

Challenging the valuation technique and reasonableness
of the significant inputs used by the management and
the valuer in the valuations based on our knowledge in
the property market;

ERBMEMET S THEEEERMEERMREE
FRERAR 2 R E R R R A SR 2 S IR IR HE &

Comparing the market transactions with properties
in the similar location and conditions to the market
comparables used in the valuations; and
tt?#@%ﬁ“ﬁwu%&ﬂ 1¢Zm 5 22 5 VA B Ak (B PR
Bz Mm% & LLRA

Assessing the reasonableness of specific assumptions
made by the management and valuer on adjustments to
the properties valuations, by taking into account of the
conditions, location and other individual factors.
AEEEERGEMESESGMME 2N - B R
Ef&fl%ﬂl%f&ﬁ%%%ﬁﬁﬂ%ﬂﬁz/ﬁ%ﬂ?*“Z/\
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZH AR EE

Key audit matter
BMEETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BN ESTNAEERREETER

Estimated impairment of mining rights

FRIEER 155 Bl1E

We identified the estimated impairment of mining rights
as a key audit matter due to the significant management
judgments are required to estimate the recoverable
amounts of the mining rights.

BMBERRBEENGIREABRETZE RAR
ERBGGRBERE PO & S EERE RN HE

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. The recoverable
amounts of the mining rights are determined based on
the value in use calculation and certain key assumptions.
Value in use calculation used the discounted future pre-
tax cash flows expected to be derived from the cash-
generating units that holds the mining rights. The Group
has engaged an independent qualified professional valuer
to perform such valuations. The key assumptions used
in estimating the discounted future pre-tax cash flows
include tungsten metal estimated selling price, estimated
future costs of production, estimated future operating
costs, recoverable reserves, resources and exploration
potential, discount rates and exchange rates.
AfESEARABERLEXNTEERBEE BRmE
REEZ AT RE S EDRBEERBEFERETES
REETE stHEERAEBENFEAERREFARER
CHReEABU 7 MBERRGABRCRE - EKER
ZE-—ZBEIEEREELERETABMGE - G5
%ﬁ*Xﬁwﬁ%mi%@%ZIgﬁ&ﬁ%%iE
EEHEE A AR RAEERA (At RARLEHA
RS  BREBRES BB EREXK -

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying amounts of the
mining rights in the Republic of Mongolia (“Mongolia”)
were approximately HK$82 million, net of accumulated
impairment losses of approximately HK$921 million.
Impairment losses of the mining rights amounted to
approximately HK$92 million has been recognised during
the year ended 31 December 2020.
MRIEB-ZE+_A=+—H THANB(EL]))
ZHRBEBREENS2AEE T MKk AT RERE
MNBBAT KEEREERONRBEETLER
HE_Z_ZF+_A=+—HILFE®R-

Details relating to the management impairment
assessment on the mining rights are set out in Notes 4,
21 and 22 to the consolidated financial statements.
B EHREBRE ZREN G FBEHRNGEE M
REMIFES 21220

Our procedures in relation to the estimated impairment of
mining rights included:

B RN ETOREET ZRF B

Obtaining an understanding of the key controls over the
processes that the management performed in relation
to the impairment assessment of mining rights and the
preparation of the cash flow forecasts;
TREEERRBRAET G RRER S REERE
ﬁZkFZI B

Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the independent qualified professional valuer and
obtaining an understanding of their scope of work and
terms of engagement

BV AEREEGEM EE O REEE
W RET &S E R ZRRIEH

Evaluating the reasonableness and appropriateness
of the significant inputs and assumptions including
tungsten metal estimated selling price, estimated
future costs of production, estimated future operating
costs, recoverable reserves, resources and exploration
potential, discount rates and exchange rates used by the
management and the valuer with reference to market
information, resources estimation technical report and
feasibility study report;

EREREEM2ETSER  EREERNTHRE X
Tﬁ&ﬁ%ﬁiﬁ%%muﬁﬁﬁﬁfkﬁﬁﬁﬁm
ZaBMREEN  BRESBMHGEE  AEARK
A (R RS AR A - AR R R
TK/Eljj EEIE;E&ET

Engaging our internal valuation expert to assess the
appropriateness of the valuation methodology and
discount rate used in the valuations;
ZRANPEEZERAHENGHERARBOGERER
MIRRZBE

Obtaining the sensitivity analysis from the valuer for
certain key inputs of the valuations to evaluate the
magnitude of their impacts on the results of the value in
use of mining rights;

BtERMESERE TE2HERABBNGRES
ARG B BIREEEBEEERNTEIZE

Obtaining legal opinion from the Group’s external legal
counsel in Mongolia on the legal rights and titles of the
mining rights; and

B EEERHINBEEERRREEZERRZ
EERNREREEEER R

Obtaining confirmation from the Mineral Resources
and Petroleum Authority of Mongolia that the Group’s
mining rights are still in effect and in good standing with
no official exploitation has been conducted by the Group
smce the Group’s acquisition.
ﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ&EEEﬁ%Zﬁﬂ'E%EZ
FBRNABRRGE  REHA SE W
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B AZBEV R E S

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B AZBEV R E S

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B AZBEV R E S

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B AZBEV R E S

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Lau Chi Kin, Kinson.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

30 March 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
e AMEE S

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

2020 2019
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
—EC-REF —E-NF
ior=g FET FHET
Revenue &= 5
Contracts with customers BFEEH 20,490 19,955
Leases HE 96 6,588
Net investment losses FIREEE 7 (1,832) (616)
Total @z 18,754 25,927
Other income HAbUA 8 85,911 51,353
Impairment losses reversed (recognised) FEHEEBEEXE B R
under expected credit loss model, net (BHR) RERE  F3 9 27,052 (39,641)
Other gains and losses Hth = J 518 10 49,061 150,973
Purchases and changes in inventories GFEZHEENEE (14,270) (12,473)
Employee benefits expenses EERAMX (28,216) (43,855)
Other operating expenses Hb &% 11 (33,420) (55,494)
Changes in fair value of investment SEMERNABEE
properties 19 (40,353) (72,505)
Changes in fair value of assets DERAFIELEEZEEZ
classified as held-for-sale DR EE - (17,412)
Impairment losses on mining rights R REREE 21 (92,225) (170,821)
Finance costs B TS AR AR 12 (8,867) (15,291)
Loss before tax W 35 Al 5 18 (36,573) (199,239)
Income tax credit (expense) Frisfi e (M) 13 9,339 (47,531)
Loss for the year FEBRE 14 (27,234) (246,770)
Other comprehensive income (expense):  Efth 2 mEikzs (FIs2) ¢
Items that may be reclassified HZnfEE P Z B a2 HA -
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on BEBINEREE ZEH ZH
translation of foreign operations 65,034 (17,264)
Reclassification of cumulative P R g N E TS
translation reserve upon disposal and BHO MR ELHE
deregistration of foreign operations 40 - 9,965
Other comprehensive income (expense) — 4F[& E 2 U 28 (BAsL)
for the year 65,034 (7,299)
Total comprehensive income FEZEWE (X)) #%
(expense) for the year 37,800 (254,069)

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020




Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

freBm R EM R E S
For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

2020 2019
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-RE —E-hF
ihr=g FET FHT
Loss for the year attributable to: LTALTELEFESE :
Owners of the Company ZAN/NCIEZ 2SN (26,782) (246,440)
Non-controlling interests e IR A (452) (330)
(27,234) (246,770)
Total comprehensive income LTATEGEEESZTRS
(expense) for the year (BA) 4% :
attributable to:
Owners of the Company ZAN/NCIEZZE N 37,931 (253,751)
Non-controlling interests JEERER (131) (318)
37,800 (254,069)
Loss per share BRER 17
— Basic (HK cents) —F ARG (0.51) (4.69)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e B R

At 31 December 2020 A —Z-—ZTE+-A=+—H

2020 2019
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
—EC-REF —E-NF
ior=g FET FHET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE R FE 18 2,797 9,483
Investment properties wEME 19 792,245 806,985
Intangible assets mEEE 20 4,155 4,155
Mining rights PR 21 81,791 174,016
Financial assets at fair value through BARBEFABRZ
profit or loss CREE 23 609 571
Right-of-use assets EAEEE 24 6,189 3,005
Deferred tax assets EETRIBEE 32 5,600 39
Deposit paid for acquisition of g1 N EPNEIFE ST
subsidiaries and other Be REMIERE LS
non-current deposits 27 118,765 -
Other non-current assets HmIEREh & E 6,000 6,000
1,018,151 1,004,254
Current assets mEEE
Inventories 78 25 1,955 1,700
Financial assets at fair value through BARERAEZEZ
profit or loss TREE 23 7.887 10,112
Accounts receivable FE UL BR X 26 3,701 4,244
Other receivables, deposits and Hih U RIE - #2E &
prepayments TERTFRIB 27 965,140 1,061,759
Bank balances and cash RITEH LR 28 496,862 560,240
1,475,545 1,638,055
Current liabilities REEE
Accrued liabilities and other payables FEET B & K H At FE T k1B 29 17,550 6,440
Borrowings BE 30 235,626 281,471
Other loan HA &R 31 - 120,958
Lease liabilities HEAE 33 2,383 1,853
Tax payables FEA T8 127,452 138,383
383,011 549,105
Net current assets REBEEFE 1,092,534 1,088,950
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBERE 2,110,685 2,093,204
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Deferred tax liabilities BB AE 32 - 23,027
Lease liabilities HEAE 33 3,936 1,228
3,936 24,255
Net assets EEFE 2,106,749 2,068,949
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
A B ARR BR&

At 31 December 2020 R —Z-ZTE+-A=+—H

2020 2019
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-RE —E-NF
B FERT FHET
Capital and reserves BAR®EE

Share capital %N 34 262,501 262,501
Reserves and accumulated losses e M RETE1E 1,841,625 1,803,694

Equity attributable to owners of the KRR NEGER
Company 2,104,126 2,066,195
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR R = 2,623 2,754
Total equity B 2,106,749 2,068,949

The consolidated financial statements on pages 80 to 214 were ~ $80ZE214H ZFEMBHRREN T - —F=
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directorson 30 A =+HBEEE=gG & LEEFE  WHA TR

March 2021 and are signed on its behalf by: REZF:
Mr. Kwong Kai Sing Benny Mr. Chen Weisong
BBRAAL o & BREMELE
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
2 BE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

GARREDS

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARAREAES
Other
Contributed capital Non-
Share surplus  Translation  Statutory contribution Accumulated controlling
capital reserve reserve  reserves reserve losses  Subtotal interests Total
B4 K
e BHEE EXRBE iERE IERE  EHEE Nt FERER 2
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000
Thr TERn  TEr  TET  TEn  TEx  FTEr  TEn  TER
(Note ) (Note d) (Note b)
(M) (Hitd (Wb
At 1 January 2019 RZE-N%5-A-H 262,501 3,384,080 25,608 63,907 342,848 (708994) 3,369,950 3072 3373022
Loss for the year FEBE - - - - - (64400 (46440) (330)  (246,770)
Eichange differences arsingon -~ BESINEHEL EREE
translation of foreign operations - - (17.276) - - - (17.276) 12 (17.264)
Redlassification of cumulative ~ RHUERIHKERSE
translation reserve upon disposal  Z 5 5 &
and deregistration - - 9,965 - - - 9,965 - 9,965
Other comprehensive (expense) £ £ 2 (B%) K%
income for the year - - (7311) - - - (7311) 12 (7,299)
Total comprehensive expense for & 2 E R 1838
the year - - (7311) - - (46,4000 (253,751) (318 (254,069)
Dividends recognised as BRRA k2 RE (Hzc)
distributions (Note ¢) (Note 16)  (Hf&E16) - (1,050,00) - - - - (1,050,004 - (1,050,004
Transfer of statutory reserves 3B S HHEAT S ST
to accumulated losses for a i T B 2L S
deregistered subsidiary RRARZRIBR - - - (35,907) - 35,907 - - -
Transfer to statutory reserves ERTETRE - - - 36,120 - (36,120) - - -
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NETZA=1-H 262501 2,334,076 18,297 64,120 342,848 (955,647) 2,066,195 2,754 2,068,949
Loss for the year EEpE - - - - - (678)  (26782) (@52)  (21,34)
Exchange differences arisngon~ BEGINEHEEZ
translation of foreign operations [ 5 £% - - 64,713 - - - 64,713 m 65,034
Total comprehensive income EESEWS(HY)E8
(expense) for the year - - 64,713 - - (26,782) 37,931 (131) 37,800
Transfer tostatutory reserves BT ETEE - - - 7,666 - (7,666) - - -
At 31 December 2020 ROECTEFIAST-E 26501 2334076 83010 71786 342848 (990,095 2,104,126 2623 2,106,749
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

N

GARREDE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

Notes:

The contributed surplus reserve of the Group arose as a result of the
Group reorganisation prior to its public listing on 2 October 1995 and
represents the difference between the nominal value of the shares
of the former holding company of the Group acquired pursuant to
the Group reorganisation, over the nominal value of the shares of
the Company issued in exchange therefore; and it also comprised
the entire amount of share premium amounting to approximately
HK$4,926,818,000 transferred to contributed surplus reserve on 30
October 2017.

The other capital contribution reserve comprised the initial fair value
adjustment of approximately HK$7,312,000 on other loan from a
third party, which was under common control by a former director
of the Company who resigned on 5 December 2018 (details are set
out in Note 31) and the reserve as a result of the Group’s disposal
of its listed equity securities to Solis Capital Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the ultimate holding company of the Group,
at a cash consideration of approximately HK$2,359,817,000,
where the consideration received over the quoted price of the listed
equity securities at completion date amounted to approximately
HK$335,536,000 was recognised in other capital contribution reserve
in August 2018, while the related loss in fair value of these listed
equity securities as at the date of disposal was recognised in profit
or loss and included as changes in fair value of financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL") during the year ended 31
December 2018.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), a
company may not declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution
out of contributed surplus reserve, if there are reasonable grounds
for believing that (i) the company is, or would after the payment
be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or (ii) the
realisable value of the company’s assets would thereby be less
than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and
share premium accounts. Otherwise the contributed surplus reserve
is distributable. During the year ended 31 December 2019, the
Company had distributed dividends from contributed surplus reserve
amounted to approximately HK$1,050,004,000 to the shareholders
of the Company.

According to the relevant rules and regulations in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"), each of the Company's PRC
subsidiaries shall transfer 10% of their net profit after tax, based on
the subsidiary’s PRC statutory accounts, as statutory reserves, until the
balance reaches 50% of the respective subsidiary’s registered capital.
Further appropriations can be made at the directors’ discretion. The
statutory reserves can be used to offset any accumulated losses or
convert into paid-up capital of the respective subsidiary.

Wi

(a)

(@)

FEBEZEHRBBERLEBAR—AAAFTA
“HAMLEMATEITEBEMAMES - HIERIER
SEEAMBRBAREENERARZROEE B
HHEZKEmMETZARRROEEZ 25 HIT
BRER-_ZE—+tHE+AZTREREESEHRLGHEE
2 B0 B 2 250 e B8 494,926,818,00078 7T ©

Hi s EMEREHARRMESE (R —N\&F
+ZARBET HAZHZREE=FHEME
A FHBENME31) 918 A R EFEA 7,312,000
7T R A S B A € (B #2,359,817,000 7% 7T [A)
Solis Capital Limited (7~ 5 & & &R A A1) 2 & MY
BRR)HEE ETRAESELNRHE - AT
WREMRY EMRAEBEAHNTABRENSEELD
335,536,000 8 TR =T — NFNAREMETERH
BRAER MREEEHZSELTRAZESFANAE
ZHBBADREETHER Y ABE-Z—N
FHZA=+—HUEFEZRAAEBNABZ (X
AREFABRZD)ZEREEANEEZS -

REBEBRE-NAN-FREEER)  WEE
IR AR ARME () A AR IR A B Sk M R AR R D IR R
BEREABEAIBZAE  KMAANEEZA
EHEEESEAMERNEBEREDETRAER
B RE  MZARNIFERIORMBS R
ERABRBTELYIR - SRR DIREARGHE
H-REE-_Z-NF+-_A=+—-BILFERN"
ARFCEEHBBREEPRAARBRRY KBS
#91,050,004,000 7 T, ©

RIBPEARKMBE ([FE]) 2 BEDERIER
AEESHTENBARSASETEIAERE T
SRR FENZ10% B REATEHM BEEH
EHARETZMBARGEMERS0% I -BHES
ABRBIEREIMNER - BB AR DA CRER
FREEHE R EIRRE AR -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= Al AN E
%, = Eﬁiulbi

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$'000
—E-EF —ET—NF
FER FHET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES FEE—F 373
Loss before tax BT 1R (36,573) (199,239)
Adjustments for: KAETY&EIE
Changes in fair value of investment properties &4 % 2 A fo (E & & 40,353 72,505
Changes in fair value of assets classified as DERFIELEZEEY
held-for-sale NIEEE - 17,412
Changes in fair value of structured deposits EBETFRZANES (5,746) (1,594)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #% - BB M RE 2T E 5,655 7,541
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEENE 3,195 6,418
Finance costs B 75 A AR 8,867 15,291
Net gains on disposal and deregistration of HERFHINBAR - BRAE
subsidiaries, a limited partnership and a NCIDSE g od
structured entity Wz 588 - (172,504)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE  BERZBEERE
equipment 1,183 896
Interest income MEYWA (83,594) (26,536)
Impairment losses (reversed) recognised EHREEHEEEAETH (BEE)
under expected credit loss model, net BRERRERTE - F58 (27,052) 39,641
Impairment losses on mining rights g REBE 92,225 170,821
Reparation interest income from previously BLARTREERE K
redeemed loan note receivable SREBERSWA - (23,551)
Unrealised exchange (gains) losses REBREH (&) EiE (44,876) 19,026
Operating cash flows before movements in LEESBYFI LEReRE
working capital (46,363) (73,873)
Increase in inventories FEE N (134) (403)
Decrease (increase) in financial assets at FVTPL AR EFAEBRZ 2 HEE
A (35 0) 1,833 (38)
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable JFE UG BR 2R (18 00) SR > (434) 86,667
(Increase) decrease in other receivables, Hib i siE - e &
deposits and prepayments TE IR (8 n) w4 (6,681) 22,505
Decrease in accounts payable JE A BR FORL - (735)
Increase (decrease) in accrued liabilities EET R BEREMENIE
and other payables 30 CRl ) 11,002 (18,619)
Cash (used in) generated from operations wE (FrA) B z2Re (40,777) 15,504
Income tax paid B ATER (35,828) (1,309)
Dividend received 2R S 392 173
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM REXK (AR IBE2REFE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES (76,213) 14,368
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

,\/ < fﬁimui%

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

2020 2019
NOTES HK$°000 HK$'000
—EB-EF —ZT—NF
s F#&xT FHT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEE
Placement of structured deposits FABEREIEFR (281,029) (336,399)
Loan advances to third parties BNTFE=ZFTZER (120,000) (272,479)
Deposit paid for acquisition of subsidiaries U B i & A 7 2 (M &)i% & 45 (118,075) -
Acquisition of property, plant and e - BB k&
equipment (202) (269)
Proceeds from redemption of structured  B& [8] 45 #1750 2 TS KA
deposits 286,775 556,997
Proceeds from disposal receivable of HEMMNAKEEEESTE
Hangzhou Tai Rong Asset Management 758/ &) JE U 2k B 18 2h1E
Co., Ltd 219,203 -
Repayments of loan receivables BEREKER 120,000 209,511
Interest received B RS 57,256 26,536
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HE¥E - FE M RE2
and equipment FR1SRIR 140 2,065
Net cash inflows from disposal of HEWMB AR ZRE RAERE
subsidiaries 40 - 444,251
Acquisition of investment properties IR E Y= = (17,412)
Payment of rental deposit Heke 2R - (102)
NET CASH FROM INVESTING REFHRBZREFHE
ACTIVITIES 164,068 612,699
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEEE
Repayment of other loan EREEMER (112,915) -
Repayment of bank borrowings EERITHER (64,897) (154,102)
Interest paid BEfRFLE (8,867) (15,291)
Repayments of lease liabilities BERMEERE (2,997) (6,169)
Proceeds from bank borrowings raised ~ E&ERITEE Z FA1EFIA 13,374 -
Dividends paid EHH % 8 - (1,050,004)
Repayment of other borrowings EEHEMEER - (166,590)
Proceeds from other borrowings raised £ HE & & ~ Fri5 7@ - 165,000
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING BMETHMACRE FHE
ACTIVITIES (176,302) (1,227,156)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
meERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #{Z —E—TF+_A=+—HIFE

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-EfF —ZT—NF
F#&ET FET
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH ReRERBELEB R FE
EQUIVALENTS (88,447) (600,089)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE RENZELRZEEESER
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 560,240 1,168,022
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE IEERSE 2
CHANGES 25,069 (7,693)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT REXRZELRZEELER
THE END OF THE YEAR 496,862 560,240
REPRESENTED BY Bp
Bank balances and cash R MIRe 496,862 560,240
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T e B R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Tai United Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated
in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability
and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). In the opinion of the
directors of the Company, the Company’s immediate holding
company is Songbird SG PTE. Ltd., a company incorporated
in British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) with limited liability and its
ultimate holding company is Satinu Resources Group Ltd.,
a company incorporated in BVI with limited liability. The
registered office of the Company is located at Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda and the
principal place of business of the Company is Room 2902,
29th Floor, China United Centre, 28 Marble Road, North
Point, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are
set out in Note 44.

The consolidated financial statements presented in Hong
Kong Dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.

—REH

AMZERERAR ((ARE]) REFET
MR —BERRERAT  ERORE
BHAERSGHERLAE ([BRFAT]) Ehe
RRBIEERE  ARRZEBIEBRARB
Songbird SG PTE. Ltd. (—A R EBE X B 5
([EBERZHS) Mk Iz B8R AT -
i Songbird SG PTE. Ltd. 2 & R ZER R A &
Satinu Resources Group Ltd. (— A E B iE &
BHEAMEIY ZERAR]) « RARZFM
## F BE L 7 Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda » "2 &) 2 T E &
FHEMNEAILASEE28REEF 1,29
12902 F ©

RRAR R —EREERARMARREZH
BRARZ EEXBEHNKIL -

maBBmRIAETL(DET]) 25 8K
REIZ L EWH—B -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the Amendments
to References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS
Standards and the following amendments to HKFRSs issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA") for the first time, which are mandatorily effective
for the annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020
for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1 and Definition of Material
HKAS 8
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

In addition, the Group has early applied the Amendment to
HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions.

Except as described below, the application of the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in
HKFRS Standards and the amendments to HKFRSs and the
interpretation in the current year has had no material impact
on the Group’s financial performance and positions for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

2.1

2.2

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8 Definition of Material

The Group has applied the Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8 for the first time in the current year. The
amendments provide a new definition of material that
states “information is material if omitting, misstating or
obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements, which provide financial information about a
specific reporting entity.” The amendments also clarify
that materiality depends on the nature or magnitude
of information, either individually or in combination
with other information, in the context of the financial
statements taken as a whole.

The application of the amendments in the current year
had no impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 3
Definition of a Business

The Group has applied the amendments for the first
time in the current year. The amendments clarify that
while businesses usually have outputs, outputs are not
required for an integrated set of activities and assets
to qualify as a business. To be considered a business,
an acquired set of activities and assets must include,
at a minimum, an input and a substantive process that
together significantly contribute to the ability to create
outputs.

The amendments remove the assessment of whether
market participants are capable of replacing any missing
inputs or processes and continuing to produce outputs.
The amendments also introduce additional guidance
that helps to determine whether a substantive process
has been acquired.

PR S 5T B B B A S5 2
(EBHBREZR ) @

RAFERFER 2 EBTE LY
BHREEA @)

2.1 BREEBETERZEIRREEEHE
RIE8HIEFT A EA K E B HI &

NEBMRAFEERERETBSHEL
FIR KBS ST ERNESRIBET A -
ZEFABER—mREFEE 5
[ & RHE R - 85 58 FR ul ok P2 I B R
AIAEMTEBTERERENEER
FHELTBHRROER FEHARE
BIZERBEKX] - ZETRNESB
REEETER (BB EEME R
AEA) ERBUBRENVELERIEE -

RAFEREBZETRNEGREMBRE
Iﬁ{{%f ZEFSO

22 BREBHBHREGEREIRIETEF
BHEZEHZE

AEBRAFEERERZETAR -
BRIRNER BEXBKBE ﬁﬁ?ﬁj
B—HEEBRANEH NEEBAE DT
NEBERBRER - FARBN—EEH
MEEEVABERARBAIEELS
BEEREROBRANELGLEBRE He
WARNERTS ©

ZIERT AN IZ2EERT BRI
REMRENBRALBIERFEREE
HEY R o ZIERT A TRS| ABESMES]
EYETEECESEL LSRR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

2.2 Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 3
Definition of a Business (Continued)

In addition, the amendments introduce an optional
concentration test that permits a simplified assessment
of whether an acquired set of activities and assets
is not a business. Under the optional concentration
test, the acquired set of activities and assets is not a
business if substantially all of the fair value of the gross
assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable
asset or group of similar assets. The gross assets under
assessment exclude cash and cash equivalents, deferred
tax assets, and goodwill resulting from the effects
of deferred tax liabilities. The election on whether to
apply the optional concentration test is available on
transaction-by-transaction basis.

The amendments had no impact on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group but may impact
future periods should the Group make any acquisition.

2.3 Impacts on early application of Amendment to
HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions

The Group has applied the amendment for the first
time in the current year. The amendment introduces a
new practical expedient for lessees to elect not to assess
whether a Covid-19-related rent concession is a lease
modification. The practical expedient only applies to
rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence of
the Covid-19 that meets all of the following conditions:

e the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the
lease immediately preceding the change;

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

2.3 Impacts on early application of Amendment to
HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions
(Continued)

e any reduction in lease payments affects only
payments originally due on or before 30 June
2021; and

e there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts
for changes in lease payments resulting from rent
concessions the same way it would account for the
changes applying HKFRS 16 Leases (“HKFRS 16") if the
changes were not a lease modification. Forgiveness or
waiver of lease payments are accounted for as variable
lease payments. The related lease liabilities are adjusted
to reflect the amounts forgiven or waived with a
corresponding adjustment recognised in the profit or
loss in the period in which the event occurs.

The application of the amendment had no impact to
the opening accumulated losses at 1 January 2020. The
Group has benefited from 3 months waiver of lease
payments on office premise in Hong Kong. The Group
has derecognised the part of lease liability that has
been extinguished by the forgiveness of lease payments
using the discount rates originally applied to these
leases respectively, resulting in a decrease in the lease
liabilities of approximately HK$345,000, which has been
recognised as variable lease payments in profit or loss
for the current year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fRA M EERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue
but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:
HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKFRS 3
Amendments to HKFRS 9,

HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments'

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform —
Phase 24

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling
a Contract?

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018 - 20202

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2022

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2021

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned
below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs
will have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification
of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

The amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for
at least twelve months from reporting date for classification
of liabilities as current or non-current, which:

e specify that the classification of liabilities as current
or non-current should be based on rights that are in
existence at the end of the reporting period. Specifically,
the amendments clarify that:

(i) the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to settle
the liability within 12 months; and

(i) if the right is conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the right exists if the conditions are
met at the end of the reporting period, even if the
lender does not test compliance until a later date;
and

e clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the
option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by
the transfer of the entity’s own equity instruments,
these terms do not affect its classification as current
or non-current only if the entity recognises the option
separately as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a
consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the
corresponding wordings with no change in conclusion.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31
December 2020, the application of the amendments will not
result in reclassification of the Group’s liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary users.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements,
the directors of the Company have given careful
consideration to the future liquidity of the Group in
light of the fact that up to the date of approval for
issuance of this consolidated financial statements, a
company established in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC") to be acquired under very substantial
acquisitions of shopping mall businesses in the PRC as
described in Note 45, B/ EE A X FZEHREBRE A
A (the “Guangzhou Target Company”), have reached
an agreement in principle with Bank of Jinzhou Co.,
Ltd., Shanghai Road Branch (the “Bank of Jinzhou")
regarding the renewal of bank borrowings with the
principal amount of approximately RMB1,370,000,000
(equivalents approximately to HK$1,628,245,000)
(“Guangzhou Bank Loan”) which originally due in
January 2021 and undergoing the internal approval
process of the Bank of Jinzhou. If the Guangzhou Bank
Loan has not been successfully renewed subsequent
to the completion of the acquisition of Guangzhou
Target Company and being enforceable for repayment,
the Group may not have sufficient resources to settle
the acquisition considerations of very substantial
acquisitions of shopping mall businesses and repay the
Guangzhou Bank Loan with interest accrued to the
Bank of Jinzhou, given that the Group has net current
assets approximately HK$1,092,534,000 included bank
balances and cash of approximately HK$496,862,000 as
at 31 December 2020.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (Continued)

In March 2021, the Group had entered into an
undertaking arrangement with Dai Yongge (“Mr.
Dai”), the ultimate controlling party of the Seller as
defined in Note 45, that if the Guangzhou Bank Loan
has not been successfully renewed subsequent to the
completion of the acquisition of Guangzhou Target
Company and being enforceable for repayment, Mr. Dai
will irrevocably fulfil his personal obligations under this
undertaking arrangement to repay all amounts of the
Guangzhou Bank Loan due with interest accrued to the
Bank of Jinzhou. In case of such event happened, the
Group has agreed to repay Mr. Dai’s settlement amount
within 13 months from his settlement date or when
financing on Guangzhou Target Company is available to
the Group for repayment, whenever earlier.

Taking into account of the internally available funds,
non-current assets held or to be acquired by the Group
and the undertaking obtained from Mr. Dai, the
directors of the Company are confident that the Group
will be able to meet its financial obligations and settle
the consideration payable of very substantial acquisitions
of shopping mall businesses when they fall due in
the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain
properties and financial instruments that are measured
at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 16 and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in
use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties
which are transacted at fair value and a valuation
technique that unobservable inputs are to be used to
measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation
technique is calibrated so that the results of the
valuation technique equals the transaction price.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.1

3.2

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of
the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,
which are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the

asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control
is achieved when the Company:

e has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

e the Group's performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct good
or service.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after
the date of initial application or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date,
as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contracts are
subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee
Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of car parks that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option. Lease payments
on short-term leases are recognised as expense on a
straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the
lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities,
other than adjustments to lease liabilities resulting from
Covid-19-related rent concessions in which the Group
applied the practical expedient.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments ("HKFRS 9”) and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

3.

o
AN

7

PAN
>
= s
=

4

BBk ZEHEERES
BUR (&)

3.2 EXEFHE M@

HE (#)

AEFERABA (F)

ERAEEE

EREEENKARRE :

HERBEMVTHESHE

o  RRAMBHKZAELAEAEE
5% BEMNEREEES

o AEEBEEAMNEAVTEERA
K

o AEEHRHEBHREBEE ER
HEEEMESHAERBEEE
EHE R G PR E B AR B
BIERPTE LM EEARA

1 A E TR AR Rt I & KOs E
BEGE UREEHEABNEMER
FEFLRE  AKREE2019EREE
RERZASRRMERNAITERS
EMERHNEE | EHERRI -

AEERGZEMBIARABEREE
E2REFEAR -

EREESRE

ENTREHEESRE HREEEM KR
SRANEIF M T A (BB BRE
HRFE IR ABRAMFRASMETE -
AT 27 HERR B B 3 X AR (B 1 H A S B4R
BREIMEENRLFT AL BEEERK
7 o

AMZERBRRE — S -_TFFR



104

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

e variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at the commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

e the exercise of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

e payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising an
option to terminate the lease.

When a lease contract contains a specific clause that
provides for rent reduction or suspension of rent
in the event that the underlying assets (or any part
thereof) are affected by adverse events beyond the
control of the Group and the lessor so as to render
the underlying assets unfit or not available for use, the
relevant rent reduction or suspension of rent resulting
from the specific clause is accounted for as part of the
original lease and not as a lease modification. Such rent
reduction or suspension of rent is recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which the event or condition that
triggers those payments to occur.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

e the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

e the lease payments change due to changes
in market rental rates following a market rent
review, in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which
the Group applied the practical expedient, the Group
accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

e the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modifications (Continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use assets. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price
of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone
price of the non-lease components.

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct
consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has
elected to apply the practical expedient not to assess
whether the change is a lease modification if all of the
following conditions are met:

e the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the
lease immediately preceding the change;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Covid-19-related rent concessions (Continued)

° any reduction in lease payments affects only
payments originally due on or before 30 June
2021; and

e there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts
for changes in lease payments resulting from rent
concessions the same way it would account for the
changes applying HKFRS 16 if the changes are not
a lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of lease
payments are accounted for as variable lease payments.
The related lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the
amounts forgiven or waived with a corresponding
adjustment recognised in the profit or loss in the period
in which the event occurs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs
are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term except for investment properties
measured under fair value model.

Rental income which are derived from the Group's
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that
were not part of the original terms and conditions are
accounted for as lease modifications, including lease
incentives provided through forgiveness or reduction of
rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating
lease as a new lease from the effective date of the
modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to the original lease as part of the
lease payments for the new lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
foreign operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income
and expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading
of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an
interest in an associate that includes a foreign operation
of which the retained interest becomes a financial
asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in
equity in respect of that operation attributable to the
owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs not directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and the grants will be
received.

Government grants relate to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are presented under “other
income”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the state-managed retirement benefit
schemes in relation to employees of the Company’s
subsidiaries in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC"), Singapore and United Kingdom (“UK") and
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme in relation to
employees of the Company’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong
are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the
inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave
and sick leave) after deducting any amount already paid.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from loss before
tax because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries and associate, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments are only recognised to the extent
that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse
in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale,
unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is
rebutted when the investment property is depreciable
and is held within a business model whose objective is
to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time, rather
than through sale, except for freehold land, to recover
or settle the carrying amount of its asset and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable
to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes requirements to right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities separately. Temporary
differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition
and over the lease terms due to application of the
initial recognition exemption. Temporary differences
arising from subsequent revision to the carrying
amounts of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities,
resulting from remeasurement of lease liabilities and
lease modifications, that are not subject to initial
recognition exemption are recognised on the date of
remeasurement or modification.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity respectively. When current tax or
deferred tax arises from initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for business combination.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments,
the Group considers whether it is probable that the
relevant tax authority will accept the uncertain tax
treatment used, or proposed to be used by individual
group entities in their income tax filings. If it is probable,
the current and deferred taxes are determined
consistently with the tax treatment in the income tax
filings. If it is not probable that the relevant taxation
authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the
effect of each uncertainty is reflected by using either the
most likely amount or the expected value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the supply of goods and services
or for administrative purposes. Property, plant and
equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of assets less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant
and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset
and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are measured at fair value, adjusted to exclude any
prepaid or accrued operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for
the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits
are expected from its disposal. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss
in the period in which the property is derecognised.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that

are acquired separately are carried at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Mining rights

Mining rights that are acquired separately are carried
at cost less any accumulated impairment losses and
are subject to amortisation upon commissioning of the
mine for production. Amortisation of mining rights is
recognised using the unit-of-production method based
on the actual production volume over the estimated
total recoverable reserves contained in proven and
probable reserves at the related mine.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, mining rights and intangible
assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and mining rights to
determine whether there is any indication that these
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss (if any). Intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment at least
annually, and whenever there is an indication that they
may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, mining rights and
intangible assets are estimated individually. When it
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, mining rights and intangible
assets (Continued)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be established, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount
of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-
generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, mining rights and intangible
assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group
of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount
of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest
of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its
value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of
the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined
on a first-in, first-out method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories less
all estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way
purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for accounts receivable
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL") are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income and interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts and payments (including all fees paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial
asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

e on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at the
amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

U

(ii)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of
the financial asset from the next reporting period.
If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit-impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with
any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit
or loss. The net gains or losses of listed equity
securities and their related dividends or interests
are included in the “net investment losses” as set
out in Note 7 and the remaining gains or losses of
other financial assets at FVTPL are included in the
"other gains and losses” as set out in Note 10.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
(including accounts receivable, other receivables and
deposits and bank balances) which are subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes
in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
(“12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessments are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for accounts
receivable. The ECL on these assets are assessed
individually for debtors with significant balances and
collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate
groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

o an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes
that the credit risk on a debt instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition
if the debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk
if i) it has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations. The Group
considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk
when it has an internal or external credit rating of
"investment grade” as per globally understood
definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk and revises
them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(i)  Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.

(i)  Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events of default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence
that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower,;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted
to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is
in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the
case of accounts receivable, when the amounts
are over two years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries
are recognised in profit or loss.

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020

AR

Mﬁ%%?fﬁ%%&i

2
REst

32 EXEREER@®

=@M A (&)

EHEE (&)

EREEZRE(F)

(iii)

(iv)

EERESREE(F)

d) fERABARERABRESE
I BEE 3%

() & WA ENERD S AN
B 13 2% -

i $H B R

EEERBRRSHEF B AR
EHA - B EERERWE AT 8
K (PR S5EFHFEEEIEA
WERF) SmafBamE (3t
JEWBE M E) (AR EHA%E) -
rEESEMHEERERE - EMHED
SREEDIREBEASBEMYEE
FFEREEGINT  EEEBRTZE
EERER - W?Wﬁﬁiﬂﬂiéﬁﬁﬁj‘
18 o A ZIREIEE R ER



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights. The Group
uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL on
accounts receivable using a provision matrix taking
into consideration historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL for accounts receivable are considered
on a collective basis taking into consideration past
due information and relevant credit information
such as forward looking macroeconomic
information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

. Nature of financial instruments (i.e. certain
of the Group’s accounts receivable are each
assessed as a separate group. Accounts
receivable with significant outstanding
balances are assessed for ECL on an
individual basis);
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
o Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue
to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of accounts receivable and other
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the assets
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net
of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities including other payables, borrowings

and other loan are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities
that do not result in derecognition, the carrying amount
of the relevant financial liabilities will be calculated
at the present value of the modified contractual cash
flows discounted at the financial liabilities’ original
effective interest rate. Transaction costs or fees incurred
are adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified
financial liabilities and are amortised over the remaining
term. Any adjustment to the carrying amount of the
financial liability is recognised in profit or loss at the
date of modification.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgments in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgments, apart from these
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities arising
from investment properties, that are measured using the fair
value model, the directors of the Company have reviewed
the Group's investment property portfolio and concluded
that the Group’s investment properties are not held under a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time. Therefore, in determining the Group’s
deferred taxation on investment properties, the directors of
the Company have determined that the presumption that the
carrying amounts of investment properties measured using
the fair value model are recovered entirely through sale is
not rebutted. For the Group’s investment properties located
in the UK, the Group has not recognised any deferred tax on
changes in fair value of investment properties as the Group is
not subject to any income taxes on the fair value changes of
the investment properties on disposal.

Principal versus agent consideration (principal)

The Group engages in trading of medical equipment. The
Group concluded that the Group acts as the principal for
such transactions as it controls the specified good before it
is transferred to the customer after taking into consideration
indicators such as i) the Group is primarily responsible for
fulfilling the promise to provide the medical equipment, ii)
the Group has inventory risk before the medical equipment
have been transferred to the customers and iii) the Group
has discretion in establishing the selling price for medical
equipment.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
recognised revenue amounting to approximately
HK$20,490,000 (2019: HK$19,955,000) relating to trading
of medical equipment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets within
the next financial year.

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair value based on the
valuation performed by independent professional valuers. The
determination of the fair value involves certain assumptions
of market conditions which are set out in Note 19.

In relying on the valuation report, the directors of the
Company have exercised their judgement and are satisfied
that the method of valuation is reflective of the current
market conditions. Whilst the Group considers valuations of
the Group’s investment properties are the best estimates, the
ongoing Covid-19 pandemic has resulted in greater market
volatility depending on how the Covid-19 pandemic may
progress and evolve, which have led to higher degree of
uncertainties in respect of the valuations in the current year.
Changes to these assumptions, including the potential risk of
any market violation, policy, geopolitical and social changes
or other unexpected incidents as a result of change in
macroeconomic environment, travel restrictions implemented
by many countries, increased complexity in international
trade tensions geopolitics, changes in policy direction and/or
mortgage requirements, or other unexpected incidents would
result in changes in the fair values of the Group's investment
properties and the corresponding adjustments to the amount
of gain or loss reported in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

The directors of the Company have performed internal
assessment on the risks of change in macroeconomic
environment through performing sensitivity analysis in
relation to the Group’s investment properties.

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying amount of the Group'’s

investment properties is approximately HK$792,245,000
(2019: HK$806,985,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Estimated impairment of mining rights

While assessing whether any indications of impairment exist
for mining rights, consideration is given to both external
and internal sources of information. External sources of
information of the Group includes changes in the market,
economic and legal environment in which the Group operates
that are not within its control and affect the recoverable
amount of the mining rights. Internal sources of information
includes the manner in which the mining rights are being
used or are expected to be used and indications of economic
performance of the assets and operating results. The carrying
amounts of mining rights are reviewed for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 /mpairment of Assets whenever
certain events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable.

Mining rights are assessed annually to determine whether
there is any indication of impairment. The Group’s cash-
generating unit (“CGU") for impairment assessment of
mining rights is the cash-generating unit that holds mining
rights (the “Mining CGU").

When an impairment review is undertaken, recoverable
amount is assessed by reference to the higher of 1) value in
use (“VIU") and 2) fair value less costs of disposal (“FVLCD").
The best evidence of FVLCD is the value obtained from an
active market or binding sales agreement. Where neither
exists, FVLCD is based on the best information available to
reflect the amount the Group could receive for the Mining
CGU in an arm’s length transaction. The recoverable amount
of the mining rights are determined based on the VIU
calculation and certain key assumptions. VIU calculation used
the discounted future pre-tax cash flows expected to be
derived from the Mining CGU and the Group has engaged
an independent qualified professional valuer to perform
such valuation. The key assumptions used in estimating the
discounted future pre-tax cash flows are tungsten metal
estimated selling price, estimated future costs of production,
estimated future operating costs, recoverable reserves,
resources and exploration potential, discount rates and
exchange rates. Changes in these key assumptions can result
in changes of the carrying amounts of the Group’s mining
rights that may impact the profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Estimated impairment of mining rights (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, impairment
losses amounted to approximately HK$92,225,000 (2019:
HK$170,821,000) has recognised for the mining rights as the
recoverable amounts are lower than the respective carrying
amounts. Details of the mining rights are disclosed in Note 21
and impairment test in Note 22.

Provision of ECL for accounts receivable and other
receivables

Accounts receivable with significant balances and credit-
impaired and other receivables are assessed for ECL
individually.

In addition, the Group uses practical expedient in estimating
ECL on accounts receivable which are not assessed
individually using a provision matrix. The provision rates
are based on internal credit ratings as groupings of various
debtors taking into consideration the Group’s historical
default rates and forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue costs or
effort. At every reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group’s trade receivables
and contract assets are disclosed in Note 38(b).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T
For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

5. REVENUE 5. Wz

() Disaggregation of revenue for () EFENWEHES :
contracts with customers:

Medical equipment

trading
BEIHFES
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
—EC-BF —ZE-NF
THET FHT
Types of goods Em@En
Sales of medical equipment HEBERE 20,490 19,955
Geographical markets i & 35
The PRC H 20,490 19,955
Timing of revenue recognition W 2 T AR A
At a point in time P —FE 20,490 19,955
Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from BT -_TER-_ZE—-NLF+=A
contracts with customers with the amounts disclosed = t+t—HILFE UTHIBEFEHK
in the segment information for the years ended 31 mE D EBE R FTHESR B R

December 2020 and 2019:

Segment revenue

k-l
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E_EZF —E-NF
F#ET FAT
Revenue from contracts with EEE#H W
customers
— Medical equipment trading —BEREES 20,490 19,955
Leases HE 96 6,588
Total revenue Ul 7 20,586 26,543
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

5. REVENUE (continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts
with customers

Sales of medical equipment

The Group sells medical equipment to distributors
and non-distributors comprising hospitals in the PRC.
Contracts with the Group’s customers are mainly
short term and fixed price contracts. The revenue is
recognised when control of the goods has transferred,
being when the goods have been shipped to the
customers’ specific location (delivery) on which the
customers obtain control of the goods. Following
delivery, the customers has full discretion over the
manner of distribution and price to sell the goods, has
the primary responsibility when on selling the goods
and bears the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation
to the goods.

(iii) Transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligation for
contracts with customers

The Group has no remaining (unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied) performance obligations as at 31 December
2020 and 2019.

5 W= @)
(i) EXEFESHNCEBHNER

HEERRE

AEBADHEAIEDHE (BHEPE
B HEBERB AKBZEFA
MEBEREMEEEEREH - E@Mm
ZEHgECERE NEARERNER
FiEEzE (X)) - EFREEME
ZHIERERE G c RRTE - BFA
ERMBRAERESTALBAREE X
AEEEEm I EEEREmRER
BBz R -

IBTFEFENNBRTENE
ENRZ B

RZE_ZEFR_ZFT—NLF+_A
=+—B FAEEBMESKRTREANRTCK
ENE D AREK) ©

(iv) Leases (iv) HE
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
b e 32 —ZE-NF
FTERT FHET
Revenue arising from operating leases: &% 1 & & 4 fy 3 :
Lease payments that are fixed B EMEE R 96 6,588
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. DEER

Information reported to the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company, being the chief operating decision maker
("CODM"), for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on types of
goods or services delivered or rendered.

In light of the heightened unpredictability of oil price coupled
with unprecedented decrease in demand for petrochemical
and metal-related products, the Group was not active in
engaging in the trading of petrochemical and metal-related
products since 2019. The directors of the Company decided
to cease its commodity trading business in current year and
the “Commodity and medical equipment trading” segment
has renamed as “Medical equipment trading” segment.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments under HKFRS 8
are as follows:

(i)  Property investment segment — property investment and
leasing of properties;

(i) Medical equipment trading segment;

(i)  Mining and exploitation of natural resources segment —
mining and production of tungsten resources activities
in the Republic of Mongolia (“Mongolia”); and

(iv)  Financial services and asset management segment by
aggregating different operating segments including
trading equity securities and derivatives and managing
of assets arising from acquisition of distressed debts
assets.

AAARTREH NEELBREE ([
SHBREE]) SRUAPEERRTEDE
KB ER  EPRORHERDEBZEY
AR5 AE

ERNREREMELENERICERRSBME
BEMBREARY  AEEBE_T—NF
BIEEBRYEAtERLCBHEBERE
PEB - ARAESAERAFELRILHR
mEHER &Wﬁuu& LEREES ] HH
ERERAIEEREES]HEL-

H4

<

$%‘%Z

CIREE B S R
E2WHEMAT

ERIERE A

() PMERENHB-MEREREEME

(i) BEXKBEZIDE:

(i) FBERHRRAERD BN E XM
(K& ) 2 FREREEREERLE
&

vy TRBRBLEEERDB-TRLES

MEABRREERAZTFRITETA
RBBETREBEEMELZEEER -

AFZERARDT — T -TFFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #{Z —E—TF+_A=+—HIFE

* English translated name is for identification purpose only.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. DEER @
Segment revenue and results DEU R A
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and NTRIZEERA RS IE S 2 AEBU
results by operating and reportable segments. mREE DN -
For the year ended 31 December 2020 BE-_ZE-_EF+-A=+—HILEE
Mining and Financial
Medical  exploitation services
Property equipment of natural and asset
investment trading resources management Total
BR HERER SREBEBR
MERE REES ARER BEEE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TER TR TET TER
Segment revenue k16 % 20,490 - - 20,586
Segment net investment AHEREER

losses - - - (1,832) (1,832)
Total @t 96 20,490 - (1,832) 18,754
Segment results PMEE (55,858) (1,792) (93,876) (5,504) (157,030)
Interest income from HEMMNAREEER

consideration receivable from AR A A ([HMAK])

disposal of MINAKEEEE MELEZELRNKEZ

B2 Hangzhou TaiRong | EUTA

Asset Management Co. Ltd.*

("Hangzhou Tai Rong”) 76,923
Net foreign exchange gains R e 44,498
Changes in fair value of BERGEIZ

structured deposits AREED 5,746
Impairment losses reversed on it E-fth FE 42 7B |2

other receivables and FEUFI SR EL2

interest receivables WEEE 28,336
Unallocated interest income RAOBEFBHA 6,643
Unallocated finance costs AP EBIERAR (99)
Central administration costs RRITHRE X (41,590)
Loss before tax BB AIER (36,573)
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GRE TR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Segment revenue and results (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2019

DEE R (@)
DEUW = R K E (E)
BE-_ZFE—NF+-A=+—HIFE

Commodity Mining and Financial
and medical exploitation services
Property equipment of natural and asset
investment trading resources  management Total
HmkBE RBEREE T RRH
MERE HZEESH AABR REEER Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT T THT THT FRT
Segment revenue an: 6 6,588 19,955 - - 26,543
Segment net investment PHFREER
losses - - - (616) (616)
Total st 6,588 19,955 - (616) 25,927
Segment results DHMEE (107,105) (8,712) (173,748) 9,371 (280,194)
Net gains on disposal and HERFHEIBAR
deregistration of subsidiaries, ~ BRA BN R REEH
a limited partnership and a BRI REFE
structured entity 172,504
HEMM AL
Interest income from FIEE 2 BB 2R
consideration receivable BIA
from disposal of
Hangzhou Tai Rong 12,117
Net foreign exchange losses [ EBFE (22,229)
Changes in fair value of et \Eﬁ Z
structured deposits B 1,594
Impairment losses recognised on Eﬁﬁiﬁ/ﬁ%?ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁz
other receivables REEE (50,918)
Unallocated interest income AP EFEHA 12,276
Unallocated finance costs AP BB AR (150)
Central administration costs RRITHAS (44,239)
Loss before tax BB AIEE (199,239)

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue
generated from external customers. There were no inter-
segment sales during both years.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in
Note 3. Segment result represents the profit earned or loss
incurred before tax by each segment without allocation of
central administration costs including directors’ emoluments,
legal and professional fees and other operating expenses,
net foreign exchange gains (losses), changes in fair value of
structured deposits, impairment losses reversed (recognised)
on other receivables and interest receivables, interest income
from consideration receivable from disposal of Hangzhou
Tai Rong, unallocated interest income and finance costs, net
gains on disposal and deregistration of subsidiaries, a limited
partnership and a structured entity. This is the measure
reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance.

EXFRERZ D BR S DIEINBEFEELEZ
Wt o RMEFENR  BIED BREEE -

AE2H/D 2 EFF R EANEIMEA A EE
E.JEAZ%*HH“‘%%ZiTJ?aBAiR o i
RITHFAS (BIRESZHM - i{?i&ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ
REMEE R - B Wa (Eﬂ@)}%gﬁ
BUERZ AR ERE - pE M EWE IE&
EWFEE &R (BE®R) ZBERE HE
MINKRFFEE 2 R BEZFBKRA - KD
B Bl B A R B B BN - 6 Kk 8 B
A ARAB AR NREBIE BB EFE)
Al R%ﬁﬁﬁlﬁf?RHIJFE%FHXZ@?‘J&FEZ
ER BRI REMFEDBREAMS -
TIMEBEERREERTTE

AFZERARDT — T -TFFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. DEER @
Segment assets and liabilities PHEEREE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities REBBREEREZHRSHE D 2 EERE
by operating and reportable segments: BT
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
ZEZEF — N
FERT FHET
Segment assets DEEE
Property investment WERE 807,010 826,478
Medical equipment trading BEXEES
(2019: Commodity and medical (ZEBE—NF:
equipment trading) HAmkEEREEZES) 13,232 11,666
Mining and exploitation of natural resources  £##& & #1282 K SR &R 82,583 175,285
Financial services and asset management RS REEEE 493,346 550,151
Total segment assets DEEERTE 1,396,171 1,563,580
Consideration receivable from disposal of HE TN R SR e UK B
Hangzhou Tai Rong 928,969 1,057,910
Interest receivable from consideration FE U RAB 2 FE IR B
receivable 31,976 -
Deposit paid for acquisition B ENB AR T NNIRE
of subsidiaries (Note 45) (Mf5E45) 118,075 -
Unallocated right-of-use assets ROBEREEE 4,237 1,545
Unallocated financial assets at FVTPL RO AR ETAERZ
EREE 609 571
Unallocated property, plant and equipment kDB % - BE &R E 1,791 7,739
Unallocated intangible assets RoEREE 4,155 4,155
Other unallocated corporate assets Hin RO B AR EE 7,713 6,809
Consolidated assets REEE 2,493,696 2,642,309
Segment liabilities HaesE
Property investment YR E 273,213 322,913
Medical equipment trading EERHEES
(2019: Commodity and medical (ZZF— 7L¢ :
equipment trading) EmkEREREES) 5,400 2,128
Mining and exploitation of natural resources  £#HE I #12 K R &R 523 23,583
Financial services and asset management CRRBREEER 1,177 1,557
Total segment liabilities HEBELRRE 280,313 350,181
Other loan H b E® - 120,958
Unallocated lease liabilities KOEHERE 4,280 1,583
Unallocated tax payables ﬂiﬁﬁﬂﬁgﬁ fRIﬁ 92,112 97,510
Other unallocated corporate liabilities Bt RDEARIBE 10,242 3,128
Consolidated liabilities FEAaflE 386,947 573,360
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

For the purpose of monitoring segment performances and
allocating resources between segments:

o all assets are allocated to operating and reportable
segments other than consideration receivable from
disposal of Hangzhou Tai Rong, interest receivable from
consideration receivable, deposit paid for acquisition of
subsidiaries, unallocated right-of-use assets, financial
assets at FVTPL, property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets and other unallocated corporate assets
(including primarily unallocated bank balances and
cash).

o all liabilities are allocated to operating and reportable
segments other than other loan, unallocated lease
liabilities, unallocated tax payables and other
unallocated corporate liabilities.

Geographical information

The Group operates in four principal geographical areas — the
PRC, Hong Kong, the UK and Mongolia.

Information about the Group’s revenue from external
customers is presented based on the location of the relevant
subsidiary’s operations and information about Group’s non-
current assets is presented based on physical location of

6. DEER @
THEERERE &)

HREENHRANRED A 2EOEERME -

o BRHEEMMAREURMRE BEKREZ
ERAE BB AR NRE
ANEEREEE  RAREFARE
ZERMEE WE BERIEARE
WEEREMARNDEAREE (ETEE
BARADEBRITEBRERD) I IEE

EOHEEKLERAT2HRADHED -

e HBREMENR KRORHEEREB KO
ENHEBEREMRDERREEIN - AT
BREHDEEKERATZ2H DAL -

& &R

AREROEFEHE-FE 55 EZE
BT -

REHEENBAREEMHEINERAEE
KEIBELPRENEMERIEEE LB
HMEJBRAKEIRBDEENER -

assets.
Revenue from
external customers Non-current assets (Note)
Year ended 31 December At 31 December
RENBEF KR ERBEE (M)
BE+-A=1+-HLEE Rt=ZB=+-H
2020 2019 2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
“ECER —E-E o33 “E-NF
TERT TAT TER THL
The PRC H 20,490 19,955 2,374 4,052
Hong Kong 5 - - 16,090 17,312
The UK ® 9% 6,588 792,404 807,250
Mongolia E=) - - 82,309 175,030
20,586 26,543 893,177 1,003,644
Note: Non-current assets excluded deposits, financial assets at FVTPL ek : JERBEESABFELRE - BRARE AR

and deferred tax assets.

BLERMEENBRRAERE

AMZERBRRE — S -_TFFR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

oEER @)

Information about major customers FEREFZEHR
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years BEMAEIAKZI10% U ENHERFERF
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are Was sl T
as follows:
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-EF T— N5
FTERT FA&T
Customer A BEPA 3,569' THEA?
Customer B =FB 2,219’ 2,750

! Revenue from medical equipment trading segment (2019:
Commodity and medical equipment trading).

2 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the

total revenue of the Group.

REBERBESHH(—E-NF - EaK

BEREES) RE -

BRRETEAAEEBKEETR10% A L -

7. NET INVESTMENT LOSSES 7. BFREERE

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
:F}§7l: FET

Changes in fair value of financial assets at XA E d‘)\?ﬁ SR RMEBE
FVTPL NAEEE (1,832) (616)

8. OTHER INCOME 8. Hitlh A
2020 2019
HK$’'000 HK$'000
—EC-EF —E-hE
F#ET FET
Interest income from: KRB TEEZFEWA
— consideration receivable from —HEMMKEEKRAKE

disposal of Hangzhou Tai Rong 76,923 12,117
— bank and other deposits —RIT R EMIF K 5,356 11,737
— loan receivables —ERE R 1,315 2,682
Government grants (Note) T el B (B 3D 1,268 -
Sundry income B A 1,049 1,266

Reparation interest income for previous BERRIEEBERTIREEE
redeemed loan note receivable U A - 23,551
85,911 51,353
Note: During the current year, the Group recognised government iz : MAFEE  REBBREBBFIRMEE2019

grants of approximately HK$1,268,000 in respect of COVID-
19-related subsidies relates to Employment Support Scheme

provided by the Hong Kong government.

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020

BRESHER [REE]FTE TERER
T BE 491,268,000 7T °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

9. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES REVERSED 9. BHEEBBKENBETNER
(RECOGNISED) UNDER EXPECTED E (E#:E) RERFE  FH8#
CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
ZEZEF TN
FERT FHET
Impairment losses (recognised) reversed on LA T & IE (B HER) B #E 2
BB ES 18
— accounts receivable —FEUWER 3R (1,284) 16,845
— other receivables —H fib fE W I8 29,087 (56,486)
— interest receivables —EWF B (751) -
27,052 (39,641)
Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 38(b). SFE T E SIS E M EE38(0)
10. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 10. Btk = R B8
2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$'000
—E-ZF —ZT—NF
FERT FHET
Net foreign exchange gains (losses) b 5 W e (E18) )F 88 44,498 (22,229)
Changes in fair value of structured deposits #5184 7 A /o B & 5,746 1,594
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME - WERERBEE
equipment (1,183) (896)
Net gains on disposal and deregistration of & M EEMBE AR - ARAEE
subsidiaries, a limited partnership and a NEIREBIEERE 2 mF58
structured entity (Note 40) (Ff5E40) - 172,504
49,061 150,973
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fRE ISR
For the year ended 31 December 2020 #{Z —E T F+ - A=+—HItFE
11. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 1M Htt &%
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
—EEF —ET-hEF
FET FHET
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEAX 1,973 7,755
Administrative expenses TR
— Depreciation and amortisation — 9T E R 8,850 13,959
— Legal and professional fee —ERREEXEHR 12,824 9,828
— Registration, license fee and other office — i - BRI B R EHAM
expenses I NES = §5] 2,271 3,443
— Short term leases and property —-RHHERMEETESE
management fees 3,058 7,495
— Repairs and maintenance — B RIRE 2,373 2,273
- Other taxes —H A TR 120 7,680
— Sundry expenses —MIERX 1,951 3,061
33,420 55,494
12. FINANCE COSTS 12. B R A
2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$'000
—E-EfF —ZT—NF
FET FHET
Interest expenses on Ty BT SR
— bank borrowings —RITIEE 8,584 14,523
— lease liabilities —HEa’E 226 451
— others i) 57 317
8,867 15,291

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

13. INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE 13. TEFH (E&R) X
2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$'000
BB —E-NF
FET FET
Current tax: BITHIA :

The PRC EIT R EMER 19,249 99,270

Over-provision in prior years: RIBT FEHRERE
The PRC EIT PR EMEH - (8,319)
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEBFEH = (1,077)
= (9,396)
Deferred tax (Note 32) IRAEFLTE (M5 32) (28,588) (42,343)
(9,339) 47,531

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill")
which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The
Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted
on the following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying
group entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million
of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million. No provision
for taxation in Hong Kong has been made as the Group's
income neither arises in, nor is derived from, Hong Kong.

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law”) and
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of
the PRC subsidiaries is 25% or at a lower concessionary rate
of 9% for subsidiaries operating in the Tibet Autonomous
Region for both years.

R-_E—-NEZA-+—H BELLER
WM-T—EFRE U] (B795) GHlE R
(MMEBIEZER]) » ES| AMAHIFIEFHEFIE
BHERR-_ZE—NF=A=-+NBEEKX
BERZUTRZETIEZER - BEMRHFE
HEFE AEKEEEEHE2,000000
I N 1R 8.25% M B R T - T AR 1B
2,000,000 % 7T 89 ) F1l 1 12 16.5% H) Bt & &
e THAFSHRAHESNERTED
i S 4B 15 16.5% M T — R RGN T IE ©

Hit - A EBREEETRNEAFNERIRGET
JE R B34 F B 2,000,000 7 7T 8.25% 5 & A
N i@ 1 4 [ 1838 2,000,000 78 JT 89 1 51 18 2R 4
i MIE16.5% 5 & - AR AN B /9 Uk AP 3E
MEBEENIRG M ERBERETIE
R -

REBFECEMEIE(REMERIED &
EEMSVOERRGN  RREFE  +
MEB AR E R 25% kX PR BARAE
B ARRI% EUEEEHRE -

AMZERBRRE — S -_TFFR
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A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

13. INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE
(Continued)

Subsidiaries incorporated in Mongolia are subject to
Mongolian income tax which is calculated at the rate of
10% on the first 3 billion Mongolian Turgrik of estimated
taxable income and 25% on the amount in excess thereof.
No provision for Mongolian income tax has been made in the
consolidated financial statements as there are no assessable
profits for both years.

The income tax (credit) expense for the year can be reconciled
to the loss before tax in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

13. iEFH (E&R) B @

REGAMRIOMBRAREHMNST HEH
Fris® sZF SR A AR KA S
3,000,000,000 5 & B & B 742 10% M9 F R 5+
HBOIAMIZ25% M EFTE - AR WA
FELTEELERBEFN  AUIERREE
IS HREARSE S EMEHEIELBE -

AEEMEH (HR) AxBRaRa R EAM
EEKERZBFEHAIERERENT

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
ZEZEF —T—NF
FERT FHET
Loss before tax BRI A& B (36,573) (199,239)
Tax calculated at the domestic income RAMEH R E 218
tax rates (2,261) (42,429)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax  “~a] 1% i &2 2 Bt Z
purpose 12,516 27,127
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax BERMINA 2 %52
purpose (11,609) (17,106)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RIERMIBE B 2 BB 2 6,351 25,700
Utilisation of tax losses previously not AL AR ZBIEEE
recognised (1,590) -
Utilisation of deductible temporary E) A SR AT AR RER 2 AT FUR
differences previously not recognised TR ER (12,712) -
Effect of different tax base on disposal of a ~ H&E —EFEME AR Z
PRC subsidiary TRREZE - 60,371
Over-provision in prior years RiBT FEBERE - (9,396)
Income tax at concessionary rate REBEMERGTE ZEN (34) 7,617
Deferred tax effect of Land Appreciation Tax AR AR EIREWE QN E
in respect of changing in fair value of the Bz T IGER IR
investment properties located in the PRC HEZE = (4,353)
Income tax (credit) expense for the year REZREH (ER) M (9,339) 47,531

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

14. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 14. XFEER
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
ZEZEF TN
FET FHET
Loss for the year has been arrived at after NEEZBEIIEME (GEA) N5
charging (crediting): KIFIBIER
Directors' emoluments (Note 15) ZEME (HI5E15) 9,751 10,106
Other staff costs: Efh 8 TR
— Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind —Fe  FRREDHR 17,405 31,971
— Retirement benefit scheme contributions — — iR 4@ F| 51 21 5% 1,060 1,778
Total staff costs B AEE 28,216 43,855
Auditor’s remuneration ZE BN & 1,910 2,010
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense EFER AN 2 FERA 14,270 12,473
COVID-19-related rent concessions 20197 K m SRR S ER
(Note 2) i) (345) -
Depreciation of property, plant W BEMEREBEZTE
and equipment 5,655 7,541
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEEZTE 3,195 6,418
Gross rental income from investment REWMEMEGHES WA LLE
properties (96) (6,588)
Less: direct operating expenses arising from & : EAR S WA Z R EE
investment properties that generated FIEECBEEKERX
rental income 705 768
609 (5,820)
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ and chief executives’
emoluments

The following table sets forth certain information in
respect of the directors of the Company during the

15§$‘$§ﬁﬁkéﬁﬁém
(a) ESERTETHAEME

TRUSIRBENNEHARAEF 2
ETER

reporting periods:

Date of appointment
as the directors

Name Position of the Company Date of resignation
BZiEA
#E B ANAEERE BHEAH
Mr. Kwong Kai Sing Chief executive officer and Executive 19 April 2018 (Note i) N/A
Benny director
B EE THRHFNTES ZZ-NEWATAA () TEm
Mr. Chen Weisong Executive director 27 October 2017 (Note ii) N/A (Note ii)

REDESE

Mr. Chow Chi Wah

BITEZE

Executive director

R=F—tF+A=T+A
(B i)

Tam (i)

Vincent

BEELE HITES

Mr. Xu Ke Executive director

RASAE HITES

Dr. Gao Bin Independent non-executive director
BEEL BUFHTES

Ms. Liu Yan Independent non-executive director
flEat BUFNITES

Mr. Tang King Shing Independent non-executive director
HEHELE BUFNTES

Notes:

(iii)

Mr. Kwong Kai Sing Benny was appointed as an
executive director effective from 19 April 2018 and being
appointed as chief executive officer effective from 30
October 2019.

Mr. Chen Weisong was reappointed as chief executive
officer and executive director effective from 27 October
2017 after his resignation as executive director on 25
April 2017. Mr. Chen was resigned as the chief executive
officer but remained as executive director effective from
30 October 2019.

Mr. Chow Chi Wah Vincent was appointed as an
executive director effective from 30 October 2019.

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020

30 October 2019 (Note iii) N/A

ZZ-NET A8 (I ik

1 June 2016 23 April 2019

—E-REXA-H “E-NEEAZ+=H

20 November 2015 N/A

“Z-RET—RAZTH A

18 June 2015 N/A

“Z-RFRATNH T

1 February 2017 N/A

~F-t%-A-H ek
5k -

() BEREEEEAAHFEE =%
—N\EMATABEEN  WEEEA
AReE - B-T-AF+A=TAR
R

(i) MREBDREERER-_ZT-—LFWUA
THHBRBERTESFRENESZER
THAREFNTESE B -_F—t&F+
AT HHBEM - RAEETEEET
BREHFEDARTEE BT NF
TRA=tTHRER-

(i) BEEERERZERNTESF BT
—NEF+A=THEER -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #{Z —E—TF+_A=+—HIFE

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executives’
emoluments (Continued)

Directors’ and chief executives’ remuneration for the
year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules
and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2020

15. B - FETHAEREESMN
cAC )

() EERTETHAEME @)

FENEERTIETRABRZMERE
EAETRAREERABGHRENT

B S _FFf _A=+—HIFE

Mr. Kwong Mr. Chow
Kai Sing Mr. Chen Chi Wah
Benny Weisong Vincent Total
BBRRRR £ £ RIEMEE BAEELE okl
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TExT THER TERT TERT
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS HTES
Fees e - - - -
Other emoluments HipBe
Salaries, allowances and e EZRLEDN=
benefits in kind 3,100 4,497 1,200 8,797
Retirement benefit scheme RORAEFIET 2K
contributions 18 18 18 54
Subtotal A 3,118 4,515 1,218 8,851
Dr. Gao Ms. Liu Mr. Tang
Bin Yan King Shing Total
mEEL Slgh 1+ BEMEE g
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$000
THERr THET TR TR
INDEPENDENT NON- BYFHTES
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Fees we 300 300 300 900
Other emoluments HinB e - - - -
Subtotal Naf 300 300 300 900
Total B 9,751

AMZERBRRE — S -_TFFR
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A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executives’

15. B - FETHAEREESMN
cAC )

() EERTETHAEME @)

emoluments (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2019

BE-_E-NWF+-A=+—HIFE

Mr. Kwong Mr. Chow
Kai Sing Mr. Chen Mr. Xu Chi Wah
Benny Weisong Ke Vincent Total
BEKTE RERLE BRUKE  RBAREXE B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET TEL TER TEL
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS HiTES
Fees we - - - - -
Other emoluments Hivile
Salaries, allowances and He 2HREDR
benefits in kind 3,300 4,766 890 206 9,162
Retirement benefit scheme RIKERIFTEIR R
contributions 18 18 6 2 44
Subtotal gt 3318 4,784 896 208 9,206
Dr. Gao Ms. Liu Mr. Tang
Bin Yan King Shing Total
SEEL 2+ HEREE B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET TAET FTAT
INDEPENDENT NON- BYFHTES
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Fees we 300 300 300 900
Other emoluments Hi & - - - -
Subtotal NEt 300 300 300 900
Total B 10,106

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020
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A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executives’
emoluments (Continued)

The executive directors’ and chief executives’
emoluments shown above were mainly for their services
in connection with the management of the affairs
of the Company and the Group. The independent
non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly for their services as the directors of the
Company.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors
as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or
as compensation for loss of office during both years.

There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during both years.

(b) Employees’ emoluments

The five highest paid employees of the Group during
the year included three directors (2019: two directors),
details of whose remuneration are set out in the
disclosures above. Details of the remuneration for the
year of the remaining two (2019: three) highest paid
employees who are neither director nor chief executive
of the Company are as follows:

15. B - FETHAEREESMN
cAC )

(a)

(b)

EERTETBRAEME @

ERATRPTEERIZTHAENE
TENARBREARNARRAEEREH
ZERRBMN - ERAIRZEILIE
MITEEFZHES T EDNARBELELR
RAEFZRIBMA

RREFER  RNREBEMERESEN
EAME  (ERMAREBE L MAKRSE
B2 BB RERBER 2 fE -

EEHTRTBRABRRMEFEAME
EH M ER R BEREERNME L -

BEME

WER  AEBE SR SHMIES B
SEEW(CT-AF:WAEF) R
B BEAE MR E SR © F BT
(CE-NF:=2)BSHMES (L
FARTNEERTETHAR) 2B
BT

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
—E-EHF —ET-AF
THxT FHET

Salaries, allowance and other benefits e RMREMEYRER
in kind 2,500 9,926
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 3R 48 Fll 51 2] £ 7% 26 53
2,526 9,979

AMZERBRRE — S -_TFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Employees’ emoluments (Continued)

The number of the highest paid employee who are not
directors nor chief executive of the Company whose
remuneration fell within the following bands is as
follows:

15. B - FETHAEREESMN
cAC )

(b) EEME &)

WIARRAREEFHFTETHASE LS
NETIEBEZE=HMEEHBWT

No. of employees

EE®A
2020 2019
—EoEHF —T—NF
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 % 7L % 1,500,000 7 7T 1 -
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7 7T % 2,000,000 7 7T 1 -
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 % 7L % 3,000,000 % 7T - 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 7 7T % 3,500,000 7 7T - 1
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 7 7T & 4,000,000 7 7T - 1
2 3
16. DIVIDENDS 16. R E
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-EF —E-NEF
FTET FET
Dividends for ordinary shareholders of the AN &) & 3@ A% I R F E A
Company recognised as distribution BRADKZKE :
during the year:
Nil (2019: 2018 special dividend m(CE-NF:ZE-N\F
— HK20 cents per share) RIS — AR 208 4L) - 1,050,004

No dividend has been proposed for ordinary shareholders of
the Company subsequent to the year ended 31 December

2020.

HE_Z_ZF+_A=+—RHILFEE"
I A AR R E BB B E MRS -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

17. LOSS PER SHARE 17. BREHE
The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to the RATHEBAEENTRERNEEDRET
owners of the Company is based on the following data: HNEIRETE -
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
—EEF —ET-hEF
FET FHET
Loss &8
Loss for the year attributable to owners of ~ ARFTEESREARBERNAAF
the Company for the purpose of basic loss & A E{hFE A E1E
per share (26,782) (246,440)
2020 2019
‘000 ‘000
—EEF —T-hF
TR Fh&
Number of shares R 8B
Number of ordinary shares for the purpose ~ AR T EFEAREERN
of calculation of basic loss per share 57 A% X 5,250,020 5,250,020
No diluted loss per share for both years were presented as HAMEEEARNLED BT EAELTEBIR )
there were no potential ordinary shares in issue during both MEZMEFENGIRE SR -
years.
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A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. 1% - BMERRZE

Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold and office Motor
improvements equipment Machinery vehicles Total
&L
BEERER
HE#EE BAERE H "E E2hy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAL FET THL TAL FAL
cosT RA
At 1 January 2019 RN_E-NE—-A—H 6,767 12,048 1,632 19,757 40,204
Additions NE - 265 4 - 269
Disposals e (1,065) (668) - (4,250) (5,983)
Disposals through disposal of BRHENBARLE
subsidiaries (Note 40(b)) (HiEE400)) (1,989) (566) - - (2,554)
Exchange realignment ERAE (58) (114) - 2 (170)
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+-A=1+-H 3,656 10,965 1,636 15,509 31,766
Additions NE - 202 - - 202
Disposals HE (2383) (1,637) - (321) (4,341)
Exchange realignment BRAE 28 278 - 44 350
At 31 December 2020 RZBZTE+ZA=1—H 1,301 9,808 1,636 15,232 27,977
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION Rith&
At 1 January 2019 RZZ-N5-A-H 3,115 6,897 655 9,704 20,371
Provided for the year EnkE 1,029 2,656 329 3,527 7,541
Eliminated on disposals P& B 8 (318) (437) - (2,267) (3,022)
Eliminated on disposal of R EM B AR
subsidiaries (Note 40(b)) (M 40(b) (1,925) (565) - - (2,490)
Exchange realignment EHAE 32) (85) - - (117)
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+-A=1+-H 1,869 8,466 984 10,964 22,283
Provided for the year EREE 1,083 1,183 329 3,060 5,655
Eliminated on disposals P E R (1,878) (913) - (227) (3,018)
Exchange realignment R AE 20 240 - - 260
At 31 December 2020 WZE-ZFF+-A=1+-H 1,094 8,976 1313 13,797 25,180
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2020 RZZ-Z2F+-RA=1+-H 207 832 323 1,435 2,197
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+-A=1+-H 1,787 2,499 652 4,545 9,483

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

18.

19.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated, after taking into account of their estimated
residual values, on a straight-line method, at the following
rates per annum:

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of
lease term or 5
years

Furniture, fixtures and 20% t0 33.3%

office equipment

Machinery 20% t033.3%

Motor vehicles 20% t0 33.3%

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the
Group leases out residential property units under operating
leases with rentals payable weekly/monthly. The leases
typically run for an initial period of 1 to 2 year(s) (2019: 2
weeks to 10 years) and no unilateral rights to extend the
lease beyond initial period held by the Group and lessees.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result
of the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in
the respective functional currencies of group entities. The
lease contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and/
or lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end of lease
term.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the total cash inflow
for leases is approximately HK$96,000 (2019: HK$6,588,000).

18. % - BMERRZRE #®)

EtWE - BERRENG ARF 2 EEE
HREERABRERATENERHTE

HEEE MEFHH5F
(AEBEER%E)
G BEERER 20% % 33.3%
N
HER 20% £33.3%
= 20% £33.3%

19. REWE

REBEE-_ZE_ZTFER=_Z—-—NF+=A

=t+—HALFER T&H

RIFR

EMEEH

MEEWEEMN Heke8B / 8AXM-
HEMNMPHRBERIIEZ2F (2N
F:2B=E10%F) BEE T EENKHEET
REASE RABRAMFENVZHRAIN -

HRABHREYAEEE S

=R=k0

Mg

FHE  MASEAGEBEEZ HmAZINE
B -HEANTESFBKEERERE &
ERAEHERREEZMENREZE -

RBE_T-_TF+_A=1+—HILFE"
HEHR SR ABLERL6,0008 T (ZF

— L5 © 6,588,000 7T) ©

HK$'000
FHET

FAIR VALUE ARE
At 1 January 2019 RZE—NF—HA—H 856,463
Changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss N8R A EEE) (72,505)
Exchange realignment ME 5 A 23,027
At 31 December 2019 R-ZE-AF+-HA=+—H 806,985
Changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss REZRERZ AAEEES (40,353)
Exchange realignment M 5 R % 25,613
At 31 December 2020 RZZEZZTF+A=+—H 792,245

AHZERBRQT

=

e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

19. REWE @)

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-EF —E—hF
FHxT FHET
Unrealised losses on investment properties ~ T ABZmAZ R EME 2
included in profit or loss REIREIE (40,353) (72,505)

The fair value of the Group's investment properties at 31
December 2020 has been arrived at on the basis of valuations
carried out by Messrs Savills (UK) Limited (2019: Messrs
Cushman & Wakefield Debenham Tie Leung Limited), an
independent qualified professional valuer not connected with
the Group.

In determining the fair value of the investment properties, the
Group engages the independent qualified professional valuer
to perform the valuation. The management of the Group
works closely with them to establish the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs to the model and explain the cause of
fluctuations in the fair value of the investment properties to
the directors of the Company.

There has been no change from the valuation technique used
during the year ended 31 December 2020. In estimating
the fair values of the investment properties for disclosure
purpose, the highest and the best use of the investment
properties is their current use. The fair values of investment
properties have been adjusted to exclude prepaid or accrued
operating lease income to avoid double counting.

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020

REB R EMER_ZT=_ZTF+=A
=+—H2ZARET) B EARE B R
2 JB N A B M E E (A B Messrs Savills (UK)
Limited (=& — /L4 : Messrs Cushman &
Wakefield Debenham Tie Leung Limited) 7 &
EHE#EITZBEET -

REETREVEZAREMNS  AEEZRE
BUYAEREEMHEMETHE FEEHE
BERKREZTAIE TR 2 EA
RERMEBABE  YAARBEFEER
BREMEAARERE 2HH -

RBE-E-BE+-A=+—ALFER
PR AR mE D - REH ERERR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 19. REYZE @)
The following table gives information about how the fair TR ZEREMELABEZEERARZ
values of these investment properties are determined (in ER(CEREERMERFTARASE)

particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used).

Investment Valuation Significant Relationship of unobservable

properties technique unobservable input(s) inputs to fair value

RENF ERH EXTUREBARE FTUBEEBABBEARENBR

Residential property units Market comparable  Market unit rate, taking into account the A significant increase in the market unit
located in the UK approach recent transaction prices for similar rate used after adjusting location and
2020: HK$792,245,000 properties adjusted for nature, location conditions of the property would result
2019: HK$806,985,000 and conditions of the property, which in a significant increase in fair value,

ranged from Great British Pound ("GBP") and vice versa.
2,224 to GBP2,504 (2019: GBP2,260 to

GBP2,650) per square foot

UREEZEEMEEM THLEE R RBUMEDINXSER REMENCERBERETH

—ETF: BYWENEYE  LERERET BERRAOTSEERNESL

792,245,000 7% 70 AR & MHEEENRETER B D A EREIE N -

—Z—-NF R2,224 ([348 ) 22,504 T 4% R 2 IREN e

806,985,000 & JT (ZZF— N4 : 2,260 EHEE 2,650

BEE)
There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the RERN B=ZEREEZFLEER N _ZTZ
year. As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, all of the Group's TZFER_ZTE-NF+_A=+—8 ~£H
investment properties have been pledged to secure banking 2HLEYMEEERUERETASENR
facilities granted to the Group. TRLE
AMERBRAT — S —TFFHR
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A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

0. B EE

Vehicle
license
plates
BTN
HK$'000
FHT

COST
At 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019 and
31 December 2020

The vehicle licence plates were issued by the relevant
authorities in the PRC and Hong Kong with no expiration
dates.

As a result, the vehicle licence plates are considered by
the management of the Group as having indefinite useful
lives. These vehicle licence plates will not be amortised until
their useful lives are determined to be finite and they are
carried at cost less any subsequent impairment losses, if any.
Instead, they will be tested for impairment annually, or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
they might be impaired.

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020
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A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

The mining rights represent four of the rights to conduct
mining activities in the location of Ulaan Uul, Nogoonnuur
Soum of Bayan-Ulgii Aimag (“Ulaan Uul”), Tsunkheg,
Nogoonnuur Soum of Bayan-Ulgii Aimag (“Tsunkheg”) and
Khovd Gol, Tsengel Soum of Bayan-Ulgii Aimag (“Khovd
Gol"”) in Mongolia. The mining right in Tsunkheg and the two
mining rights in Ulaan Uul have remaining legal lives of 11 to
15 years, expiring in July 2031, March 2033 and December
2035, respectively. The mining right in Khovd Gol has a
remaining legal life of 16 years, expiring in July 2036.

The mining licenses are issued by Mineral Resources and
Petroleum Authority of Mongolia (the “Mongolia Mineral
Authority”) and may be extended for two successive
additional periods of 20 years each. The directors of the
Company are of the opinion that the application for
extension is procedural and the Group should be able to
renew its mining licenses at minimal charges, until all the
proven and probable minerals have been mined. No active
mining operation of the Group has taken place yet during the
year ended 31 December 2020.

21. MINING RIGHTS 21, FRIERE
HK$'000
FHET
COST R <
At 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019 and RZE—NF—A—H -ZF—hF
31 December 2020 +-A=+—BR=ZZE=ZF
+=-—A=+—H 1,003,034
IMPAIRMENT AE
At 1 January 2019 RZE-NF—HA—H 658,197
Impairment losses recognised (Note 22) B RERREEE (22) 170,821
At 31 December 2019 RZZE—-—NAF+=—A=+—H 829,018
Impairment losses recognised (Note 22) BRI EEE (HiE22) 92,225
At 31 December 2020 RZZE-_ZEF+-_A=+—H 921,243
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2020 R-E—ZEF+=-A=+—H 81,791
At 31 December 2019 —NF+=ZA=+—H 174,016

REEEITREHEERIERELBT
SHEN((EHMEN]) REFE([EFK]
MEEBIELEERSMRMET ([Bh%
A ETRBES ZNEEN REFRZ
TR RN B B 2 B S R 885 E
FHAENEISF HRZZE=—FtAH "
—E-=F=-ARZE=RF+ZAEm-
mﬂﬁyJZE@aéﬂ%iEE%ﬁ1M¥'
RZZE=X"FLAER-

BERKRBRYESTABEERRAOMER
BIRHEBR]) HL - TEEEHHRR
FBR20F -ARAEERR BHEHE
ATTRARRIIEFF - #5214 R A A Y
RIBMBFEAKNN BEMETRHA MM
P EBEERRAL RBEE_T_TF
TZA=T-—HLEFER AEERRET
R IR 2T

AFZERARDT — T -TFFH
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

21. MINING RIGHTS (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
received several notices from the Mongolia Mineral Authority
and requested the Group to prepare updated resource
estimation technical reports and feasibility study reports on
the mining rights in Ulaan Uul, Tsunkheg and Khovd Gol. The
Group commenced the discussion with the Mongolia Mineral
Authority regarding the feasibility of conducting mining
activities on these mining rights. The Group consulted with
legal adviser on the legal implications of notices and with
reference to the legal advice, the mining licenses of these
mining rights owned by the Group are still in effect as at 31
December 2020 and 2019. Started from 2018, the Group is
in the progress of preparing an updated resource estimation
technical reports and feasibility study reports on these mining
rights by different phases in accordance with the Mongolia
Code for the Public Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral
Resources and Mineral Reserves in order to fulfil the requests
from Mongolia Mineral Authority.

Mining rights are included in the mining and exploitation
of natural resources segment which is a CGU, representing
the Group’s subsidiaries — Kainarwolfram LLC and Ikh Uuliin
Erdenes LLC that holds mining rights for the purpose of
impairment testing. Particulars regarding impairment testing
on mining rights are disclosed in Note 22.
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21. RIERE (@)

REBEE_ZT—N\F+-A=+—HLEFER "
AEBPBBSEEEBERNE TERE  BkA
SEREEWMEN - BEA K LB Z MR
BRNSEMERGERMRE RATTHEHE
HRE - AKERSHES RN ZEFTEE
ETREZSHNATERAN R - NEER®
BEZERYERBREZEBER  AE2EX
BER AEBBEENZSRERNRARH
BARA_E-_EFR-_T-NF+_A=+—
BNAER - T — Gt AEEEHR
ZETRBBNREERES G DIELS
BEEREREAFEZ AHABRE TR &
FERGERMBE RAITERENERF
HEERMEX -

HERAARBEROIRRAERD AR
—IEReESBEM BERAEEZMBELR -
Kainarwolfram LLC 52 Ikh Uuliin Erdenes LLC &t
WERH B MR 2 RKBEE - B W@REE
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

22. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON MINING 22. IRIERE 2R E A

RIGHTS

No active mining operation of the Group has taken place
during the year ended 31 December 2020 and the directors
of the Company conducted an impairment assessment of
the Mining CGU. For the purposes of impairment testing,
the mining rights set out in Note 21 have been allocated to
the Mining CGU represented by mining and exploitation of
natural resources segment.

The recoverable amount is the higher of FVLCD and VIU. The
recoverable amounts of mining and exploitation of natural
resources segment were determined based on VIU calculation
and certain key assumptions. For the purpose of impairment
testing, the VIU calculations used cash flow projection based
on financial budgets approved by the management of the
Group covering a period of five to twenty years (2019: four
to nineteen years). The pre-tax discount rates used for the
VIU calculations are 25.7% (2019: ranged from 24.36%
to 25.87%). Other key assumptions in estimating the
discounted future pre-tax cash flows are included tungsten
metal estimated selling price with 0.2% growth rate (2019:
0.3%), estimated future costs of production, estimated
future operating costs, recoverable reserves, resources and
exploration potential and exchange rates.

In November 2018 and August 2019, the Group engaged
independent qualified mineral technical advisers to
prepare an updated resource estimation technical report
("Updated Resource Estimation Technical Report”) under
the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results,
Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves and they have conducted
the first phase and second phase of exploitation work
regarding the recoverable reserves, resources and exploration
potential for the mining rights in Ulaan Uul, Tsunkheg and
Khovd Gol during the years ended 31 December 2018 and
2019. Furthermore, the directors of the Company have
planned to carry out the third phase of exploitation work
for the mining right in Tsunkheg and however, as a result of
quarantine measures as well as the travel restrictions imposed
by the PRC and Mongolia under the COVID-19 pandemic,
the third phase of exploitation work have not been started in
2020.

REEZZ_TF+_A=+—HIEFER
REBEMARETERREER AR T%%
B RIEIR $ & & B0 fE B R E S o BLR
BARME  ME2IAEH 2 RBECEDE
EHRERMIRAAERY BREZFES
TEAEM -

ARESEARNAER D SR AEEHE
EMEZREE - RELMMBRRKAERS S
ZABESENRERABEFERETH
RERET BBEMNATS ﬁ%f@ﬂ
BIEAEBEBEEBMEZAE - TF (=
—NF mi+h¢>%ﬁzmﬁﬁ”ﬁ%
BamRE) ﬁlJ:#%' uJF 4 {5 FR (BB K B B Al Bk
WEE257% (ZE—NF : N T2436% =
25.87%) ° %ﬁ%ﬁiﬁ?ﬁﬂwﬁ@ﬁ%Zﬁ
HERBEREEMTEREEAR02% (=T
—NF:03%) 2 BIHERE - Bt RRKE
ERA et RREERAR AT EFEE -
BOR N R E Be K [E K o

RZE—NFF+—ARZZE—AFNA &
Elékhj ﬁﬁ%%&m@ﬁm%mﬁ
FEBEMGAER HEEEARENMAIRHFSE
ML RAREUEHERGERNT®RE ((&
FERGERTRE]) RBEEZZ—\FK
T-NhF+_A=T—HLEFE #HEEB
ETEHSEEN - BEAHE LB ZWIRE
ENAREE  BREFEEENERER
FEMERKIR I RQARERER
EESREREREARE -MBRAKIE:
SAT - mw*rhm&¢lﬁ%ﬁﬂme
RESREBIREETOEITRS ===
TEMARIGE BB IIE-

AFZERARDT — T -TFFH

163



164

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T
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22. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON MINING

RIGHTS (cContinued)

Based on the Updated Resource Estimation Technical
Report issued by the qualified mineral technical adviser with
reference to their first and second phase of exploitation
work conducted, the tungsten grades of the mining rights in
Ulaan Uul, Tsunkheg and Khovd Gol are considerately lower
than the tungsten grades indicated in the previous resource
estimation technical report prepared in 2008 (“Previous
Resource Estimation Technical Report”), while the volume
of the exploration potential of the mining rights in Ulaan
Uul, Tsunkheg and Khovd Gol is higher than the volume
indicated in the Previous Resource Estimation Technical
Report. Considering the increment in the estimated volume
of recoverable reserves, resources and exploration potential
of the mining rights in the Updated Resource Estimation
Technical Report, the management of the Group expected
that longer period of lives of the mine for the overall
exploitation work and revised the financial budgets covering
a period of five to twenty years (2019: four to nineteen years)
for cash flow projection.

Based on the above findings from the Updated Resource
Estimation Technical Report, the Group engaged a PRC
professional firm to update the feasibility study report and
also engaged Norton Appraisals Limited, independent
qualified professional valuer, to perform the valuation of
mining rights at 31 December 2020 (2019: Jones Lang
LaSalle Corporation Appraisal and Advisory Limited) based
on the Updated Resource Estimation Technical Report and
the latest feasibility study report. With reference to the
valuation of mining rights performed by valuer and the
information available to the Group up to the report date, the
directors of the Company were in the view that impairment
losses of the mining rights amounting to approximately
HK$92,225,000 (2019: HK$170,821,000) for the year ended
31 December 2020 need to be recognised for the Mining
CGU in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as the recoverable amount of the
Mining CGU was lower than (2019: lower than) its carrying
amount.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T
For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

22. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON MINING 22. IRERE 2 RERE #®)

RIGHTS (cContinued)

The directors of the Company believe that the estimates and
assumptions incorporated in the impairment assessment
are reasonable; however, the estimates and assumptions
are subject to significant uncertainties and judgements.
Furthermore, the directors of the Company expected that
the third phase of exploitation work can only start after the
relaxation of quarantine measures and travel restrictions
and the recoverable reserves, resources and exploration
potential for the mining rights in Tsunkheg may differ from
previous estimates and causing potential adjustments to the
recoverable amount of the Mining CGU upon completion of
the third phase of exploitation work.

If there are adverse changes in the key assumptions
incorporated in the impairment assessment for the mining
rights in Ulaan Uul, Tsunkheg and Khovd Gol, it would lead
to the recognition of further impairment loss against the
Mining CGU as follows:

ARBEERR  REFGAEN G RE
HEBAE AN HEERBREXEATH
AR Z R A FTARR - 5N RARERTE
HI 55 = Bk BR PR A2 2 T 1EFR B 5 b6 N Ik i
RERRRFR - B E AR REEN R YK
Bl - RN ENRERE AT REA BN SE Al {4
ST BN K E = RFEAR TR EIRE
REeELEMATWRESEIELBERE -

B RS - B AR LR % T RN E
FHEEENIERREEINEY  KEE
YRR S B AL MR — SRS
BHR TR

2020 2019

HK$'000 HK$'000

—E-EF —E-NF

FET FHET

5% relative increase in pre-tax discount rate % B 84 IR R A3 L1 N 5% (9,691) (18,363)

5% decrease in tungsten price ISERR 5% (13,878) (31,010)
5% decrease in volume of recoverable AIER#HE - BR KRR

reserves, resources and exploration B BER A 5%
potential (1,241) (2,324)
5% relative decrease in tungsten grades ISERME R L 5% (13,878) (31,010)
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fRA M EERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2. BN AEFABRBZEREE

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-EHF —E-NF
FHxT FET
Unlisted equity securities (Note) JE TR AEH (M) 609 571
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong REB LEMRAES 7,887 10,112
8,496 10,683

Analysed of reporting purposes as: 2 # B BT ER) 2T -
Non-current assets EMBEE 609 571
Current assets mENE E 7,887 10,112
8,496 10,683
Note: The amounts represent investments in unlisted equity et : ZS2BEERNPEKLZ —BLEEER

securities issued by a private entity established in the PRC.

Details of the valuation techniques and key inputs adopted
for their fair value measurements are disclosed in Note 38(c).
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fRA M EERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

24. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

24 FRAREEE

Leased
properties
HEYE
HK$'000
FHET
Carrying amount FREE
As at 31 December 2019 RZZE-NF+ZA=+—H 3,005
As at 31 December 2020 RZZE_FTF+-A=+—H 6,189
Depreciation charge wEER
For the year ended 31 December 2019 B2 -_ZT—-hEF+=-_A=+—8H
IEFE 6,418
For the year ended 31 December 2020 BE-_Z-_ZEZHE+-_A=+—H
IFFE 3,195
2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$'000
—E-EF —E-RE
FERT FHET
Expense relating to short-term leases FREHEE A 600 3,078
Total cash outflow for leases HEReRLEE 3,823 9,698
Additions to right-of-use assets RECREEE 6,754 1,511

For both years, the Group leases offices premises and car
parks for its operation. Lease contracts are entered into for
fixed term of 1 year to 5 years with fixed payment. The Group
does not have the option to purchase the leased properties
for a nominal amount at the end of the relevant lease terms
or any extension/termination options which are solely at the
Group’s discretion. The Group’s obligations are secured by the
rental deposits for such leases. Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different
terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and
assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group
applies the definition of a contract and determines the period
for which the contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for car
parks. As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the portfolio of
short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short term
leases to which the short-term lease expense disclosed above.

RREFERN  AEERELERERAE
MEREFEES - BESOTNZEEERANF
1EE5FWRBFENFL - AEBEEER
HEREGRRERALECEBEHRE
¥ FERAEEBTRAENEMES, K
IHEEE - AKRBZEETHIUAREHEZE
SREFEER - BEGRTZENEERER
T EEEETRGRRGEN EEHERT
AP AN A RUE B TR A B R B - AR ERA A
IR EZ A ETE A KA R BIRTTH IR

REBEHIIVEESRHEEE - RZF =
TEN_T-NFE+_A=+—8 E2HHA
EREEARFNBEENCIHHEERATY
EREHEEREAGEM -
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A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

24. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)
Restrictions or covenants on leases

In addition, lease liabilities of approximately HK$6,319,000
(2019: HK$3,081,000) are recognised with related right-
of-use assets of approximately HK$6,189,000 (2019:
HK$3,005,000) as at 31 December 2020. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by
the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

Details of the lease maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set
out in Notes 33 and 38(b).

24,

EREEE®)
EBRHENRHIHEH

o RZE=ZFF+-_A=+—H0 ' 5%E
78 #76,189,000/8 7L (=& — /L : 3,005,000
HIT) R S ERA 6,319,000 T (=
T — 14 3,081,000 ) WEEEE - B
PERABECHEEERNZESEm 2
YESHEREBMIARE HAEEET
SHREREEZEMRS -

FEZEHEAG HENBESINFBE
FAB5E 33 K2 38(b) ©

25. INVENTORIES 25. 78
Inventories represent goods held for resale. GEEFIFEE 2GR -
26. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 26. B AR
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
ZEZEF TN
FET FHET
Accounts receivable arising from the sales of ~ §H% & /& 2% ff &= 4 A0 IR BR X
medical equipment 5,142 4,401
Less: Allowance for credit losses W EEEBRE (1,441) (157)
3,701 4,244

As at 1 January 2019, accounts receivables from contracts
with customers amounted to approximately HK$6,964,000.
The Group allows a credit period of 30 to 120 days (2019:
30 to 120 days) to its customers depending on the type of
products sold.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

26. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued)

The following is an aged analysis of accounts receivable,
net of allowance for credit losses, presented based on the
invoice dates which approximated to the respective revenue
recognition dates:

26. EWBRFX (@)

UTREZEAH (BE 8 RAEREBEE)
2R ERR (IR EEBERREE) Rk
#r

2020 2019

HK$'000 HK$'000

—EE2H —E-hF

FHET THET

Within 30 days 308A 1,098 1,168
31 -90 days 31£290H 148 -
91 - 120 days 91%2120H 535 102
Over 120 days 120 H LA £ 1,920 2,974
3,701 4,244

As at 31 December 2020, included in the Group’s accounts
receivable are debtors with aggregate carrying amount
of approximately HK$2,422,000 (2019: HK$3,698,000)
which are past due as at the reporting date. Out of the
past due balances, approximately HK$1,788,000 (2019:
HK$2,478,000) has been past due 90 days or more and is not
considered as in default by considering the background of the
accounts receivables and historical settlement arrangement
of these accounts receivable. The Group does not hold any
collateral over the balances.

Details of impairment assessment of accounts receivable are
set out in Note 38(b).

RZZE-ZTF+_A=+—H AEBNE
WEERBRERRE e e aREEY
2,422,000 7T (ZF— N4 : 3,698,000/ 7T)
HIREUER R - ME B HA& f2 P - 491,788,000
BT (ZF— L4 12,478,000 1) B %
OHME  EEZERERERESRZE
EWESNESEERY AR BED -
EEE I EIFE AR -

JRE M B R 2 Ok M T £ 1 A BT R 38(b) ©
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A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

27. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND

21%@@%%E~E$&ﬁﬁ%
I’

PREPAYMENTS
2020 2019
HK$’'000 HK$'000
—E-EHF —E—hF
FET FHET
Consideration receivable from disposal of HETIN A SR A E
Hangzhou Tai Rong, net of allowance for (MR EEBEERE)
credit losses (Note) GES) 928,969 1,057,910
Interest receivable from consideration JEUWAR(E 2 E YR B
receivable, net of allowance for (R EEEIBEE)
credit losses (Note) (Bt &E) 31,976 -
Deposit paid for acquisition of subsidiaries ~ WEM B AR N HES
(Note 45) (fg5E45) 118,075 -
Rental and other deposits HekEMiZe 690 1,058
Other receivables, net of allowance for credit E b fEU 18 (1% EE
losses, and prepayments Eia ) LI RIE 4,195 2,791
1,083,905 1,061,759
Analysed of reporting purposes as: BE A B FTIERI DT -
Non-current assets EMENE E 118,765 -
Current assets mENE E 965,140 1,061,759
1,083,905 1,061,759

Note:

As disclosed in Note 40(a), the Group had entered into a
sales and purchase agreement with BN B IEE & E E
A BR A A](the “Purchaser”) to dispose of its entire equity
interest of Hangzhou Tai Rong on 31 August 2018 at a
cash consideration of RMB1,550,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$1,727,320,000). In August 2019, the
Group had entered into a supplemental agreement with the
Purchaser to amend certain terms of the sale and purchase
agreement (the “Supplemental Agreement”). In accordance
with the Supplemental Agreement, the settlement date of the
consideration receivable from disposal of Hangzhou Tai Rong
has been extended to 31 August 2020 with interest bearing
ranged from 5% to 9% per annum when the remaining
consideration is not able to settle in full on or before 31
December 2019.
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fRA M EERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

27. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the outbreak
of respiratory illness caused by COVID-19 pandemic has
been expanded across globally and the Purchaser has failed
to settle the remaining consideration on 31 August 2020.
The Group then started to negotiate with the Purchaser
and agreed to further extend the repayment date to 30
April 2021 with interest bearing at 9% per annum. In
February 2021, the remaining consideration receivable
amounting to RMB800,000,000 (equivalent to approximately

HK$950,800,000) were fully settled.

Details of the above disposal were set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 15 June 2018, 28 August 2018 and 25

August 2019.

Details of impairment assessment of other receivables and

deposits are set out in Note 38(b).

28. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

The bank balances carry interest at prevailing market rates

per annum.

For the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group
performed impairment assessment on bank balances and
concluded that the probability of defaults of the counterparty
banks are insignificant and accordingly, no allowance for

credit losses is provided.

29. ACCRUED LIABILITIES AND OTHER
PAYABLES

27.

28.

29.

HtEWRE - ZERBAMK
TH (&)

REBZE-_ZE-_EF+_A=+—RHILE%E -
FH 201978 #A 7 W 5 15 B 8 A M IR 38 R R
REEEHBEECAE A A -_T-F
FNAZ+—HEAHTRE-BEE K
EEMBREEHETERTRSBERA
HE—FTERE-_ZE-_—FMA=+H"
MEABFI% HN_ZB-_—F_8 8T
g £ B A R #800,000,000 7T (#8E 7 49
950,800,000 7T) B BE LT -

ERAEEZHBERNARFT RS =
Z-NEXATHER ZZ2-NEN\A
“HNBERZE-AFNAATRABZAS -

AR MRE R RS 2 R E R R
R 38(0) °
RITERREASE

RITHEBIRBRITMISFNEGER -

BE_ZZFR_ZT-NAF+-_A=1+—
BIEFE  AEEERITESETRENG
WRAEF I RITEQN R BEEED - #utt
W EEEBREHEE -

BB EREMEN A

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$'000

ZEZEF TN

FET FHET

Accrued expenses FERTRS 8,314 1,880
Interest payable FEREFIB 1,017 1,568
Other tax payables E b AR IR 6,460 1,490
Other payables E b AT 5RIE 1,759 1,502
17,550 6,440
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

30. BORROWINGS

L

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$'000

—EEF —ET-hEF

FET FHET

Secured variable-rate bank borrowing BEMZERITEE 232,005 281,471
Unsecured fixed-rate bank borrowing EIEAEERITEE 3,621 -
235,626 281,471

As at 31 December 2020, the secured variable-rate bank
borrowing of approximately HK$232,005,000 (2019:
HK$281,471,000) carried interest at the London Interbank
Offered Rates (“LIBOR") plus a margin of 2.75% (2019:
2.75%) per annum, which the effective interest rate is 3.04%
(2019: 3.56%) per annum.

It contains a repayment on demand clause and contractually
repayable within one year based on scheduled repayment
dates set out in the loan agreement and shown under current
liabilities. Details of charges over the borrowing are disclosed
in Note 41.

As at 31 December 2020, the unsecured fixed-rate bank
borrowing amounting to approximately HK$3,621,000 (2019:
Nil) which is unguaranteed, carried at fixed interest rate of
4.10% and is repayable within one year.

The secured borrowings contains a repayment on demand
clause (shown under current liabilities) but contractually
repayable within one year based on scheduled repayment
dates set out in the loan agreement.

Details of charges over the borrowings are disclosed in Note
41.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

31.

32.

OTHER LOAN

The loan is initially measured at amortised cost, based on the
present value of the estimated future cash outflow discounted
using the effective interest rate of 7% per annum and the
initial fair value adjustment on other loan is recognised as
other capital contribution reserve in prior years.

In December 2018, the Group had agreed with a third party
to change the terms of the loan with carrying amount of
approximately HK$123,585,000 as unsecured, non-interest
bearing and repayable on demand. The directors of the
Company considered that the above modification of the
terms of the other loan does not constitute as substantial
modification of financial liabilities under HKFRS 9 and does
not result in derecognition and no adjustment to the carrying
amount of the other loan is recognised in profit or loss at the
date of modification. The other loan was fully repaid during
the year ended 31 December 2020.

DEFERRED TAX

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset. The following is the analysis of deferred tax
balances for financial reporting purposes.

31.

32.

Hi &K

ZERERIRBHEKAFTE  HERNKEAT%
ZERENEPREFRARRSRLRERF
e MREEFEREMER 2B ARE
HABOHEBR/EMIERE -

R-ZZE—-NE+_-A AEFEEE=

BEFREIRNER LEFEEAELD
123,585,000 8L v ER AEEE - Trr B K&
REREE - ARBEERE  RESHEH
TR R F O - Eall K B R G FE
N MBI BB ENE SR R RMEET
AEFSEHEUEER R IEEMER
FHEAERRESEIER BE T -TF
+ZA=1+—BLFE HUEREEEK

BE -

i FE B IR

RREEMBRARANEHRENTE & T
BERBEERABCIEE - AT RRHE
W& B A IR ERIBRE DN -

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$'000

—EC-EF —E-NF

FET FHET

Deferred tax assets EEFIEE E (5,600) (39)
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEEE - 23,027
(5,600) 22,988

AMZERBRRE — S -_TFFR

173



174

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

32. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

The following are the major deferred tax (assets) liabilities

32, IEFERIE (@)

REMMBEFEANCHERZ T ERELHREA

recognised and movements thereon during the current and
prior years:

(BE)BEREESFBET

Impairment Revaluation

loss of mining  of investment Provision of
rights properties ECL Total

e BHEE
HEBR EfREYE ERRE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT TRT FET
At 1 January 2019 RZZE-NF-A—H 65,733 - (615) 65,118

(Credited) charged to profit or loss (GtA)EBsE (HE13)

(Note 13) (42,706) - 600 (42,106)
(Credited) charged to profit or loss for (st A) B EH 2 1B AHHE

the assets reclassified as held-for-sale &2 BEEZR (F7E13)

(Note 13) - (4,353) 4,116 (237)
Reclassified as held-for-sale BN EARBELE - 4,353 (4,116) 237
Exchange realignment EH AR - - (24) (24)
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+ZA

=+—H 23,027 - (39) 22,988
Credited to profit or loss (Note 13) AR (5 13) (23,027) - (5,561) (28,588)
At 31 December 2020 e e

+ZA=1+-H - - (5,600) (5.600)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has estimated
unused tax losses of approximately HK$865,706,000 (2019:
HK$833,642,000) available for offset against future profits.
A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of such
losses amounting to approximately HK$8,156,000 during the
year ended 31 December 2017 and being fully utilised during
the year ended 31 December 2019. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of the remaining tax losses
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams during
the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019. Included
in unrecognised tax losses are losses of approximately
HK$71,454,000 (2019: HK$77,814,000) that will expire
from 2021 to 2025. Other losses may be carried forward
indefinitely.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible
temporary differences arising from impairment loss of mining
rights of approximately HK$118,000 (2019: nil). No deferred
tax asset has been recognised in relation to such deductible
temporary difference as it is not probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences can be utilised in foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

32. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 32. IEEEBEH (&)

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed
on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by
the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC from 1 January 2008
onwards. Deferred taxation has not been provided for in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of temporary
difference attributable to the retained profits earned by
the subsidiaries in the PRC amounting to approximately
HK$670,286,000 as at 31 December 2020 (2019:
HK$552,143,000) as the Group is able to control the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Under the Provisional Regulations of LAT ({F2E A R £ F1ET
4 3B {E 7R B 1T 15451)) effective on 1 January 1994, and the
Detailed Implementation Rules on the Provisional Regulations
of the PRC on LAT ({(Hfp % A R HFIEL £ 30 48 (B B 17 15
& e 48 B ) ) effective from 27 January 1995, all income
from the sales or transfer of state-owned land use rights,
buildings and their attached facilities in the PRC is subject to
LAT at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% of the
appreciation value, being the proceeds of sales of properties
less deductible expenditures in relation to the gains arising
from sales of properties in the PRC effective from 1 January
2004. Deferred taxation of LAT has been provided for in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of appreciation
value of investment properties classified as held-for-sale
located in the PRC during the year ended 31 December 2019.

BEFRECEMERE BT N\F— A
—B BASEZPENE AR BER 25
FERZKEEBRBEBRR RZT_FF
+ZA=+—8 ARG EVBREAHR
BB A A BRER 2 AR BB i B G E A M =
Bt IR IE R 18 49 670,286,000/8 T (=&
— JL# : 552,143,000/ 7T) - RAAKEE
B AR B E R 1 AR 2 O A ) B R R
ERA AR BRI gL -

BEAB - ANEF—A—B4Bz2(FE
AREFMBE L B EREITIEAN) KB
—NMNAF—AZ+EBEERZ(PEAR
HAE L EEREITEOE MR - T
EXREHEREEFERB L MEAE &
FRENB R Z WA BRE - 1A%
NF30% £ 60% 2 LA ZEF R - B
EMEMBRERMHEEPEAMEELE 2K
HZUMEBEY B-ZETEMF-F—BE
ER-BEZZE-NF+_A=+—HIF
B LiiEEREEHBERMRFRZS
HEARBERE 2 REMEZRERRENE
HRERNFTIRRAE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

33. LEASE LIABILITIES 3. HE&E
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-EF —E-NF
FHEx FET
Lease liabilities payable: ENHEEEE
Within one year —FR 2,383 1,853
Within a period of more than one year EAR R iR — B A M
but not exceeding two years 3,936 290
Within a period of more than two years HARR A E B MR R F
but not exceeding five years - 938
6,319 3,081
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 J& : 7R B EHE FNF/RAER
months shown under current liabilities +-@A RS
FIBARIE (2,383) (1,853)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months JER BB EIE FERAR
shown under non-current liabilities +o@A &GS 2 B8 3,936 1,228
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

34.

35.

SHARE CAPITAL 34. BRA&
Number of Share
shares capital
R EE R
HK$'000
FHT
Authorised ordinary shares EBRO0ETZEEEEBR
at HK$0.05 per share
At 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019 and RN_E-NF-A—-B -ZT-hnF+ZA
31 December 2020 =t—-BRZZZZFF-A=1+—H 34,566,666,668 1,728,333
Issued and fully paid ordinary shares EER00SETZERTRBRLER
at HK$0.05 per share
At 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019 and RZE-NE—-A—R ZZ-NE+=A
31 December 2020 =+-BRZZ-ZTF+ZA=1+-H 5,250,019,852 262,501
Authorised preference shares EBR0.05BTZEEE LR
at HK$0.05 per share
At 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019 and RZZE-NF—-F—-H ZZ-NF+ZHA
31 December 2020 =t-BRZZZZFEF-ZA=1+—H 5,433,333,332 271,666
Issued and fully paid preference shares EER00SETZERTREBZELR
at HK$0.05 per share
At 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019 and RZE-NE—-A—R ZZ-NE+=A
31 December 2020 =+-BRZIZZZE+-A=+-H - -
OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS 35 @& ST H
The Group as lessor XEBEAEEBA

The investment properties held by the Group for rental
purposes are expected to generate rental yield of 0.83%
(2019: 0.82%) on an ongoing basis. Undiscounted lease
payments receivable on leases are as follows:

AEEFEHEENZREMETEREEFE
EH0.83% (ZFT—LF : 0.82%) & U
wmR o pAERRAORMBHAENSTWOT -

2020 2019

HK$'000 HK$'000

—EZEHF —E-NF

THERT FAET

Within one year —F R 96 96

AMZERBRRE — S -_TFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

36.

37.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

The Group has no significant transactions and balances with
related parties during the years ended 31 December 2020
and 2019.

Compensation of key management
personnel

The remuneration of executive directors, being the key
management personnel, are set out in Note 15, which is
determined by the remuneration committee having regard to
the performance of individuals and market trends.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders, to support the Group’s
stability and growth, and to strengthen the Group’s financial
management capability.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts,
which includes borrowings, other loan and lease liabilities
disclosed in Notes 30, 31 and 33, respectively, net of bank
balances and cash and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital and other reserves.

The directors of the Company actively and regularly reviews
its capital structure and make adjustments in light of changes
in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payables to
shareholders, issue new shares or raise new debts and repay
existing debts. The Group’s capital management objectives,
policies or processes were unchanged from previous year.

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T
For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

3. E@ T A
(a) €T ENER

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
BB —ZT-NEF
FET FHET
Financial assets EREE
FVTPL BRDER AEBR 8,496 10,683
Amortised cost B AR 1,464,241 1,624,452
Financial liabilities SHesE
Amortised cost BESH R AR 238,402 405,499

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include financial
assets at FVTPL, accounts receivable, other receivables
and deposits, bank balances and cash, other payables,
borrowings and other loan. The risks associated with
these financial instruments include market risk (currency
risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

(b) HBEEREEERERBER

AEENFESRIABEREERAN
Bt ABSZEREE BUBEREN - H
R HIBRIRE  RITHERRRE
HEMHIE  BEREMERK - ©%
ZeRMITEMENRREET SRR (B
R M EERREMERRR)
EERRNREE SRR - B B E
BZFRBROBRERNTX -EEEE
BREEZERRARRKEGEME
EEEE -

A Dk

\
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 38. @i T A (@)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) BB EKREEBFERBER#)
and policies (Continued)
Market risk o
(i) Currency risk () G

Several subsidiaries of the Company have the
foreign currency bank balances, which also
exposes the Group to foreign currency risk. In
addition, the subsidiary of the Company has intra-
group loan with a subsidiary denominated in
foreign currency which also exposes the Group to
foreign currency risk.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign
currency denominated monetary assets and
monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

RRARETHERRIBIMERTITE
MRIMEREBAZ INERR o 1th5h
AR A]H B AR E— R ASNE EHE
MMEARBEASBAER IR
EAREEEZ INE R o

RBERR - AEBIAINEFHER
EREEREAENRREEDT -

Liabilities Assets
=R BE
2020 2019 2020 2019
—®-2%F “T ¥ —B-BF ~T AF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FHET FET FHET
United States Dollar Zrx(ZEx))

("US$") - - 22,820 26,933
Renminbi (“RMB") ARE(TARKE]D - - 1,928 1,894
GBP e - - 6 6
HK$ BT - - - 14
Singapore Dollar s T - - 337 353
Inter-group loan EEMEER
HK$ BT 736,925 945,000 - -
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(@

Currency risk (Continued)

The Group currently does not have a foreign
exchange hedging policy. However, the
management of the Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign exchange exposure should the
need arises.

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed currency risk related
to US$, RMB and HKS.

For the entities of which their functional currency
is HK$ while holding assets denominated in US$,
the directors of the Company consider that as
HK$ is pegged to US$, the Group is not subject
to significant foreign currency risk from change
in foreign exchange rate of HK$ against US$ and
hence only consider the sensitivity of the change
in foreign exchange rate of HK$ against currencies
other than US$.

The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
monetary items which are denominated in relevant
foreign currencies and adjusts its translation at
the year end for a 5% change in relevant foreign
currencies exchange rates.

3. €@ T B (@)
(b) BEEMREEEERBE @)

45 2 5% ()
() E¥ERE

A £ B 3R B 30 M AE fA] 1 B 3 0 I
e R AEEEEEE AN
B L f I S 0 R R B B B E
AR GE L g

BRED N

AEBETZEHREET  ARBR
BTN EEER -

HETREER BB ITMEFAINET
FHEMEEZER  ARAEER
RoOBTLEETEN  AEETF
HEAETHETINEE R ZFHNEK
SNESEER - Hit - EEEETHE
TCLASN 2 B W B SN E [ R Y RO B
BE DT ©

FREDITEBRRERAREERE 2 AR
SNEEHEME®IRER - WRF R
BRAIMEERZE) 2 5% HEHR
o
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
(i)  Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity
to a 5% (2019: 5%) increase and decrease in
the functional currency of the group entities
against the relevant foreign currencies. 5%
(2019: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used when
reporting foreign currency risk internally to
key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. It did
not take into consideration the foreign currency
forward contracts outstanding at the end of each
reporting period as the directors of the Company
consider that the relevant currency risk exposure
is minimal. The analysis illustrates the impact for
a 5% strengthening of the functional currency of

3. €@ T B (@)
(b) BEEMREEEERBE @)

45 2 5% ()
() E¥ERE
BRED W (H)

TREAVNRAEBENEE BN
EERLARBINEFKS% (ZF
—HIF 5%) ZHRE - RARES
TREEABREINEE R ER
ZHRELERS% (ZE—NEF:
5%)  REEBHINEEXAIEA
REEE 2 FHh - AU R REHRE
HIRZ M AREBINEEIEH -
RA/SAAREER/HBEELR
BB - D THAETHEEEEDN
DREERLEBEEAES% T
&M TITXWERBFD R AE
BEVR D RIEN - AR EEER
MIhEE B R S T2 (E 5% -
HE BRI ENEFERERNE

the relevant group entities against the relevant 2o
currency and a positive and negative number
below indicates a decrease and an increase in loss
respectively. For a 5% weakening of the functional
currency of the relevant group entities against the
relevant currency, therefore would be an equal
and opposite impact on the loss or profit.
RMB Impact (i) HK$ Impact (ii)
ARMBEE®) B T (ii)
2020 2019 2020 2019
—E=%F —T N5 =—B=BF —T N5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$’000
THERT FHET THERT FET
(Increase) decrease in loss Bt Aif 518
before tax (38 0) w A (96) (95) 36,846 47,249
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
(i)  Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

(i) This is mainly attributable to the exposure on
bank balances denominated in RMB at the
end of reporting period.

(i) This is mainly attributable to the exposure
on bank balances and an inter-group loan
denominated in HK$ at the end of reporting
period.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange
risk as the year end exposure does not reflect the
exposure during the relevant years.

(i) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk
in relation to fixed-rate consideration receivable
from disposal of Hangzhou Tai Rong as disclosed
in Note 27, fixed-rate bank borrowing as disclosed
in Note 30 and lease liabilities as disclosed in
Note 33. The Group is also exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank
balances as disclosed in Note 28 and variable-rate
borrowing as disclosed in Note 30. The Group’s
cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the fluctuations of LIBOR arising from the
Group’s GBP denominated borrowing. It is the
Group's policy to keep its borrowings at floating
interest rate so as to minimise the fair value
interest rate risk. The Group manages its interest
rate exposures by assessing the potential impact
arising from any interest rate movements based on
interest rate level and outlook.

The Group currently does not use any derivative
contracts to hedge its exposure to interest rate
risk. However, the management will consider
hedging significant interest rate exposure should
the need arise.

3. €@ T B (@)
(b) BEEMREEEERBE @)

45 2 5% ()
() E¥ERE
BRED W (H)

i) TEHARREHARAARE
EHEVIRTTAE SRV IE 5 LR o

(i) TEHRMEHRAE T
ENRITESKEEBRER
B IE 5 R

EREERR ARFRNARL T
RERMBEFERR  MBURED
AR KREASMNER K -

(i) F)E@E

AEEEEBRME27AFENLE
N K ERTE B WA AE - K30
PRI R E B RITHEE KM 33
PEBENHEHERENAENXE
B o 75 &2 B IR R MY FE 28 AT AR BR
BB RY BIRITAESG KM 306
BENTEEERSREMNEM
B ARENRSREMNETRRE
BEMPAEEAREHENER
EEMNRBIBITREFEN TR
B AEBHNBRARFEEBER
FEIMEE S AR EN KR
/M e REBERNEER KR
BB B ERNEEBELN
BEFEEEANXRR -

REBRE L ENBEATETR
BHEREEERO A EERE o R
- EEERRETEREBL
BEAMEKER -
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Total interest income from financial assets that are
measured at amortised cost is as follows:

3. €@ T B (@)
(b) BEEMREEEERBE @)

45 2 5% ()
(i)  FIEREE (&

REHERATEZSREEZ BT
BHAMT

2020 2019
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BB —E-NF
THxT F#ET
Other income RN
Financial assets at amortised cost BB HK AT R Z
TREE 83,594 50,087

Interest expense on financial liabilities not
measured at FVTPL:

WHRAREFAEEZEREE
ZH B BT

2020 2019

HK$’'000 HK$'000

—E-EF —E-NF

FET FET

Financial liabilities at amortised cost REHK AR emBaE 8,867 15,291

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates at the end
of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared
assuming the financial instruments at the end of
the reporting period were outstanding for the
whole year. A 50 basis points (2019: 50 basis
points) increase or decrease which represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates is used. Bank
balances are excluded from sensitivity analysis as
the directors of the Company consider that the
exposure of cash flow interest rate risk arising
from variable-rate bank balances is insignificant.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2019: 50
basis points) higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group’s pre-tax loss for
the year ended 31 December 2020 would increase/
decrease by approximately HK$1,160,000 (2019:
pre-tax loss increase/decrease by approximately
HK$1,407,000).
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
(iii)  Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk
through its investments in listed and unlisted
equity securities. The directors of the Company
manage this exposure by maintaining a portfolio
of investments with different risks. The Group’s
equity price risk is mainly concentrated on equity
instruments of entities which are quoted in Stock
Exchange in Hong Kong. The Group currently
does not use any derivative contracts to hedge
its exposure to other price risk. However, the
management has appointed a team to monitor
the price risk and will consider hedging the risk
exposure should that needs arise.

No sensitivity analysis is presented for the years
ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 as the
management considers that the Group’s exposure
to other price risk is insignificant.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s
counterparties default on their contractual obligations
resulting in financial losses to the Group. The Group’s
credit risk exposures are primarily attributable to
accounts receivable, other receivables and deposits,
bank balances and cash. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its
credit risks associated with its financial assets, except
that the credit risks associated with consideration
receivable from disposal of Hangzhou Tai Rong
and related interest receivables include in the other
receivables is greatly reduced because such balances are
secured over properties.

3. €@ T B (@)
(b) BEEMREEEERBE @)

w5 m e ()

(iir)

HL 1 (B 15 /2R

AREBRER L KIELEHERAE
75 BV 1% B T [ B AR A B AR LR - AR
AAEFBRERHFETRARZ
REMAEEZAR - REEZK
REBEBRIEZEPREBNER
FSENERORATE - AEE
BRYEEREATETAARNSE
HEMERRER - A BEED
ZE-MAABSRERERIL KR
BRERFEZEEIPABRR -

RBEZZT_ZTFR=-_ZT—NF
T A=+ HLEE FEZ7
FRESN  RERAEBERARE
EETEE s HMERRRIT R E
j(o

=B BB R E A
EERREAKSBEAHFIERBEZALN

EEERARIMBEBERNER - AKEZ

EERR

WO 2 EUARSR - E A RO

FREE ROTEHREAS - AKEALEFL
HESHMEEMRB 2 EERRISEEAER
mn S E A E RIR T Y an - HEERET A E RN
AR K2 B AN R AR e M A B 2 A B B R
BBz EERRBANEERERN  RARE
BAAEERTI A T REHIER
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The Group performed impairment assessment for
financial assets under ECL model. Information about the
Group’s credit risk management, maximum credit risk
exposures and the related impairment assessment, if
applicable, are summarised as below:

Accounts receivable arising from contracts with
customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits and credit approvals and to
determine any debt recovery action on those delinquent
accounts receivable arising from contracts with
customers. Before granting credit to these customers,
the Group reviews the credit quality and defines credit
limits by these customers. Limits attributed to these
customers are reviewed once a year and each customer
has a maximum credit limit. The Group maintains a
defined credit policy to assess the credit quality of these
customers and seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables so as to minimise credit risk. In
this regard, the directors of the Company consider that
the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group's concentration of credit risk by geographical
locations is mainly in the PRC, which accounted for
100% (2019: 100%) of the total accounts receivable as
at 31 December 2020. In addition, the Group performs
impairment assessment under ECL model on credit-
impaired accounts receivable individually. The remaining
non-credit-impaired accounts receivable are assessed
collectively and grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics by reference to the Group's past due
status of outstanding balances, nature, size and industry
of debtors and external credit ratings. Impairment of
approximately HK$1,284,000 is recognised (2019:
HK$26,000 is reversed) during the year ended 31
December 2020. Details of the quantitative disclosures
are set out below in this note.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, including
consideration receivable from disposal of Hangzhou
Tai Rong and related interest receivables, the directors
of the Company make periodic individual assessment
on the recoverability of other receivables and deposits
based on historical settlement records, past experience,
and also quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportive forward-looking information.
Except for the consideration receivable from disposal
of Hangzhou Tai Rong and related interest receivables,
the directors of the Company believe that there are no
significant increase in credit risk of these amounts since
initial recognition and the Group provided impairment
based on 12m ECL. For the consideration receivable
from disposal of Hangzhou Tai Rong and related interest
receivables, the counterparty is not able to settle its
these balances result in significant increase in credit risk.
However, the credit risk of the consideration receivable
from disposal of Hangzhou Tai Rong and related interest
receivables is greatly reduced because such balances are
secured over properties. Impairment of approximately
HK$28,336,000 is reversed (2019: HK$56,486,000 is
recognised) during the year ended 31 December 2020
and impairment of approximately HK$5,568,000 is
eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries during the year
ended 31 December 2019. Details of the quantitative
disclosures are set out below in this note.

3. €@ T B (@)
(b) BEEMREEEERBE @)

=B B B2 R 6 (E 7T 1 ()
A ERIRARIE T

FEMERER RIES (BELEMM
REERRERBBABEKFE) ME
RAREBRBBAFERS  BAL
BURAEBEASARNEE EERTE M
AR T EE E M EREER RIS 2 ATk
B 14 3 7T Bl FEAG o Br B SN K SR
WA AE I AB A FE U BB 5N - R A B E
ERAE ZELEZEERBRUERE
RA RABHABVAHEREAEETD
RIR121E A FBHEE BB R E R
e M EMMALERRERABREE
WFBMmE WFAHREESZEEH
FMEEREERBR ARG - AT
£ S AT K 88 U AR (B % AR B e R LB,
ZEERBEREBRE  REABHLE
BIBE TYERMER -REBEE=-Z
—EF+_A=t+—HLEFER BB
[B135 {8 47 28,336,000 8 7T ( —FE— FL4F
B #3256,486,000/8 ) R EHE_Z
—NF+ZA=Z+—BLEFE RHE
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 38. 2@ T B @)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) BB EKREEBFERBER#)

and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) 1= B E e R ol (B 7715 ()
Bank balances RITAEER
Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the HREFHAEERBEE TREENR
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit MAEBLBRT WRTTEHRZEERAR
ratings assigned by credit agencies. The Group assessed AR - REBEBEFBINSEETRE
12m ECL for bank balances by reference to information BEMGNBEEETIRAERNELORER
relating to probability of default and loss given default REXEENER  HRITERETI2
of the respective credit rating grades published by B AEREEBEN G ERNTEHESE
external credit rating agencies. Based on the average ERITEBRZ 12EATEREEBER
loss rates, the 12m ECL on bank balances is considered REZMFHMA -

to be insignificant.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment REE 2 AEMEE R ST AT B E A

comprises the following categories: TR -

Internal Accounts Other financial

credit rating Description receivable assets

AMIEEFTR it FE W BR X HitbE@EE

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifetime ECL — not 12m ECL
and does not have any past-due amounts credit-impaired

EEN RGUFHEHNRRKEBEVEMT(TE 2HEHEEBE— 2EABREEES
Hem REEEERE

Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but  Lifetime ECL — not 12m ECL
usually settle in full credit-impaired

BiReE BEHABRRNBRABBEEN HEEE 2HBRHEEEE- 2@ABBEEES
HEN RELFEERE

Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL — not Lifetime ECL — not
credit risk since initial recognition through credit-impaired credit-impaired
information developed internally

RER FRANBHER2ER  BYLHERREE 2HEHEEEE- 2HEBEEEE-
[E\ Bz B K _EF REEEERE REEEERE

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL — credit- Lifetime ECL — credit-
credit-impaired impaired impaired

&8 EREBETNEECDREEERE THRMEEEE- 2HAREEEHE-

SREEERE BEREEERE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the Amount is written off Amount is written off
debtor is in severe financial difficulty and
the Group has no realistic prospect of
recovery

i 8 EREBETEBABAREMBRERE MWiEeHE WiHE R
SETEEENLERAR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 38. R T B (#®)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) BB EKREEBFERBER#)
and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) 1= B E e R ol (B 7715 ()
The table below details the credit risk exposures of TRAMAEEHBETEREEBEFT
the Group’s financial assets, which are subject to ECL HreMmEERGR EERE
assessment:
2020 2019
bt 2 ZE-nE
(Gross carrying amount (3ross carrying amount
Internal/exteral AEEE 25EE
Notes  creditrating 12m or lifgtime ECL HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
B AB/ABEEFE  NEAS2EEEEEFE TAn Tin ThAn TiEn
Financial assets at amortised cost
RESRASIE EHEE
Accounts receivable contracts with 2% (Note 1) Lifetime ECL (provision matrix) 3,785 4401
customers
REEPANZEIER (K1) SHRSCERR (BRRR)
(Note 1) Lifetime ECL (credit-impairec) 1,357 5,142 - 4.401
(K1) SHRSCERR(EERE)
Other receivables and deposits i (Note 2) 12mECL 2133 2,058
R ENTERRS (Kit2) NEAEHREES
Doubtful Lifetime ECL (non-credit-impaired) 983,527 1,108,828
& ORAREER
(REEEEHE)
Write-off Amount is written off - 986,260 10,027 1120913
Bank balances 8 Aa3t0B2 12mECL 496,854 560,208
Fires A3ER) NERRHREES
1,488,256 1,685,522
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Notes:

1. For accounts receivable from contracts with customers,
the Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS
9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The
Group determines the ECL on these items by using a
provision matrix, grouped by internal credit rating.

As part of the Group's credit risk management, the Group
applies internal credit rating for its customers in relation
to its operation. The following table provides information
about the exposure to credit risk for accounts receivable
from contracts with customers which are assessed based
on provision matrix within lifetime ECL (not credit-
impaired).

3. €@ T B (@)
(b) BEEMREEEERBE @)

=B B B2 R 6 (E 7T 1 ()

fiat -

RREBTPENZBERNRME - A&
BECEAEBMBREEANFEIFANZ
iR R R EREE R 2EE
B AEEEBRABBREEEZS
HEEERAGERE  LUREEER
AARETT O

ERAREEEERRER 2 —#H &
SERBRESEFRIEPEAAME
B - TRARZHEHREREBR (R
BAEERE) BEANRRIBIEERERE
P2 RA TP A 2 BUIR IR
EBEERBAE L ER -

Gross carrying amount AR ET (B
2020 2019
- Sl 33 —Z-nE

Average Accounts Average Accounts
loss rate receivable loss rate receivable
FHEEX FERER 3K FHBERE FEMCR R
Internal credit rating HK$'000 HK$'000
RBEEFR TEL TET
Low risk KR 1.28% 2,351 1.42% 1,185
Watch list BREE 2.94% 393 3.94% 106
Doubtful RIR 4.05% 1,041 4.39% 3,110
3,785 4,401

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the
debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort. The
grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
relevant information about specific debtors is updated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

1. During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
reversed of approximately HK$17,000 (2019: HK$26,000)
impairment allowance for accounts receivable based on
the provision matrix and recognised of approximately
HK$1,301,000 (2019: nil) impairment allowance for
accounts receivable based on individual assessment..

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
reversed of approximately HK$16,819,000 impairment
allowance for accounts receivable arising from property
rental income classified as held-for-sale.

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL

3. €@ T B (@)
(b) BEEMREEEERBE @)

=B B B2 R 6 (E 7T 1 ()

s : (&)

1. REzE—ZT-_TF+-_A=+—HLIt
FER 7S BIAR IR AE R gk R
BRI 4917,000/8 T (=T — L4 -
26,0007 70) 2 % 1B 7 1 30 4R 5% (8 51 5T
(TR FE U AR T 2 R B 45149 1,301,000
BIL(ZE—NF E) -

RBE-_T-NF+_A=t—"HLLF
ER - REERSBAFIEHENDE
R 0 WA A A Y 1 LA R TR 8 [t M 8 £
#916,819,000 & 7T °

TRIVR LU R IER 2 2 M E

that has been recognised for accounts receivable: BEB 223 :
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
- provision - individual - individual
matrix assessment assessment
(not credit- (not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) impaired) Total
2HEH 2HEH 2HEH
REFR FEFR REER
-REER R — @RI
(BEEHE) (BEEHE) (EERE) &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TFhT FiET T
As at 1 January 2019 R=E-NF—A—-H 183 16,819 - 17,002
Changes due to financial instruments RZB-N$-A-BHAZ
recognised as at 1 January 2019: TRHIARTE
~ Impairment losses reversed -BREZIEESE (183) - - (183)
~ Impairment losses reversed for the assets ~ —BHHBARELELE ZE KA
reclassified as held-for-sale ZREBE - (16,819) - (16,819)
New financial assets originated EANeREE
- Impairment losses recognised ~FRERRESE 157 - - 157
As at 31 December 2019 R-B-NF+-A=1-R 157 - - 157
Changes due to financial instruments RIZZZE-f-HEAZ
recognised as at 1 January 2020: ERIAMEE
— Transfer to credit-impaired -EREEERA (56) = 56 =
~ Impairment losses recognised -BRRAEER - - 1,301 1,301
~ Impairment losses reversed -BREIESE (101) - - (101)
New financial assets originated EENeREE
~ Impairment losses recognised -FRRAEER 84 - - 84
As at 31 December 2020 RZZZBE+-A=1-H 84 - 1,357 1,441

AMZERBRRE — S -_TFFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

1. Changes in the loss allowance for accounts receivable
as of 31 December 2019 are mainly due to the reversal
of impairment allowance for accounts receivable arising
from property rental income classified as held-for-
sale with a gross carrying amount of approximately
HK$85,377,000 upon full settlement during the year
ended 31 December 2019.

Changes in the loss allowance for accounts receivable
as of 31 December 2020 are mainly due to the
recognition of impairment allowance for credit-impaired
accounts receivable with a gross carrying amount of
approximately HK$1,357,000.

The Group writes off accounts receivable when there
is information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under
liguidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings,
or when the accounts receivable are over two years past
due, whichever occurs earlier. None of the accounts
receivable that have been written off is subject to
enforcement activities.

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020

3. €@ T B (@)
(b) BEEMREEEERBE @)

=B B B2 R 6 (E 7T 1 ()

M ()

1.

RoE—-hE+-A=+—08 BKE
FEBREELREH N ETEHEE -
E-HF+_A=Z+—-BLEEEAR
BHEER ERBEREZMER
SWAEEZ BUER CREAEAL
85,377,000 78 7T ) 5l {8 5 8 7 B Fr 3 o

BE_Z-_ZTHE+-_A=+—BH2ZELK
RN ERGE S EEERRAR
A 5 #%91,357,00078 T 2 1= BB (B fE
W R SR HE R (B 48 o

BEEHMBATREBABRARENRA
TEBHEHENS  AEEBACES
B BEARERFHE BUKERR
CEHEEMFE (URFEEERE)
AER B o B R MR R o B R B U
RFIG TR AITEBHLR -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

2.

For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the
Group uses past due information to assess whether credit
risk has increased significantly since initial recognition.

3. €@ T B (@)
(b) BEEMREEEERBE @)

=B /m 5 R E TS ()
FieE : (&)
2. BABEERBRERMES  AEEER

BHMEARFEEVRERLERERRZ
BAMEIE N -

No fixed
repayment
2020 Past due terms Total
b g 22 BY EEEEXER Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TER TERT
Other receivables and deposits HitEWIE R RS 983,527 2,733 986,260
No fixed
repayment
2019 Past due terms Total
—Z-NF B EEERETHAR @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THT THT
Other receivables and deposits Hi W FE R L& 1,118,855 2,058 1,120,913

AMZERBRRE — S -_TFFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T
For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

3. €@ T B (@)
(b) BEEMREEEERBE @)

=B B B2 R 6 (E 7T 1 ()

FieE : (&)

2. The following tables show reconciliation of loss 2. TRIVRE R ERERER K& H &
allowances that has been recognised for other FIERRZ BERE R
receivables:

Lifetime ECL
(Not credit- Lifetime ECL
impaired)  (credit-impaired) Total
2HBEHEEFE 2MEBCERR
(RBERERE) (EREFERE) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FRT TET

As at 1 January 2019 R-Z-hF—H—R - 10,027 10,027
Changes due to financial instruments recognised R=Z—NF—F—HHERZ L7

asat 1 January 2019: TERBES

- Written off — A - (10,027) (10,027)
New financial assets originated EANEREE

~ Impairment losses recognised -BREARESE 50,918 - 50,918

- Impairment losses recognised for the assets ~ —~EH A EARBELEEEZD

reclassified as held-for-sale R ZREER 5,568 - 5,568

~ Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries —HERBA AWM (5,568) - (5,568)
As at 31 December 2019 R-E-NE+-A=t+-AH 50,918 - 50,918
Changes due to finandial instruments recognised R=Z=FF—f—BH¥RZ ¢/

as at 1 January 2020: TEMBES

— Impairment losses reversed -BEERESE (28,336) = (28,336)
As at 31 December 2020 R-Z-2F+-A=1+-A 22,582 - 22,582
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

2. Changes in the loss allowance for other receivables of the
Group are mainly due to the reversal (2019: provision)
of impairment allowance for consideration receivable
from disposal of Hangzhou Tai Rong and related interest
receivables with a gross carrying amount of approximately
HK$983,527,000 (2019: HK$1,108,828,000) during
the year ended 31 December 2020 considering the
extension agreement entered between the Group and
the Purchaser that the remaining consideration receivable
would be settled on or before April 2021 as disclosed in
Note 27.

Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of bank balances and cash
deemed adequate by the management to finance
the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors
the utilisation of borrowings and ensures compliance
with loan covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required
to pay. Specifically, bank borrowings with a repayment
on demand clause are included in the earliest time band
regardless of the probability of the banks choosing to
exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other non-
derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates.

3. €@ T B (@)
(b) BEEMREEEERBE @)

=B B B2 R 6 (E 7T 1 ()

s : (&)

2. AEEZHMEWERSERELR
BEHOHNTEARNEEIAEEEE S
RIMZERWS  FlehERREBR
R —FW AR ZATEEE (W27
FigsE) mMREBEE-—Z2-_FF+ -4
=+ HLEFERER(ZZT—NF:
BE) REMM AL ERFEBRERE
WE BA FI) 2. (BRTE 428 & 49 983,527,000
BI7T) (—F— 14 :1,108,828,000787T)
ZIREREATE

EEERBESERE  AEEERR
HBERERRABZRITERLRS
KFE - DUERAARERBRERIEES A
BERERERBZFE EEEER
BEZBBIBERLHERETERRE -

TRAJAEETESRMAGBZHT
BHEHA o BRIIBBEARE L A
BEXEESHMABBLRFARZIRMA
RenEme e ABME  TWwRITE
LEAREERTERLEN REARE
KERGFRZBITBEEDF AZRRERRH
HE - EMIETEeRmaEzIHAR
RETEERS-

AMZERBRRE — S -_TFFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

As stated in Note 3.1, the directors of the Company
have considered the Group’s liquidity and going
concern in the light of the fact that up to the date of
approval for issuance of this consolidated financial
statements, the Guangzhou Target Company have
reached an agreement in principle with the Bank of
Jinzhou regarding the renewal of the Guangzhou
Bank Loan which originally due in January 2021 and
undergoing the internal approval process of the Bank
of Jinzhou. If the Guangzhou Bank Loan has not been
successfully renewed subsequent to the completion
of the acquisition of Guangzhou Target Company
and being enforceable for repayment, the Group may
not have sufficient resources to settle the acquisition
considerations of very substantial acquisitions of
shopping mall businesses and repay the Guangzhou
Bank Loan with interest accrued to the Bank of
Jinzhou, given that the Group has net current assets
approximately HK$1,092,534,000 included bank
balances and cash of approximately HK$496,862,000 as
at 31 December 2020.

The table includes both interest and principal cash
flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate,
the undiscounted amount is derived from weighted
average interest rate at the end of reporting period.
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3. €@ T B (@)
(b) BEEMREEEERBE @)

mEBEL /R ()

MM FE3 P - R E E R B R
REVBREBY  ARRESEERE
REBWRSES MIFELCENRR B
M BIZRQR]E R SR 1T R E B BN 4R
TEFR(BEAR-_Z==Z—F— AF5)
KMAEITERMIRIT 2 AP BLAR 7 [R Bl 1%
ER W - WEMBITERL RN TR
UREEEIN B 1= R BB R ) B4 s fl
WITEN  AKEARERBRENER
T IER E R URE B R 0 ST 2 IR
REREZEMNBITER  REREM
RITZREFE - ERAEER T =
TFE+ A=+ BHAEEFEY
1,092,534,000%8 7T (B 4EIRITEH LR
4 #7496,862,00078 7T) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 38. M T R @)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) BB EKREEBFERBER#)
and policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) mEELmEE (F)
Liquidity table MEEH XK
As at 31 December 2020 R-ZZB-Z2F+-A=1t—H
Weighted ~ On demand Total
average  or less than 3 months to undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1month  1-3 months 1year 1-5years  cash flows amount
i BERY =fiA AERRE

FONE  FR-fA -2=fA E-f -Eif  RBER A
% HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
% TR TR TER TR THT TR

Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ 674 ¢ RAE

Other payables EfERTE - 2,776 - - - 2,776 2,776
Borrowings & 3.06 232314 620 2,79 - 235,724 235,626
Lease liablities HEEE 401 285 641 2613 2984 6,523 6,319
235,375 1,261 5403 2,984 245,023 244,721
As at 31 December 2019 N-ZE—-—HE+-_A=+—H
Weighted ~ On demand Total
average  or less than 3 months to undiscounted Carrying
interest rate Tmonth 13 months 1 year 1-5 years cash flows amount
mE - RERA =fiA AEREE

Fanx  AR-ER  -E=@A i-% -Eif  REEE KA
% HKS000  HKS00D  HKS'000  HKFO00  HKS'O00  HKS$'000
% TAL TAL TET TAL TAL TET

Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ {74 £RA[E

Other payables EfEMFE - 3,070 - - - 3,070 3,070
Bormowings A8 355 281471 - - - 281,471 281471
Other loan EBEH - 120,958 - - - 120958 120958
Lease liabiltes HEEE 6.18 246 499 1,165 1,658 3,568 3,081

405,745 499 1,165 1,658 409,067 408,580
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A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

3. €@ T B (@)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

Borrowing with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the "on demand or less than 1 month"
time band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31
December 2020, the aggregate principal amount
of this borrowing amounted to approximately
HK$232,005,000 (2019: HK$281,471,000). Taking into
account the Group's financial position, the directors of
the Company believe that it is probable that the bank
will not exercise its discretionary rights to demand
immediate repayment. The directors of the Company
believe that this borrowing will be repaid in accordance
with the scheduled repayment date set out in the loan
agreement, details of which are set out in the table
below.

(b) MK EREERREREK@®E

mEBEL /R ()

MEEZRERKEERAZEBEELE L
MEIHASMEFAERERSEFE—
BRAIZEHBERN - R_T_TF
+ZA=+—H ZEEZLALBE
A #9232,005,0008 T (ZF — JL4F -
281,471,000/ 7T) © &5t R A S E 2 Bt
BB ARRESRABRIT AR
BEITE HE KA ERCWIERE - A2
RESZRA ZEEBRBERBZM
HATERBESEERE  HFBRHR TR -

Maturity Analysis - Borrowing

with a repayment on demand clause

based on the scheduled repayment

B -WERET HEREE

BRERBERIZEE

Total
Less than 1-3 3 monthsto undiscounted Carrying
1 month months 1year  cash flows amount

KR
BenE RE®
SH-EBR -Z=f8A =fBRZ-%¥ ot @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL
As at 31 December 2020 RZZZZF+-A=1-H 21,679 43,358 173,433 238,470 232,005
As at 31 December 2019 RZE-NF+-A=T-H 24,290 48,579 218,607 291,476 281,471

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments are subject to change if changes in variable
interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c) Fair value measurements of financial
instruments

This note provides information about how the Group
determines fair values of various financial assets and
financial liabilities.

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are measured
at fair value for financial reporting purposes. The
directors of the Company are responsible to determine
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair
value measurements.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-
observable data to the extent it is available. Where
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages
third party qualified valuers to perform the valuation.
The directors of the Company works closely with the
qualified external valuers to establish the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs to the model. The
management reports the valuation committee’s findings
to the directors of the Company to explain the cause of
fluctuations in the fair value.

3. €@ T B (@)

(o)

ERMTANQAAENE

AMFERHEEBARENAEE TR S
REERSRABENAAENEFR -

AREFEREEEF

HMBHREEN  AREXIEMTA
BAREFE - ARAEFRBEEER
REFEFEE RERTEEARE -

ERFARER  AEEEAEERA
EEMmSHE - EUEE - BRNBA
BZBERAT  AEEBBEFE=T/ER
HEMETRE - ARBDEFTEIEE
BEBIMNBAER - A EEE R
BERMTEBARE BEESTEHER
BEENRHEERRETARAESS
A A ERBERE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c) Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured
at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The
following table gives information about how the fair
values of these financial assets are determined (in
particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

3. €@ T B (@)
() ERMIEMARENE @

FEFUBEMEERLA L ETENE
BEEHAAE

AEEBOEHEENSREPIREZEA
REFE - TREIBBIAIEEZF
TREENLAEBECLERMERNMG
B LB ABR) ER -

Fair value Relationship of key inputs
Financial assets Fair value as at 31 December hierarchy ~ Valuation technique(s) and key inputs to fair value
R+=B=1-RH MfE IERABER
tREE M E3 HERHREZHARE MRAEHEE
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
o L
TR TEL
Financial assets at FVTPL 609 571 Level2 Asset-based approach Asignificant increase in the net
- unlisted equity asset value used would result in a
securities Derived based on net asset value of the significant increase in fair value, and
unlisted invested entities vice versa.
BAREHABRZE FER ABEME RRNEEFENAEENBERR
BEE-FLHRA AENKBEM R2HHK -
&% REERFLTREERAEERTE
Financial assets at 7,887 10,112 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active market N/A
FVTPL - listed equity
securities
BAABIAERZE Z-Ef  EBMAMEREAE TER
HEE-LTRAE
%

There were no transfers in different levels of the fair
value hierarchy between Level 1 and 2 during the
reporting period.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities that are not measured at
fair value on a recurring basis (but fair value
disclosures required)

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values based on
discounted cash flows analysis.
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39. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 39. Rk E R 5T &
The Group has retirement plans covering a substantial portion REBZAE-—BHERRAERILDEE ZRIK
of its employees. The principal plans are defined contribution &l TEHBNRATEHRGE -
plans.
The Company’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong participate the $"ﬁE’J%iﬁﬁﬂ%“ﬁ@}fﬁﬁ%w’\\EE”\F@EJF
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme under the rules and ZIEIE BRI R E 2 Ea Gl A E S
regulations of the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes 2l REBEEHES ML E - qu‘E'JE’\Jﬁ
Authority. The Group’s employees are required to join the EEAEENEESDHBE - BXFEAES
scheme. The assets of the schemes are held separately from e AEEBESTEE ffﬂ TR ERE
those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. EREEEMBRANSHHE  LRAST
The Group has followed the minimum statutory contribution ZEE®THA1,50087T -

requirement of 5% of eligible employees’ relevant aggregated
income with a cap of HK$1,500 per employee per month.

The Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC, Singapore and RETEAAERBEARL - RARRFE -
the UK, in compliance with the applicable regulations of g R RERBARH2EZIBEREHAE
respective jurisdictions, participated in various pension TR EE s ZERKSE - ZFWBR
schemes operated by the relevant municipal and provincial /J;z_}:LpfilJFﬁ/@%iﬁ/i\Zlmﬁ aNsd)
governments. These subsidiaries are required to make defined ZEFEMEL ERER R L H RSN K
contributions to these schemes at a fixed percentage of their = llﬁfﬁi\’rlﬂi'iﬁ;ﬁ\l RAR 2 H A iR IK1E 1R
covered payroll. The Group has no other obligations for the FEEE ©

payment of its staff's retirement and other post-retirement
benefits other than the contributions described above.

The total contributions in respect of the year ended 31 HE-ZT-_FTF+-_A=+—HIEFEALH
December 2020 charged to consolidated statement of AHEELEMEPERSEEMNG 2 BEHREBLD
profit or loss and other comprehensive income amount to 1,114,000 87T (ZZF— 14 : 1,822,000 % 7T) ©

approximately HK$1,114,000 (2019: HK$1,822,000).
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40. DISPOSAL AND DEREGISTRATION OF 40. HERFEHMBLF - ARE
SUBSIDIARIES, A LIMITED PARTNERSHIP, BLAOREBEHEER
A STRUCTURED ENTITY
(a) Disposal of Hangzhou Tai Rong (a) HEMIMALE
The Group had entered into a sale and purchase REESHR_ZE—-—NFALATNBR
agreement on 18 September 2018 and 25 August 2019, —NWFENAZ+THBHEERFIL
respectively, with the Purchaser to dispose of its entire BEE W A EE RN RS (AR
equity interest of Hangzhou Tai Rong, which engaged EMERETY) 22 HEE BeR
in property investment activities, at a cash consideration & A A K #1,550,000,000 7T (4855 49
of RMB1,550,000,000 (equivalent to approximately 1,727,320,0007870) R HBAREE FX
HK$1,727,320,000) and part of consideration were TLAE R IR B B 5140 869,232,000 4 7T ©
paid for settlement of shareholder loans amounting to REEERZZ-NF+A=1T—08%
approximately HK$869,232,000. The Group transferred MINKEE z 2 iESEETEH RN
all of its equity interests in Hangzhou Tai Rong to the ARERHEBRZEEFENT ¢
Purchaser on 31 October 2019 and the net assets of
Hangzhou Tai Rong at the date of disposal were as
follows:
HK$'000
FHET
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which & EZRFIENEEREBES T :
control was lost:
Investment properties wREYE 1,560,160
Loan receivables B E R 61,077
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments HMEWKIE - ke KA KB 47,536
Bank balances and cash RITHEHBR LB 74
Accrued liabilities and other payables FEET B & KR H A A 1A (8,354)
Deferred tax liabilities FERIBEE (92,557)
Shareholder loans [RERER (869,232)
Net assets disposed of BHREEEFE 698,704
Consideration paid for settlement of shareholder EEBREER 2 ERHRE
loans 869,232
1,567,936
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40. DISPOSAL AND DEREGISTRATION OF 40. HERFHMBAR - ARE
SUBSIDIARIES, A LIMITED PARTNERSHIP, BLAAREELHER @)
A STRUCTURED ENTITY (Continued)
(a) Disposal of Hangzhou Tai Rong (a) HEMM AL &)
(Continued)
HK$'000
FET
Gain on disposal of Hangzhou Tai Rong: HERMARZ W :
Consideration received U ERE 1,727,320
Net assets disposed of BEHELEEFE (1,567,936)
Cumulative exchange differences in respect of the BRIMIBE AR EEFENERETHEE
net assets of the subsidiary reclassified from B RFTELERE
equity to profit or loss 8,740
Gain on disposal included in other gains and losses Hi & Uz (FF A E ks M E18) 168,124
HK$'000
FHET
Net cash inflow arising on disposal of HEMMNAREEZHSRATE
Hangzhou Tai Rong:
Cash consideration BENRE 1,727,320
Deposits received from disposal of Hangzhou HEMIMNAE 2 BWIES
Tai Rong (172,732)
Less: disposal receivable W FEY E RIE (1,108,828)
Less: bank balances and cash disposed of W B ERITESRNRRS (74)
Net cash inflow HERANFHE 445,686

Details of the above disposal were set out in the
Company's announcement dated 15 June 2018, 28
August 2018 and 25 August 2019.

FHMHEZHBER AR ASEA
E—-NFA+HEB - ZZE—N\F)\H
“t+NBEZZE-—AFNA-_+RHBZ

R
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40. DISPOSAL AND DEREGISTRATION OF
SUBSIDIARIES, A LIMITED PARTNERSHIP,
A STRUCTURED ENTITY (Continued)

(b) Disposal of the subsidiaries

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
had entered into three sales and purchase agreements
with different independent third parties to dispose of
its entire equity interests in &I Z @K EFAAE R
‘A &) (Shenzhen Hong Rong Investment Consulting
Co. Ltd*), #T/T K @ & & & 2 B R 2 7 (Zhejiang Tai
Rong Asset Management Co. Ltd*) and Tai United
Investments Il Limited and its subsidiaries, Tai United
Asset Management Pte. Ltd. (collectively referred to as
the “Disposed Subsidiaries”) at total considerations of
approximately HK$2,000. The disposals were completed
during the year ended 31 December 2019 and the net
liabilities of the Disposed Subsidiaries at their respective
dates of disposals were as follows:

40.

HERFHMBAR - FRE

(b) HEKBLQF

RBE_Z-NF+_A=+—BILF
= $$liﬁiﬂ_ﬂﬁj'ﬁiﬁﬁi_
EET%F* L‘AHﬁ’%EB"m#H?%MQﬁ*ﬁ
AARAR MIAMEEERERD
A K Tai Un|ted Investments Il Limited } &
Bff /& 2 &) Tai United Asset Management
Pte. Ltd. (BB L EWB AT 22
g ARELNR200087T - HE
EREBE_ZE-NF+A=+—HIt
FEATK BHEMBERARREES
BZHEBHZEBEFENT :

HK$'000
FHET
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which A EZZ#IEEERBESN
control was lost:
Property, plant and equipment ME - B R&E 64
Right-of-use assets 15 /8 %EF 11,273
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments H A EWRIE -~ e RFAN K 2,394
Bank balances and cash R1T mﬁ%&fﬁi 1,437
Accrued liabilities and other payables FEET B & R H A FE S 5018 (6,930)
Lease liabilities HEEE (11,391)
Net liabilities disposed of EHEBEFE (3,153)
HK$'000
FHET
Analysis of gain on disposal of the Disposed HESHEHRBARZWE DT :
Subsidiaries:
Consideration received BB 2
Net liabilities disposed of BHEaEFRE 3,153
Cumulative exchange differences in respect of EHERBATABEFRANERETHE
the net liabilities of the Disposed Subsidiaries TIER 7 BEHEH =58
reclassified from equity to profit or loss 180
Net gains on disposal of the Disposed Subsidiaries i & £ & i B 2 7] 2 Wz % 58 (FT A E A
included in other gains and losses e 2 B 18) 3,335

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020
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40. DISPOSAL AND DEREGISTRATION OF 40. HE R M B A
SUBSIDIARIES, A LIMITED PARTNERSHIP, BATREBHEE

A STRUCTURED ENTITY (Continued)

(b) Disposal of the subsidiaries (Continued)

(b) HEKMELQT &)

fale 21|

HK$'000
FET
Net cash outflow arising on disposal of the HECHENBAREEZRER L FEE
Disposed Subsidiaries:
Cash consideration ReRE 2
Less: bank balances and cash disposed of B BHERITESRNIRS (1,437)
Net cash outflow ReEnHFE (1,435)
* The English names are for identification purpose only.
(c) Deregistration of subsidiaries, a limited (o) E}_ﬁ‘é’ M B A ﬂ EREE QT

partnership and a structured entity

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
had deregistered MM ZREEEBERELE(ER
& #) (Hangzhou Hong Nong Limited Partnership*),

ml:l *%’l‘ig 5.

WEHE-Z-AF+=-A=+—A1

FE - AREFEHEAME

BRATEA

B (BRA%) - Haitong Dynamic

Haitong Dynamic Fund and ER KA S=% 5 AR 2 & Fund R BRASEE S BRAF (FEIE
(Guangdong Tai Chong Trading Co. Ltd*) (collectively AHERE] -
referred to as the “Deregistered Entities”).
* The English names are for identification purpose only.
HK$'000
FHET
Analysis of gain on deregistration of the ZHCOEHERZKE DN

Deregistered Entities:

Cumulative exchange differences reclassified
from equity to profit or loss and net gains
on deregistration of the Deregistered Entities
included in other gains and losses

AHCEHEREL CHAREENNRE
BRI EFENRAELEZR GIAR
i Yz Ko 5 18)
1,045

AFZERARDT — T -TFFH

205



206

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A PERERN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —E-FF+-A=+—HIFEZ

41.

42,

CHARGES ON ASSETS

The Group has the following charges on assets for a bank
borrowing as set out in Note 30 at the end of the reporting
period:

41. EEEKH

REBERHERRER AT RBRITEFREMHR
EROEEMNER A E30MH):

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-EE —E—hF
FERT FHET
Investment properties KEME
— Residential property units located in the —RERZFEE
UK (Note) B (PfFE) 792,245 806,985

Note: The investment properties, insurance proceeds and together
with a floating charge over all the assets of certain subsidiaries
of the Group were pledged to a bank to secure for a bank
borrowing with an outstanding amount of approximately
HK$232,013,000 (2019: HK$282,445,000).

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The purpose of the share option scheme is to enable the
directors of the Company to grant options to selected
employee or proposed employee (whether full time or part
time employee, including any director) of any member of
the Group or any invested entity, any supplier of goods or
services, any customer, any person or entity that provide
research, development or other technological support, any
shareholders or any participants who contribute to the
development and growth of the Group or any invested entity
(the "Eligible Participants”) as incentives or rewards for their
contribution or potential contribution to the Group and/or
to recruit and retain high calibre Eligible Participants and to
attract human resources that are valuable to the Group.

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020

MisE: AEEREDE - REMBREERS TH
BRAMBEERIHZEFLLIERT
$R1T - EAREERITEE£232,013,000
BT (ZF— L 1 282,445,000 7T) 2 &
®-

42. B RESTE

BEETSEN/EAAREFAAMET
MAEBERKE AR REMKREEENE
AEEXEERE (TREBAKRBES &
REFES)  EAEMEREHERS - £/
P RHAEHEMBMSENEMAL
HEE EARRAAETEELEMREE
BOZERMERELEBOEMN2EE ([6
BRSEE ) RTBRE  FRmEsiEr
REHEHAREEFELRATEEHOER - &
SAEERBERIBNAER2EERR
SIHAKREAEEEBNANER
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42. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 42. BB ESTEl (®)

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders
on 17 September 2015, the Company adopted a new share
option scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”) on 17
September 2015 and shall be valid and effective for a period
of ten years commencing on the date of adoption of the
New Share Option Scheme (i.e. 16 September 2025) unless
terminated earlier by shareholders in general meeting. The
number of shares which may be allotted and issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted under the New
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
total shares in issue on the date of approval of the New Share
Option Scheme by the shareholders at the annual general
meeting (i.e. 125,091,243 shares) (the “Scheme Mandate
Limit”) unless the Company obtains a fresh approval from
shareholders to renew the Scheme Mandate Limit on the
basis that the maximum number of shares in respect of which
any options outstanding and yet to be exercised under the
New Share Option Scheme and any other schemes shall not
exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company from
time to time.

The Scheme Mandate Limit was changed to 525,001,985
as at the date of passing of the ordinary resolution granted
the refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit (i.e. 5 June
2017). The refreshed Scheme Mandate Limit represents 10%
of the total number of ordinary shares of the Company in
issue amounted to 5,250,019,852 shares as at 5 June 2017.
The options may be granted under the refreshed Scheme
Mandate Limit do not include options that are outstanding,
cancelled or lapsed as at 5 June 2017.

The terms of the New Share Option Scheme provide that
in granting options under the New Share Option Scheme,
the directors of the Company may offer to grant any
options subject to such terms and conditions in relation to
the minimum period of the options to be held and/or the
performance criteria to be satisfied before such options
can be exercised and/or any other terms as the directors of
the Company may determine in its absolute discretion. The
directors of the Company will also have the discretion in
determining the subscription price in respect of any options,
provided that the relevant requirements in the Listing Rules
are complied with.

BERER-_ZT—HFNLA+tBBRBH—
BEBRBER ARAIER_Z—AFNA
T+t AR — BB S ([T
2D FEFERESEEMABHEI =S
ZRFNLATAB)RER  BHTF  BIE
MR ERIREAS EIRARLE - RIRIE T
T B ] AR A E A H M B AR R AT S &Y
FTA m RAT{ERE IR/ TE T AT 7 AR 28 e B
THROHERE  AHETSBEBREARERA
FRE L EFERETEBHERTRS
HEEI10% (BN125,091,243 % A% 1) (& 2l
BAERREE])  BRIEADFIERRENAMEST
TR EREEEARIETERETE R
A E T EE R T A M RITEATABR
AT RO KRB RSB E TESBBAQRT
A B BEATAR AN 2 30% ©

FTEIRERENBAR L ENTEIRERE
ZEBREREABIZE—+tFEARAH)
B £525,001,985 % o &L 3T 8 ERTE
ARz B ETERBRBRHEEZ10% -

N - —+4F X AR HES,250,019,852 B A%
Do ARAIRIBEE I 2 5T 8IIE R EA R

HERE  ETeRRER-_Z—tF~ARHA
MATTE  BrEHE R BEARHE

¥R O R 81O IRSRE - IRIBFTRB AR ST
EREBREN  ARREFTEHOREME
] RS A - YW re AN BE AT AT R BB A AR BT A 5
BRERENREHREHAZINNKRERA
BEOVEREAGEN, AP EE2EB
B EEE M E R E A IRR - BT LR R
HERET  ARBEETHAEERBRE
BERTABRENREE -

AMZERBRRE — S -_TFFR
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42. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The exercise price of the option is to be determined by the
directors of the Company provided always that it shall be at
least the higher of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated
in the daily quotations sheet issued by the Stock Exchange
on the date of offer for the grant of the option (which is
deemed to be the date of grant if the offer for the grant of
the option is accepted by the Eligible Participant), which must
be a business day; (ii) the average closing price of the shares
as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant, provided that the exercise price of the
option shall in no event be less than the nominal amount of
one share; and (iii) the nominal value of a share.

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within
twenty one days inclusive of the day on which such offer was
made. The amount payable to the Company on acceptance
of the offer for the grant of an option is HK$1.00. The
maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of options granted and to be granted under the New
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company to any Eligible Participant (including cancelled,
exercised and outstanding options), in any 12-month period
up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the Shares
in issue from time to time. Any further grant of options
in excess of such limit must be separately approved by
shareholders with such Eligible Participant and his close
associates abstaining from voting.

No share options were granted under the New Share Option
Scheme during the years ended 31 December 2020 and
2019.

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020

42, B REST &l m)

BEENTEEAARBESET  HAS
PRTI=FHNRSE  \RBHRLEE
BEER (ARXHH) (MEHR N BARE
BAERSEERM AR AR B H) B
P BmERASIE D KT E ()RR
HAMAAEE XA B EHRERMAT
M B D F T B - HERB BB M T E(E (T
AER T S ERIR D EE - K Gi) it e E
=

ROBRENENARENBESRE_+—R
(BHEZB) AEER - AR AREMARLE
MEBRENENRNADFNEER1.008
TTe REER K A HIEMEMI12EABE
AR 43 BB AR AR AT B R AR 1 B AR EL At BB A
AEREMNEERSEERDEE TREN
BE(REDEE CTERHRITENE
i) BITEMD BT REEHTHORMN K
BHE  TEBATEDETRMNNI% - fi
BE-TREBHZRBENBERE VAL
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EATEARRRE -
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43. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows
from financing activities.

3. BREFHEENRENYHR

TR AEERETHEENAEED (2
RRERFRED) 2HIF - RELDHEL
BMBEEDNEREREXERECRERES
RERERTOBRBELDRERECAB -

Dividends Other Lease

payable loan  Borrowings liabilities Total

EffRE  HHER &  HEEE @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THT THT T FET FEL

At 1 January 2019 (restated) RZE-nF-A—B(LE7)) - 123,585 426,626 19,014 569,225
Financing cash flows (Note) BERe = (W) (1,050,004) - (170,532) (6,620) (1,227,156

Non-cash transactions: FRERF
New leases entered/lease modified BRIIHE/BHHE - - - 1511 1511
Exchange realignment SMEFE - (2,627) 10,537 116 8,026
Dividends declared BERKE 1,050,004 - - - 1,050,004
Finance costs AR - - 14,840 451 15,291
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAR - - - (11,391) (11,391)
At 1 January 2020 RZE-ZF-f—H - 120,958 281,471 3,081 405,510
Financing cash flows (Note) BERSRE (M) - (112,915) (60,164) (3223) (176,302
Non-cash transactions: FRERS

New leases entered/lease modified BEIHEE /BiHE - - - 6,754 6,754
Exchange realignment SNERE - (8,043) 5,678 (519) (2,884)
Finance costs SRR - - 8,641 226 8,867
At 31 December 2020 RZEZZF+ZA=1+-H - - 235,626 6,319 241,945
Note: The financing cash flows mainly represent repayment of other Mitt: MAEARETEIEESHMER £%

loan, borrowings and payment of dividends.

SRS I8

AHZERBRQT

=

e
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44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

44, KRR X EMB A TNFE

Details of principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2020 and RZBEFR_T-NEF+_A=+—8"
2019 are as follows: REBEFZMBRATNFBEET -

Issued and fully

Place of incorporation paid share capital/
or establishment/ registered and Effective equity interest
Name of subsidiaries operation paid-up capital ~attributable to the Group  Principal activities
BilEVET W BEARBRRAE/
HEAREH EERY dRRARER rAEERGERRE TEXH
2020 2019
“g=%F "3
Directly held subsidiaries
EREENNEL A
Bestway Group International Limited BVI US$1,100 100% 100%  Investment holding
RERAES 1,100%7T RERR
Tectron Pacific Limited BVI US§1 100% 100%  Investment holding
EBRAEE %7 RERR
Wide Flourish Investments Limited BVI US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
EEREBRAT ERRREHE 1% REER
Indirectly held subsidiaries
BREEHNEL A
Prolific Rich Limited BVI US§1 100% 100%  Investment holding
LHBRAF EBRAEE 1% RERR
Grand Shining Limited BVI US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
WERRAT ERRLHE 1%7T REER
Giant Silver Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding and
trading business
FRERDA Eh 1T RERRRESHER
RRRERR R ER AR The PRC HK$400,000,000 100% 100%  Trading business
i 400,000,000 7% 7T E55%
REZAREERERAT" The PRC RMB500,000,000 100% 100%  Inactive
f AR 500,000,007 EEXH
Xizang Hongrong Assets Management The PRC RIMB900,000,000 100% 100%  Distressed debt asset
Co., Ltd.* management
BREHEEERBRAA! e AR%900,000,0007C TREKEEER
IRFERRAENRERAT" The PRC RMB10,000,000 75% 75%  Trading business
Gl AR%10,000,0007C B5%%
Kainarwolfram LLC Mongolia US$100,000 100% 100%  Mining and exploitation of
natural resources
ELa 100,000% 7T RERBERRER

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020
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44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

44,

ARABETENRBRATDNFRE @

(Continued)
Issued and fully
Place of incorporation paid share capital/
or establishment/ registered and Effective equity interest
Name of subsidiaries operation paid-up capital attributable to the Group  Principal activities
EMRIERL/ BRARBRRE/
WEARER EERY dMRAZER rREEEERRE TERHB
2020 2019
ZBIBE  ZZNF
kh Uuliin Erdenes LLC Mongolia US$100,000 100% 100%  Mining and exploitation of
natural resources
ERT 100,000% 7T RERHERRER
Tai United Management Company Limited ~ The UK GBP1 100% 100%  Investment holding
HE 128 REER
RCBG Residential (UK) Limited The UK GBP0.01 100% 100%  Property Investment
& 0.01 5% nERE
MRB Residential Limited The UK GBP1 100% 100%  Property Investment
B 128 nERE
MRB Residential Partners LLP The UK - 100% 100%  Property Investment
(Note)
& - nERE
(fit35)
Notes: ks
This entity is a partnership established in the UK. No registered share ZERANEBN ISR AT A MR -

capital available.

* Established as a wholly foreign owned enterprise in the PRC.

# Established as a limited liability company in the PRC.

All the principal subsidiaries operate predominantly in their
respective places of incorporation/establishment.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results or net assets of the Group. To give details
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of
the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting
at the end of the reporting period or at any time during the
reporting period.

* RHPBERIRINEEERE -
! MRBERZABERRF

FTE 2B A RGN EER 2 MK,
PRI Z 7 iR BT -

ARREERBERINEAREE ZHIEAR] -
HAEBE 2 RXEREEFEREEFE - K
AREFEAR/BINEMHMBARIZFEEE
RIERBRITER

LB 8 2 R $R 5 HA R 33 &5 H AR frT B
BEERFEESES
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45. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Very substantial acquisitions of shopping
mall businesses in the PRC

On 24 December 2020, the Group had entered into sale
and purchase agreements with Stone Wealth Limited
("Seller”), a company incorporated in the BVI with limited
liability, to acquire the entire issued share capital of
its wholly subsidiaries, Sky Build Limited (”Sky Build"”),
at a consideration of RMB554,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$655,141,000), to be settled by a
refundable deposit of RMB100,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$118,075,000) payable on the date
of agreement and RMB454,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$536,884,000) upon the completion of the
acquisition, and Superb Power Enterprises Limited (“Superb
Power"”), incorporated in the BVI with limited liability,
at a consideration of approximately RMB1,437,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$1,699,345,000).

Up to the date of approval for issuance of this consolidated
financial statements, the Guangzhou Target Company, a
subsidiary of Superb Power, have reached an agreement in
principle with the Bank of Jinzhou regarding the renewal of
Guangzhou Bank Loan which originally due in January 2021
and undergoing the internal approval process of the Bank of
Jinzhou. The Group then had entered into an undertaking
arrangement with Mr. Dai, the ultimate controlling party
of the Seller, in March 2021 that if the Guangzhou Bank
Loan has not been successfully renewed subsequent to the
completion of the acquisition of Superb Power and being
enforceable for repayment, Mr. Dai will irrevocably fulfil his
personal obligations under this undertaking arrangement to
repay all amounts of the Guangzhou Bank Loan due with
interest accrued to the Bank of Jinzhou. In case of such
event happened, the Group has agreed to repay Mr. Dai’s
settlement amount within 13 months from his settlement
date or when financing on Guangzhou Target Company is
available to the Group for repayment, whenever earlier.

Sky Build indirectly holds the entire equity interest in Jinzhou
Target Company, which in turn holds the operating rights of
Jinzhou Shopping Mall and Superb Power indirectly holds the
entire equity interest in Guangzhou Target Company, which
in turn holds the operating rights of Guangzhou Shopping
Mall.

The acquisitions are subject to approval by the shareholders
of the Company under the Listing Rules and will be proposed
at the Shareholder General Meeting for shareholders to
approve. Details of the above acquisitions were set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 24 December 2020 and the
Company’s Circular dated 26 March 2021.
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45. FEMRER

TEBYPORBZHAEERNE
E|

R-_Z-_ZF+_A-_+WNH KEHHA
Stone Wealth Limited (& 7)) (—EREBE
TEREAMKRIZARAR) IV EE Hi
LA LS B H 2 & i} /88 /2 5] Sky Build Limited ([ Sky
Buld) 2 2B #HITHRA REAARKE
554,000,000 7T (#8 & A #)655,141,000 %
L) BB EI S B BEM SR
EiR 4 AR ¥ 100,000,00070 (B Z R4
118,075,000 1) KR AR WE R UAR
# 454,000,000 7T (#8 % 7 #9536,884,000 7%
JC) #5085 MUK B Superb Power Enterprises
Limited ([ Superb Power |) (REBE L 5
HMKZZBRAR) 22 BB BEITRA
REEH ARE1,437,000,0007C (FER L
1,699,345,000 % 7T) ©

BEEWAERGEMBEHRETEEH  BMNE
Z X 7] (Superb Power 2 M B A &) B &2 8 M
RITHEBEREMNBITER(REAR T =—
F— AR RETANIEXEF R ME
BBk AEER T -_—F=-HH
HEd BHCREERIIIEAEZE
fith 7 7 52 Ak U B Superb Power 18 i I 48 &
MEBITERW B ZRER  RBEZEEL
B BAEESTI R ETEBAATE
VARS8 MR 1T (BB B BITE AT B B HRK
BEREFE - WBEEBBEN  A5E
EREREMN A% 13E ARk AEE A&
BEMBEARREETERRN URES
BE)VEESSLEZEMNHE-

Sky Build 5 B 38 M BIZ R F) 2 2 3P R -
MM B R RAREMIBFAEJMBYF O 2L
& I Superb Power@ & FEE N BIZ AT
ZEERE - MEMNEZRARBEEMNEY
HRODN 2 AR o

ZEWEAFRERE ETRNEARRQ AR
BB AAEET BN RRFRAS LR
SHEBEEE - B R EEENFES
RARBBERA-_ZT-_ZTF+_-_F -+
BzAsERARalBE AT - —F=A
ZHRNBZEE -
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46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

46. 71X T B B R L R K A 4

2020 2019
HK$’'000 HK$'000
—E-EHF —E-NF
FHxT FHET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries KB AR Z#Em 2,584,738 3,061,600
Property, plant and equipment W - B MR 536 1,864
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 4,238 1,545
Other non-current deposits Hi3EmeEhize 690 -
Other non-current assets EMIEmEEE 6,000 6,000
2,596,202 3,071,009
Current assets REEE
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments H b JEU IR « 12 & R T8 14 FUE 555 1,300
Financial assets at fair value through profit or AR EFTAEBZZ EMEE
loss 7,887 10,112
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR LIRS 35,609 41,506
44,051 52,918
Current liabilities REAE
Accrued liabilities and other payables JEET B & R E M FRIE 8,353 1,785
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEAHHT B A R FA 1,271,829 1,271,861
Lease liabilities HEBE 1,597 1,583
1,281,779 1,275,229
Net current liabilities RBAEREE (1,237,728) (1,222,311)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBERE 1,358,474 1,848,698
Non-current liability FRBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 2,684 -
Net assets EEFE 1,355,790 1,848,698
Capital and reserves EXRFE
Share capital AR 7N 262,501 262,501
Reserves and accumulated losses ENRETEE 1,093,289 1,586,197
Total equity EREE 1,355,790 1,848,698
AHEZERERAT — S _TFFR
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46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

46. XN BB MR R R R FE @

(Continued)
Movement in the Company’s reserves AAEREED
Other
Contributed capital
surplus contribution Accumulated
reserve reserve losses Total
BEaRH Hix&
1 1] ZHER e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THR THr T T
(Note)
ik3)
At 1 January 2019 RZE-NF-F—H 3,490,730 335,536 (718,855) 3,107,411
Dividends recognised as distributions BREDRLRE (1,050,004) - - (1,050,004)
Loss and total comprehensive expense FERBRZAMTES
for the year - - (471,210 (471,210)
At 31 December 2019 RZE-nE+ZR=1—H 2,440,726 335,536 (1,190,065) 1,586,197
Loss and total comprehensive expense FEBRRZAMTES
for the year - - (492,908) (492,908)
At 31 December 2020 RZEZTF+ZA=1+—H 2,440,726 335,536 (1,682,973) 1,093,289

Note: The contributed surplus reserve of the Company arose as a
result of the same Group reorganisation scheme and represents
the excess of the then combined net assets of the subsidiaries
acquired, over the nominal value of the share capital of the
Company issued in exchange therefor.
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Five-year Financial Summary

HFFHME

The consolidated results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the ~ AEEBT AU S REBE 2GR EE B E
last five financial reporting periods as extracted from the audited ~ M B {& (B A EB K BEZ LG A P ERE)
consolidated financial statements of the Group are summarised wr

below:
For the
nine months
ended
31 December
BE+ZA
For the year ended 31 December =+-H
HBEt-A=1-HLEE IENfEA
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
ZECEE —E-nE —F-)\& ZZ—+tF ZE-1F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FEL T T FEL
RESULTS E3
Revenue and net investment gains (losses)  Uizs o % B Mz
(BR) 38 18,754 25927 4127877 11,243,596 8,102,730
(Loss) profit for the year/period EF /90 (518) &5 (27,234) (246,770) (553,393) 312,091 41,107
Attributable to: AT AT :
Owners of the Company LNGIE =N (26,782) (246,440) (553,243) 312,09 41,263
Non-controlling interests FERER (452) (330) (150) (5) (156)
(27,234) (246,770) (553,393) 312,091 41,107
As at 31 December
R+ZA=+-H
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
kSt 3:3 ZT-NEF ZE-N\E ZT—tF NS
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FAL FEL TAL FEL
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERER
Total assets BEE 2,493,696 2,642,309 4,372,770 11,169,022 10,274,019
Total liabilities agE (386,947) (573,360) (999,748) (5,986,016) (6,041,789)
Net assets FAE 2,106,749 2,068,949 3,373,022 5,183,006 4232230

AHMERBRRT —T_ZFFRH 215
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Particulars of Properties

e

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
REWH

Attributable interest
Location Usage Tenure of the Group
b 31k R#® FH FEBMELER
6 Buckingham Gate & Residential premises for rental and/or ~ Freehold interest 100%
Flats 1,2,3 &5 at capital appreciation KAFERE
7-9 Buckingham Gate, HRETENERREEAEE

London, United Kingdom
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